Georgia, September 2017

THE EU ACCOUNTING DIRECTIVE AND THE GEORGIAN ACCOUNTING LEGISLATION
TRANSPOSITION TABLE
WORKING PAPER
EU legislation:
1. DIRECTIVE 2013/34/EU OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL of 26 June 2013 on the annual financial statements, consolidated financial statements and related reports
of certain types of undertakings, amending Directive 2006/43/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council and repealing Council Directives 78/660/EEC and 83/349/EEC (http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:182:0019:0076:EN:PDF)
Georgian legislation:
1. Law of Georgia on Accounting, Reporting and Auditing (Law on accounting and auditing) (https://matsne.gov.ge/ka/document/view/3311504)
2. Entrepreneurs Law of Georgia (ELoG) (https://matsne.gov.ge/index.php?option=com_ldmssearch&view=docView&id=28408&impose=translationEn&lang=ge)
3. International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and International Financial Reporting Standards for SMEs (www.ifrs.org)
4. LAW OF GEORGIA ON COLLECTIVE INVESTMENT UNDERTAKINGS (https://matsne.gov.ge/ka/document/view/1981090?impose=parallelEn)
Conventional signs:
C – compliance; PC – partial compliance; NC – noncompliance; NA – non applicable; TBC – to be clarified.
Note: the text in blue below highlights the 2013/34/EU Directive’s articles which do not have analogy in the 78/660/EEC and/or 83/349/EEC Directives (prepared based on the ANNEX VII-Correlation
table of the Directive 2013/34/EU)
Introduction to DIRECTIVE 2013/34/EU
THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL OF THE EUROPEAN UNION,
Having regard to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, and in particular Article 50(1) thereof, Having regard to the proposal from the European Commission, After transmission of the law legislative act to the
national parliaments, Having regard to the opinion of the European Economic and Social Committee, Acting in accordance with the ordinary legislative procedure
Whereas:
(1) This Directive takes into account the Commission's better regulation programme, and, in particular, the Commission Communication entitled "Smart Regulation in the European Union", which aims at designing and delivering
regulation of the highest quality whilst respecting the principles of subsidiarity and proportionality and ensuring that the administrative burdens are proportionate to the benefits they bring.
The Commission Communication entitled "Think Small First – Small Business Act for Europe", adopted in June 2008 and revised in February 2011, recognises the central role played by small and medium-sized enterprises
(SMEs) in the Union economy and aims to improve the overall approach to entrepreneurship and to anchor the "think small first" principle in policy-making from regulation to public service. The European Council of 24 and 25
March 2011 welcomed the Commission's intention to present the "Single Market Act" with measures creating growth and jobs, bringing tangible results to citizens and businesses. The Commission Communication entitled "Single
Market Act", adopted in April 2011, proposes to simplify the Fourth Council Directive 78/660/EEC of 25 July 1978 based on Article 54(3)(g) of the Treaty on the annual accounts of certain types of companies ( 3 ) and the
Seventh Council Directive 83/349/EEC of 13 June 1983 based on the Article 54(3)(g) of the Treaty on consolidated accounts ( 4 ) (the Accounting Directives) as regards financial information obligations and to reduce administrative
burdens, in particular for SMEs. "The Europe 2020 Strategy" for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth aims to reduce administrative burdens and improve the business environment, in particular for SMEs, and to promote the
internationalisation of SMEs. The European Council of 24 and 25 March 2011 also called for the overall regulatory burden, in particular for SMEs, to be reduced at both Union and national level and suggested measures to
increase productivity, such as the removal of red tape and the improvement of the regulatory framework for SMEs.
(2) On 18 December 2008 the European Parliament adopted a non-legislative resolution on accounting requirements as regards small and medium-sized companies, particularly micro-entities, stating that the Accounting Directives
are often very burdensome for small and medium-sized companies, and in particular for micro- entities, and asking the Commission to continue its efforts to review those Directives.
(3) The coordination of national provisions concerning the presentation and content of annual financial statements and management reports, the measurement bases used therein and their publication in respect of certain types of
undertakings with limited liability is of special importance for the protection of shareholders, members and third parties. Simultaneous coordination is necessary in those fields for such types of undertakings because, on the one
hand, some undertakings operate in more than one Member State and, on the other hand, such under takings offer no safeguards to third parties beyond the amounts of their net assets.
(4) Annual financial statements pursue various objectives and do not merely provide information for investors in capital markets but also give an account of past trans actions and enhance corporate governance. Union accounting
legislation needs to strike an appropriate balance between the interests of the addressees of financial statements and the interest of undertakings in not being unduly burdened with reporting requirements.
(5) The scope of this Directive should include certain under takings with limited liability such as public and private limited liability companies. Additionally, there is a substantial number of partnerships and limited
partnerships all the fully liable members of which are constituted either as public or as private limited liability companies, and such partnerships should therefore be subject to the coordination measures of this Directive. This
Directive should also ensure that partnerships fall within its scope where members of a partnership which are not constituted as private or public limited companies in fact have limited liability for the partner ship's obligations
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because that liability is limited by other undertakings within the scope of this Directive. The exclusion of not-for-profit undertakings from the scope of this Directive is consistent with its purpose, in line with point (g) of Article
50(2) of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).
(6) The scope of this Directive should be principles-based and should ensure that it is not possible for an under taking to exclude itself from that scope by creating a group structure containing multiple layers of under takings
established inside or outside the Union.
(7) The provisions of this Directive should apply only to the extent that they are not inconsistent with, or contradicted by, provisions on the financial reporting of certain types of undertakings or provisions regarding the
distribution of an undertaking's capital which are laid down in other legislative acts in force adopted by one or more Union institutions.
(8) It is necessary, moreover, to establish minimum equivalent legal requirements at Union level as regards the extent of the financial information that should be made available to the public by undertakings that are in
competition with one another.
(9) Annual financial statements should be prepared on a prudent basis and should give a true and fair view of an undertaking's assets and liabilities, financial position and profit or loss. It is possible that, in exceptional cases, a
financial statement does not give such a true and fair view where provisions of this Directive are applied. In such cases, the undertaking should depart from such provisions in order to give a true and fair view. The Member
States should be allowed to define such exceptional cases and to lay down the relevant special rules which are to apply in those cases. Those exceptional cases should be understood to be only very unusual transactions and
unusual situations and should, for instance, not be related to entire specific sectors.
(10) This Directive should ensure that the requirements for small undertakings are to a large extent harmonised throughout the Union. This Directive is based on the "think small first" principle. In order to avoid
disproportionate administrative burdens on those undertakings, Member States should only be allowed to require a few disclosures by way of notes that are additional to the mandatory notes. In the case of a single filing system,
however, Member States may in certain cases require a limited number of additional disclosures where these are explicitly required by their national tax legislation and are strictly necessary for the purposes of tax collection. It
should be possible for Member States to impose requirements on medium-sized and large undertakings that go further than the minimum requirements prescribed by this Directive.
(11) Where this Directive allows Member States to impose additional requirements on, for instance, small under takings, this means that Member States can make use of this option in full or in part by requiring less than the
option allows for. In the same way, where this Directive allows Member States to make use of an exemption in relation to, for instance, small under takings, this means that Member States can exempt such undertakings wholly
or in part.
(12) Small, medium-sized and large undertakings should be defined and distinguished by reference to balance sheet total, net turnover and the average number of employees during the financial year, as those criteria typically
provide objective evidence as to the size of an under taking. However, where a parent undertaking is not preparing consolidated financial statements for the group, Member States should be allowed to take steps they deem
necessary to require that such an undertaking be classified as a larger undertaking by determining its size and resulting category on a consolidated or aggregated basis. Where a Member State applies one or more of the optional
exemptions for micro-undertakings, micro-undertakings should also be defined by reference to balance sheet total, net turnover and the average number of employees during the financial year. Member States should not be
obliged to define separate categories for medium-sized and large undertakings in their national legislation if medium-sized undertakings are subject to the same requirements as large under takings.
(13) Micro-undertakings have limited resources with which to comply with demanding regulatory requirements. Where no specific rules are in place for micro-undertakings, the rules applying to small undertakings apply to
them. Those rules place on them administrative burdens which are disproportionate to their size and are, therefore, relatively more onerous for micro-undertakings as compared to other small undertakings. Therefore, it should
be possible for Member States to exempt micro- undertakings from certain obligations applying to small undertakings that would impose excessive administrative burdens on them. However, micro-undertakings should still be
subject to any national obligation to keep records showing their business transactions and financial position. Moreover, investment undertakings and financial holding undertakings should be excluded from the benefits of
simplifications applicable to micro-under takings.
(14) Member States should take into account the specific conditions and needs of their own markets when making a decision about whether or how to implement a distinct regime for micro-undertakings within the context of
this Directive.
(15) Publication of financial statements can be burdensome for micro-undertakings. At the same time, Member States need to ensure compliance with this Directive. Accordingly, Member States making use of the exemptions
for micro-undertakings provided for in this Directive should be allowed to exempt micro-under takings from a general publication requirement, provided that balance sheet information is duly filed, in accordance with national
law, with at least one designated competent authority and that the information is forwarded to the business register, so that a copy should be obtainable upon application. In such cases, the obligation laid down in this Directive
to publish any accounting document in accordance with Article 3(5) of Directive 2009/101/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 September 2009 on coordination of safeguards which, for the protection of the
interests of members and third parties, are required by Member States of companies within the meaning of the second paragraph of Article 48 of the Treaty, with a view to making such safeguards equivalent ( 1 ), should not
apply.
(16) To ensure the disclosure of comparable and equivalent information, recognition and measurement principles should include the going concern, the prudence, and the accrual bases. Set-offs between asset and liability items
and income and expense items should not be allowed and components of assets and liabilities should be valued separately. In specific cases, however, Member States should be allowed to permit or require under takings to
perform set-offs between asset and liability items and income and expense items. The presentation of items in financial statements should have regard to the economic reality or commercial substance of the underlying
transaction or arrangement. Member States should, however, be allowed to exempt undertakings from applying that principle.
(17) The principle of materiality should govern recognition, measurement, presentation, disclosure and consolidation in financial statements. According to the principle of materiality, information that is considered immaterial
may, for instance, be aggregated in the financial statements. However, while a single item might be considered to be immaterial, immaterial items of a similar nature might be considered material when taken as a whole.
Member States should be allowed to limit the mandatory application of the principle of materiality to presentation and disclosure. The principle of materiality should not affect any national obligation to keep complete records
showing business transactions and financial position.
(18) Items recognised in annual financial statements should be measured on the basis of the principle of purchase price or production cost to ensure the reliability of information contained in financial statements. However,
Member States should be allowed to permit or require undertakings to revalue fixed assets in order that more relevant information may be provided to the users of financial statements.
(19) The need for comparability of financial information throughout the Union makes it necessary to require Member States to allow a system of fair value accounting for certain financial instruments. Furthermore, systems of
fair value accounting provide information that can be of more relevance to the users of financial statements than purchase price or production cost-based information. Accordingly, Member States should permit the adoption of
a fair value system of accounting by all undertakings or classes of undertaking, other than micro-undertakings making use of the exemptions provided for in this Directive, in respect of both annual and consolidated financial
statements or, if a Member State so chooses, in respect of consolidated financial statements only. Furthermore, Member States should be allowed to permit or require fair value accounting for assets other than financial
instruments.
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(20) A limited number of layouts for the balance sheet is necessary to allow users of financial statements to better compare the financial position of undertakings within the Union. Member States should require the use of one
layout for the balance sheet and should be allowed to offer a choice from amongst permitted layouts. However, Member States should be able to permit or require undertakings to modify the layout and present a balance sheet
distinguishing between current and non-current items. A profit and loss account layout showing the nature of expenses and a profit and loss account layout showing the function of expenses should be permitted. Member States
should require the use of one layout for the profit and loss account and should be allowed to offer a choice from amongst permitted layouts. Member States should also be able to allow undertakings to present a statement of
performance instead of a profit and loss account prepared in accordance with one of the permitted layouts. Simplifications of the required layouts may be made available for small and medium-sized undertakings. However,
Member States should be allowed to restrict layouts of the balance sheet and profit and loss account if necessary for the electronic filing of financial statements.
(21) For comparability reasons, a common framework for recognition, measurement and presentation of, inter alia, value adjustments, goodwill, provisions, stocks of goods and fungible assets, and income and expenditure of
exceptional size or incidence should be provided.
(22) The recognition and measurement of some items in financial statements are based on estimates, judgements and models rather than exact depictions. As a result of the uncertainties inherent in business activities, certain
items in financial statements cannot be measured precisely but can only be estimated. Estimation involves judgements based on the latest available reliable information. The use of estimates is an essential part of the preparation
of financial statements. This is especially true in the case of provisions, which by their nature are more uncertain than most other items in the balance sheet. Estimates should be based on a prudent judgement of the management
of the undertaking and calculated on an objective basis, supplemented by experience of similar transactions and, in some cases, even reports from independent experts. The evidence considered should include any additional
evidence provided by events after the balance-sheet date.
(23) The information presented in the balance sheet and in the profit and loss account should be supplemented by disclosures by way of notes to the financial statements. Users of financial statements typically have a limited
need for supplementary information from small undertakings, and it can be costly for small undertakings to collate that supplementary information. A limited disclosure regime for small undertakings is, therefore, justified.
However, where a micro- or small undertaking considers that it is beneficial to provide additional disclosures of the types required of medium-sized and large undertakings, or other disclosures not provided for in this Directive,
it should not be prevented from doing so.
(24) Disclosure in respect of accounting policies is one of the key elements of the notes to the financial statements. Such disclosure should include, in particular, the measurement bases applied to various items, a statement on
the conformity of those accounting policies with the going concern concept and any significant changes to the accounting policies adopted.
(25) Users of financial statements prepared by medium-sized and large undertakings typically have more sophisticated needs. Therefore, further disclosures should be provided in certain areas. Exemption from certain
disclosure obligations is justified where such disclosure would be prejudicial to certain persons or to the undertaking.
(26) The management report and the consolidated management report are important elements of financial reporting. A fair review of the development of the business and of its position should be provided, in a manner
consistent with the size and complexity of the business. The information should not be restricted to the financial aspects of the undertaking's business, and there should be an analysis of environmental and social aspects of the
business necessary for an understanding of the undertaking's development, performance or position. In cases where the consolidated management report and the parent undertaking management report are presented in a single
report, it may be appropriate to give greater emphasis to those matters which are significant to the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole. However, having regard to the potential burden placed on small
and medium-sized undertakings, it is appropriate to provide that Member States may choose to waive the obligation to provide non-financial information in the management report of such under takings.
(27) Member States should have the possibility of exempting small undertakings from the obligation to draw up a management report provided that such undertakings include, in the notes to the financial statements, the data
concerning the acquisition of own shares referred to in Article 24(2) of Directive 2012/30/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 October 2012 on coordination of safeguards which, for the protection of the
interests of members and others, are required by Member States of companies within the meaning of the second paragraph of Article 54 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, in respect of the formation of
public limited liability companies and the maintenance and alteration of their capital, with a view to making such safeguards equivalent
(28) Given that listed undertakings can have a prominent role in the economies in which they operate, the provisions of this Directive concerning the corporate governance statement should apply to undertakings whose
transferable securities are admitted to trading on a regulated market.
(29) Many undertakings own other undertakings and the aim of coordinating the legislation governing consolidated financial statements is to protect the interests subsisting in companies with share capital. Consolidated
financial statements should be drawn up so that financial information concerning such undertakings may be conveyed to members and third parties. National law governing consolidated financial statements should therefore be
coordinated in order to achieve the objectives of comparability and equivalence in the information which undertakings should publish within the Union. However, given the lack of an arm's-length transaction price, Member
States should be allowed to permit intra-group transfers of participating interests, so-called common control transactions, to be accounted for using the pooling of interests method of accounting, in which the book value of
shares held in an undertaking included in a consolidation is set off against the corresponding percentage of capital only.
(30) In Directive 83/349/EEC there was a requirement to prepare consolidated financial statements for groups in cases where either the parent undertaking or one or more of the subsidiary undertakings was established as one
of the types of undertakings listed in Annex I or Annex II to this Directive. Member States had the option of exempting parent undertakings from the requirement to draw up consolidated accounts in cases where the parent
undertaking was not of the type listed in Annex I or Annex II. This Directive requires only parent under takings of the types listed in Annex I or, in certain circumstances, Annex II to draw up consolidated financial statements,
but does not preclude Member States from extending the scope of this Directive to cover other situations as well. In substance there is therefore no change, as it remains up to the Member States to decide whether to require
undertakings which do not fall within the scope of this Directive to prepare consolidated financial statements.
(31) Consolidated financial statements should present the activities of a parent undertaking and its subsidiaries as a single economic entity (a group). Undertakings controlled by the parent undertaking should be considered as
subsidiary undertakings. Control should be based on holding a majority of voting rights, but control may also exist where there are agreements with fellow shareholders or members. In certain circumstances control may be
effectively exercised where the parent holds a minority or none of the shares in the subsidiary. Member States should be entitled to require that under takings not subject to control, but which are managed on a unified basis or
have a common administrative, managerial or supervisory body, be included in consolidated financial statements.
(32) A subsidiary undertaking which is itself a parent under taking should draw up consolidated financial statements. Nevertheless, Member States should be entitled to exempt such a parent undertaking from the obligation to
draw up such consolidated financial statements in certain circumstances, provided that its members and third parties are sufficiently protected.
(33) Small groups should be exempt from the obligation to prepare consolidated financial statements as the users of small undertakings' financial statements do not have sophisticated information needs and it can be costly to
prepare consolidated financial statements in addition to the annual financial statements of the parent and subsidiary undertakings. Member States should be able to exempt medium-sized groups from the obligation to prepare
consolidated financial statements on the same cost/benefit grounds unless any of the affiliated under takings is a public-interest entity.
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(34) Consolidation requires the full incorporation of the assets and liabilities and of the income and expenditure of group undertakings, the separate disclosure of non- controlling interests in the consolidated balance sheet within
capital and reserves and the separate disclosure of non-controlling interests in the profit and loss of the group in the consolidated profit and loss accounts. However, the necessary corrections should be made to eliminate the effects
of the financial relations between the undertakings consolidated.
(35) Recognition and measurement principles applicable to the preparation of annual financial statements should also apply to the preparation of consolidated financial statements. However, Member States should be allowed
to permit the general provisions and principles stated in this Directive to be applied differently in annual financial statements than in consolidated financial statements.
(36) Associated undertakings should be included in consolidated financial statements by means of the equity method. The provisions on measurement of associated undertakings should in substance remain unchanged from
Directive 83/349/EEC, and the methods allowed under that Directive can still be applied. Member States should also be able to permit or require that a jointly managed undertaking be proportionately consolidated within
consolidated financial statements.
(37) Consolidated financial statements should include all disclosures by way of notes to the financial statements for the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole. The names, registered offices and group
interest in the undertakings' capital should also be disclosed in respect of subsidiaries, associated under takings, jointly managed undertakings and participating interests.
(38) The annual financial statements of all undertakings to which this Directive applies should be published in accordance with Directive 2009/101/EC. It is, however, appropriate to provide that certain derogations may be
granted in this area for small and medium-sized under takings.
(39) The Member States are strongly encouraged to develop electronic publication systems that allow undertakings to file accounting data, including statutory financial statements, only once and in a form that allows multiple
users to access and use the data easily. With regard to the reporting of financial statements, the Commission is encouraged to explore means for a harmonised electronic format. Such systems should, however, not be
burdensome to small and medium-sized undertakings.
(40) The Members of the administrative, management and supervisory bodies of an undertaking should, as a minimum requirement, be collectively responsible to the undertaking for drawing up and publishing annual financial
statements and management reports. The same approach should also apply to members of the administrative, management and supervisory bodies of under takings drawing up consolidated financial statements. Those bodies act
within the competences assigned to them by national law. This should not prevent Member States from going further and providing for direct responsibility to shareholders or even other stakeholders.
(41) Liability for drawing up and publishing annual financial statements and consolidated financial statements, as well as management reports and consolidated management reports, is based on national law. Appropriate
liability rules, as laid down by each Member State under its national law, should be applicable to members of the administrative, management and supervisory bodies of an undertaking. Member States should be allowed to
determine the extent of the liability.
(42) In order to promote credible financial reporting processes across the Union, members of the body within an undertaking that is responsible for the preparation of the undertaking's financial statements should ensure that the
financial information included in the undertaking's annual financial statement and the group's consolidated financial statement gives a true and fair view.
(43) Annual financial statements and consolidated financial statements should be audited. The requirement that an audit opinion should state whether annual or consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view in
accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework should not be understood as restricting the scope of that opinion but as clarifying the context in which it is expressed. The annual financial statements of small
undertakings should not be covered by this audit obligation, as audit can be a significant administrative burden for that category of undertaking, while for many small undertakings the same persons are both shareholders and
managers and, therefore, have limited need for third-party assurance on financial statements. However, this Directive should not prevent Member States from imposing an audit on their small under takings, taking into account
the specific conditions and needs of small undertakings and the users of their financial statements. Furthermore, it is more appropriate to define the content of the audit report in Directive 2006/43/EC of the European Parliament
and of the Council of 17 May 2006 on statutory audits of annual accounts and consolidated accounts. Therefore that directive should be amended accordingly.
(44) In order to provide for enhanced transparency of payments made to governments, large undertakings and public-interest entities which are active in the extractive industry or logging of primary forests should disclose
material payments made to governments in the countries in which they operate in a separate report, on an annual basis. Such undertakings are active in countries rich in natural resources, in particular minerals, oil, natural gas
and primary forests. The report should include types of payments comparable to those disclosed by an under taking participating in the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI). The initiative is also complementary
to the Forest Law Enforcement, Governance and Trade Action Plan of the European Union (EU FLEGT) and the provisions of Regulation (EU) No 995/2010 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 October 2010
laying down the obligations of operators who place timber and timber products on the market, which require traders of timber products to exercise due diligence in order to prevent illegal wood from entering the Union market.
(45) The report should serve to help governments of resource- rich countries to implement the EITI principles and criteria and account to their citizens for payments such governments receive from undertakings active in the
extractive industry or loggers of primary forests operating within their jurisdiction. The report should incorporate disclosures on a country and project basis. A project should be defined as the operational activities that are
governed by a single contract, license, lease, concession or similar legal agreements and form the basis for payment liabilities to a government. Nonetheless, if multiple such agreements are substantially interconnected, this
should be considered a project. 'Substantially interconnected' legal agreements should be understood as a set of operationally and geographically integrated contracts, licenses, leases or concessions or related agreements with
substantially similar terms that are signed with a government, giving rise to payment liabilities. Such agreements can be governed by a single contract, joint venture, production sharing agreement, or other overarching legal
agreement.
(46) Any payment, whether made as a single payment or as a series of related payments, need not be taken into account in the report if it is below EUR 100 000 within a financial year. This means that, in the case of any
arrangement providing for periodic payments or instalments (e.g. rental fees), the undertaking must consider the aggregate amount of the related periodic payments or instalments of the related payments in determining whether
the threshold has been met for that series of payments, and accordingly, whether disclosure is required.
(47) Undertakings active in the extractive industry or the logging of primary forests should not be required to disaggregate and allocate payments on a project basis where payments are made in respect of obligations imposed on
the undertakings at the entity level rather than the project level. For instance, if an undertaking has more than one project in a host country, and that country's government levies corporate income taxes on the undertaking with
respect to the undertaking's income in the country as a whole, and not with respect to a particular project or operation within the country, the undertaking would be permitted to disclose the resulting income tax payment or
payments without specifying a particular project associated with the payment.
(48) An undertaking active in the extractive industry or in the logging of primary forests generally does not need to disclose dividends paid to a government as a common or ordinary shareholder of that undertaking as long as
the dividend is paid to the government on the same terms as to other shareholders. However, the undertaking will be required to disclose any dividends paid in lieu of production entitlements or royalties.
(49) In order to address the potential for circumvention of disclosure requirements, this Directive should specify that payments are to be disclosed with respect to the substance of the activity or payment concerned. Therefore,
the undertaking should not be able to avoid disclosure by, for example, re-characterising an activity that would otherwise be covered by this Directive. In addition, payments or activities should not be artificially split or
aggregated with a view to evading such disclosure requirements.
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(50) In order to ascertain the circumstances in which under takings should be exempted from the reporting requirements provided for in Chapter 10, the power to adopt delegated acts in accordance with Article 290 of the
TFEU should be delegated to the Commission in respect of determining the criteria to be applied when assessing whether third country reporting requirements are equivalent to the requirements of that Chapter. It is of particular
importance that the Commission carryout appropriate consultations during its preparatory work, including at expert level. The Commission, when preparing and drawing up delegated acts, should ensure a simultaneous, timely
and appropriate transmission of relevant documents to the European Parliament and to the Council.
(51) In order to ensure uniform conditions for the implementation of Article 46(1), implementing powers should be conferred upon the Commission. Those powers should be exercised in accordance with Regulation (EU) No
182/2011 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 February 2011 laying down the rules and general principles concerning mechanisms for the control by Member States of the Commission's exercise of
implementing powers.
(52) The reporting regime should be subject to a review and a report by the Commission within three years of the expiry of the deadline for transposition of this Directive by the Member States. That review should consider the
effectiveness of the regime and take into account international developments, including issues of competitiveness and energy security. The review should also consider the extension of reporting requirements to additional
industry sectors and whether the report should be audited. In addition, the review should take into account the experience of preparers and users of the payments information and consider whether it would be appropriate to
include additional payment information such as effective tax rates and recipient details such as bank account information.
(53) In line with the conclusions of the G8 Summit in Deauville in May 2011 and in order to promote a level international playing field, the Commission should continue to encourage all the international partners to introduce
similar requirements concerning reporting on payments to governments. Continued work on the relevant international accounting standard is particularly important in this context.
(54) In order to take account of future changes to the laws of the Member States and to Union legislation concerning company types, the Commission should be empowered to adopt delegated acts in accordance with Article
290 of the TFEU in order to update the lists of undertakings contained in Annexes I and II. The use of delegated acts is also necessary in order to adapt the undertaking size criteria, as with the passage of time inflation will
erode their real value. It is of particular importance that the Commission carryout appropriate consultations during its preparatory work, including at expert level. The Commission, when preparing and drawing up delegated
acts, should ensure a simultaneous, timely and appropriate transmission of relevant documents to the European Parliament and to the Council.
(55) Since the objectives of this Directive, namely facilitating cross-border investment and improving Union-wide comparability and public confidence in financial statements and reports through enhanced and consistent
specific disclosures, cannot be sufficiently achieved by the Member States and can therefore, by reason of the scale and the effects of this Directive, be better achieved at Union level, the Union may adopt measures, in
accordance with the principle of subsidiarity as set out in Article 5 of the Treaty on European Union. In accordance with the principle of proportionality, as set out in that Article, this Directive does not go beyond what is
necessary in order to achieve those objectives.
(56) This Directive replaces Directives 78/660/EEC and 83/349/EEC. Therefore, those Directives should be repealed.
(57) This Directive respects fundamental rights and observes the principles recognised, in particular, by the Charter of Fundamental Rights of the European Union.
(58) In accordance with the Joint Political Declaration of Member States and the Commission on explanatory documents of 28 September 2011, Member States have undertaken to accompany, in justified cases, the notification
of their transposition measures with one or more documents explaining the relationship between the components of a directive and the corresponding parts of national transposition instruments. With regard to this Directive, the
legislator considers the transmission of correlation tables to be justified.
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DIRECTIVE 2013/34/EU
CHAPTER 1. SCOPE, DEFINITIONS AND CATEGORIES OF
UNDERTAKINGS AND GROUPS
Article 1. Scope
1. The coordination measures prescribed by this Directive shall apply
to the laws, regulations and administrative provisions of the Member
States relating to the types of under takings listed:
(a) in Annex I;
(b) in Annex II, where all of the direct or indirect members of the
undertaking having otherwise unlimited liability in fact have limited
liability by reason of those members being undertakings which are:
back art 30

Georgian legislation

Law on accounting and auditing:

Conformity

Comments

C

Although, the scope of the law is
broader in Georgia and includes
all partnerships and some sole
proprietors, it cannot be assessed
as incompatible with the
Directive.

NA

No action required.

NA

No action required.

Article 2. Definitions of Terms
e)
Entity - legal entities of public and private law, except for
budgetary organizations provided for in the Budget Code of Georgia and the
National Bank of Georgia, branch of a foreign enterprise, sole proprietors that meet
the criteria with respect to revenues, assets used in an economic activity and
employee number specified in subparagraphs (t), (u) and (v);

(i) of the types listed in Annex I; or
(ii) not governed by the law of a Member State but which have a legal
form comparable to those listed in Annex I.
2. Member States shall inform the Commission within a reasonable
period of time of changes in the types of undertakings in their
national law that may affect the accuracy of Annex I or Annex II.
In such a case, the Commission shall be empowered to adapt, by
means of delegated acts in accordance with Article 49, the lists of
undertakings contained in Annexes I and II.
Article 2. Definitions
For the purposes of this Directive, the following definitions shall
apply:
(1) 'public-interest entities' means undertakings within the scope of
Article 1 which are:
(a) governed by the law of a Member State and whose transferable
securities are admitted to trading on a regulated market of any Member
State within the meaning of point (14) of Article 4(1) of Directive
2004/39/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 21 April
2004 on markets in financial instruments
back article 20(1)
(b) credit institutions as defined in point (1) of Article 4 of Directive
2006/48/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 June
2006 relating to the taking up and pursuit of the business of credit
institutions, other than those referred to in Article 2 of that Directive;
(c) insurance undertakings within the meaning of Article 2(1) of
Council Directive 91/674/EEC of 19 December 1991 on the annual
accounts of insurance undertakings ( 2 ); or
(d) designated by Member States as public-interest entities, for
instance undertakings that are of significant public relevance because
of the nature of their business, their size or the number of their
employees;

Law on accounting and auditing:
Article 2. Definitions of Terms
x)
Public Interest Entity (hereinafter PIE) – a legal entity, which
represents:
x.a) reporting enterprise the securities of which are traded at the stock
exchange in accordance with the Law of Georgia on Securities Market;
x.b) a commercial bank and a qualified credit institution - in accordance
with the Organic Law of Georgia on the National Bank of Georgia;
x.c) microfinance organization – in accordance with the Law of Georgia
on Microfinance Organizations;
x.d) an insurer- in accordance with the Law of Georgia on Insurance;
x.e) a founder of non-state pension scheme – in accordance with the Law
of Georgia on Non-State Pension Insurance and Welfare;
x.f) an investment fund - in accordance with the Law of Georgia on
Investment Funds;
x.g) Non-bank deposit institution – credit union – in accordance with the
Law of Georgia on Non-Bank Deposit Institutions – Credit Union;
x.h) Entities defined as PIEs by the Government of Georgia;

C
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(2) 'participating interest' means rights in the capital of other
undertakings, whether or not represented by certificates, which, by
creating a durable link with those undertakings, are intended to
contribute to the activities of the undertaking which holds those rights.
The holding of part of the capital of another undertaking is presumed
to constitute a participating interest where it exceeds a percentage
threshold fixed by the Member States which is lower than or equal to
20 %;
back art 9
(3) 'related party' has the same meaning as in the international
accounting standards adopted in accordance with Regulation (EC) No
1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 July
2002 on the application of international accounting standards;

(4) 'fixed assets' means those assets which are intended for use on a
continuing basis for the undertaking's activities;

Georgian legislation

Conformity

NC

C

Related party definition is
covered by the accounting
standards.

C

No such definition in the law,
however the accounting
standards used in the country
have similar definition.

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its
financial
statements (in this Standard referred to as the ‘reporting entity’).
(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to a reporting
entity if that
person:
(i) has control or joint control over the reporting entity; (ii) has significant influence
over the reporting entity; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a
parent of the reporting entity.
(b) An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions
applies:
(i) The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group (which means
that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others). (ii) One
entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or
joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member). (iii)
Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. (iv) One entity is a joint
venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of
the third entity. (v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either
the reporting entity or an entity related to the reporting entity. If the reporting entity
is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the reporting
entity.
(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a). (vii)
A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations
between a reporting entity and a related party, regardless of whether a price is
charged.
IAS 24/ IFRS FOR SMEs

IFRS 16/IFRS for SMEs (Section 17) Property, plant and equipment are
tangible assets that: (a) are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes, and (b) are expected to be
used during more than one period.

Comments
Similar term exists only in the
banking law and concerns banks
only.
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(5) 'net turnover' means the amounts derived from the sale of
products and the provision of services after deducting sales rebates and
value added tax and other taxes directly linked to turnover;

(6) 'purchase price' means the price payable and any incidental
expenses minus any incidental reductions in the cost of acquisition;

(7) 'production cost' means the purchase price of raw materials,
consumables and other costs directly attributable to the item in
question.
Member States shall permit or require the inclusion of a reasonable
proportion of fixed or variable overhead costs indirectly attributable to
the item in question, to the extent that they relate to the period of
production.
Distribution costs shall not be included;
(8) 'value adjustment' means the adjustments intended to take
account of changes in the values of individual assets established at the
balance sheet date, whether the change is final or not;

Georgian legislation

Conformity

Comments

Law on accounting and auditing:

C

Article 2. Definitions of Terms
w)
Revenue –the gross inflow of economic benefits of an entity
(cash, receivables, other assets) arising from the ordinary operating activities,
such as sales of goods or/ and services; it does not include any sales discount,
VAT, funds derived on behalf of the third party, economic benefit in the form of
dividends, interest and royalty from the use of entity’s assets, unless such benefit
represents an outcome of entity’s ordinary economic activity.
IAS 1

C

No such definition in the law,
however the accounting
standards used in the country
have similar definition.

IAS 1

C

No such definition in the law,
however the accounting
standards used in the country
have similar definition.

IFRS for SMEs - fair value The amount for which an asset could be exchanged,
a liability settled, or an equity instrument granted could be exchanged, between
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

C

No such definition in the law,
however the accounting
standards used in the country
have similar definition.

fair value less costs to sell
The amount obtainable from the sale of an asset or cash-generating unit in an arm’s
length transaction between
knowledgeable, willing parties, less the costs of disposal.
IFRS 13 - This IFRS defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date.
An entity shall adjust the quoted price of a liability or an entity’s own equity
instrument held by another party as an asset only if there are factors specific to the
asset that are not applicable to the fair value measurement of the liability or equity
instrument.
IFRS for SMEs/IFRS 13

Georgia, September 2017
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(9) 'parent undertaking' means an undertaking which controls one or
more subsidiary undertakings;

Georgian legislation
Law on accounting and auditing:

Conformity

Comments

C

Article 2. Definitions of Terms
aa)
Parent company- an entity, which controls one or more
subsidiaries;
(10) 'subsidiary undertaking' means an undertaking controlled by a
parent undertaking, including any subsidiary undertaking of an
ultimate parent undertaking;

Law on accounting and auditing:

(11) 'group' means a parent undertaking and all its subsidiary
undertakings;

Law on accounting and auditing:

C

Article 2. Definitions of Terms
bb)
Subsidiary – an entity controlled by a parent company, including a
subsidiary representing a parent enterprise;
C

Article 2. Definitions of Terms

cc)

Group – a parent company and all of its subsidiaries.

(12) 'affiliated undertakings' means any two or more undertakings
within a group;

Jointly controlled entities
A jointly controlled entity is a joint venture that involves the establishment of a
corporation, partnership or other entity in which each venturer has an interest.
The entity operates in the same way as other entities, except that a contractual
arrangement between the venturers establishes joint control over the economic
activity of the entity. (IFRS for SMEs/IAS28)

C

Covered by accounting
standards.

(13) 'associated undertaking' means an undertaking in which another
undertaking has a participating interest, and over whose operating and
financial policies that other under taking exercises significant
influence. An undertaking is presumed to exercise a significant
influence over another undertaking where it has 20 % or more of the
share holders' or members' voting rights in that other under taking;

An associate is an entity, including an unincorporated entity such as a
partnership, over which the investor has significant influence and that is
neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

C

Covered only by the accounting
standards.

Significant influence If an investor holds, directly or indirectly (eg
through subsidiaries), 20 per cent or more of the voting power of the investee,
it is presumed that the investor has significant influence, unless it can be
clearly demonstrated that this is not the case. Conversely, if the investor
holds, directly or indirectly (eg. through subsidiaries), less than 20 per cent of
the voting power of the investee, it is presumed that the investor does not
have significant influence, unless such influence can be clearly demonstrated.
A substantial or majority ownership by another investor does not necessarily
preclude an investor from having significant influence.

IAS 28/IFRS for SMEs
(14) 'investment undertakings' means:

Law of Georgia on Collective Investment Undertakings

C
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(a) undertakings the sole object of which is to invest their funds in
various securities, real property and other assets, with the sole aim of
spreading investment risks and giving their shareholders the benefit of
the results of the management of their assets,
(b) undertakings associated with investment undertakings with fixed
capital, if the sole object of those associated undertakings is to acquire
fully paid shares issued by those investment undertakings without
prejudice to point (h) of Article 22(1) of Directive 2012/30/EU;

(15) 'financial holding undertakings' means undertakings the sole
object of which is to acquire holdings in other under takings and to
manage such holdings and turn them to profit, without involving
themselves directly or indirectly in the management of those
undertakings, without prejudice to their rights as shareholders;
(16) 'material' means the status of information where its omission or
misstatement could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that
users make on the basis of the financial statements of the undertaking.
The materiality of individual items shall be assessed in the context of
other similar items.

Georgian legislation
Article 2 - Definition of terms
6. Stock fund - a join stock company that may be managed by a person
or a group of persons whose sole business is to invest pooled financial assets in
financial instruments and to execute related financial transactions. A stock fund
shall be a publicly accountable enterprise.
Law on accounting and auditing:

Conformity

Article 2. Definitions of Terms
x)
Public Interest Entity (hereinafter PIE) – a legal entity, which
represents:
…
x.f) an investment fund - in accordance with the Law of Georgia on
Investment Funds;
…
NC

C

Materiality
Information is material if omitting it or misstating it could influence decisions
that users make on the basis of financial information about a specific
reporting
entity. In other words, materiality is an entity-specific aspect of relevance
based on the nature or magnitude, or both, of the items to which the information
relates in the context of an individual entity’s financial report. Consequently,
the Board cannot specify a uniform quantitative threshold for materiality or
predetermine what could be material in a particular situation.
CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK
Material Omissions or misstatements of items are material if they could,
individually or collectively, influence the economic decisions that users
make on the basis of the financial statements. Materiality depends on the
size and nature of the omission or misstatement judged in the surrounding
circumstances. The size or nature of the item, or a combination of both,
could be the determining factor.
Assessing whether an omission or misstatement could influence economic
decisions of users, and so be material, requires consideration of the
characteristics of those users. (IAS

Article 3. Categories of undertakings and groups

Comments

Law on accounting and auditing:

1/IFRS for SME)
C

No such definition in the
national legislation

Covered by the accounting
standards.
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1. In applying one or more of the options in Article 36, Member States
shall define micro-undertakings as undertakings which on their
balance sheet dates do not exceed the limits of at least two of the three
following criteria:
(a) balance sheet total: EUR 350 000;
(b) net turnover: EUR 700 000;
(c) average number of employees during the financial year:
10.
2. Small undertakings shall be undertakings which on their balance
sheet dates do not exceed the limits of at least two of the three
following criteria:
(a) balance sheet total: EUR 4 000 000;
(b) net turnover: EUR 8 000 000;
(c) average number of employees during the financial year:
50.
Member States may define thresholds exceeding the thresholds in
points (a) and (b) of the first subparagraph. However, the thresholds
shall not exceed EUR 6 000 000 for the balance sheet total and EUR
12 000 000 for the net turnover.
3. Medium-sized undertakings shall be undertakings which are not
micro-undertakings or small undertakings and which on their balance
sheet dates do not exceed the limits of at least two of the three
following criteria:
(a) balance sheet total: EUR 20 000 000;
(b) net turnover: EUR 40 000 000;
(c) average number of employees during the financial year:
250.

4. Large undertakings shall be undertakings which on their balance
sheet dates exceed at least two of the three following criteria:
(a) balance sheet total: EUR 20 000 000;
(b) net turnover: EUR 40 000 000;
(c) average number of employees during the financial year:
250.

5. Small groups shall be groups consisting of parent and subsidiary
undertakings to be included in a consolidation and which, on a
consolidated basis, do not exceed the limits of at least two of the three
following criteria on the balance sheet date of the parent undertaking:
(a) balance sheet total: EUR 4 000 000;
(b) net turnover: EUR 8 000 000;

Georgian legislation
Article 2. Definitions of Terms
s)
Enterprise of the fourth category – an entity, the indicators of
which at the end of the reporting period meet at least two criteria out of the
following three:
s.a) The value of total assets does not exceed GEL 1 million;
s.b) The revenues do not exceed GEL 2 million;
s.c) The average number of employees during the reporting period does not
exceed 10 (ten) people.
Law on accounting and auditing:

Conformity

Comments

C

Article 2. Definitions of Terms
t)
Enterprise of the third category - an entity, which does not
represent an enterprise of the fourth category and the indicators of which at the end
of the reporting period meet at least two criteria out of the following three :
t.a) The value of total assets does not exceed GEL 10 million;
t.b) The revenues do not exceed GEL 20 million;
t.c) The average number of employees during the reporting period does not
exceed 50 (fifty) people.
Law on accounting and auditing:

C

Article 2. Definitions of Terms
u)
Enterprise of the second category - an entity, which does not
represent an enterprise of the fourth or a third category and the indicators of
which at the end of the reporting period meet at least two criteria out of the
following three:
u.a) The value of total assets does not exceed GEL 50 million;
u.b) The revenues do not exceed GEL 100 million;
u.c) The average number of employees during the reporting period does not
exceed 250 (two hundred fifty) people.;
Law on accounting and auditing:

C

Article 2. Definitions of Terms
v)
Enterprise of the first category - an entity, the indicators of
which meets at least two criteria out of the following three:
v.a) The value of total assets exceeds GEL 50 million;
v.b) The revenues exceed GEL 100 million;
v.c) The average number of employees during the reporting period exceeds 250
(two hundred fifty) people;
Law on accounting and auditing:

C

Article 3. Legal Framework for Accounting and Reporting
11.
Where an entity or a group after an end of the two successive
reporting periods no longer meets at least two out of the three criteria set under
the Subparagraphs (s) -(v), Article 2 (1) of this Law, the size category of an

No definition of specific size
groups, but the law cannot be
considered incompatible with the
Directive, as it is implied that the
thresholds
for
individual
undertakings will be used to
determine group size.
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(c) average number of employees during the financial year:
50.
Member States may define thresholds exceeding the thresholds in
points (a) and (b) of the first subparagraph. However, the thresholds
shall not exceed EUR 6 000 000 for the balance sheet total and EUR
12 000 000 for the net turnover.

6. Medium-sized groups shall be groups which are not small groups,
which consist of parent and subsidiary undertakings to be included in
a consolidation and which, on a consolidated basis, do not exceed the
limits of at least two of the three following criteria on the balance sheet
date of the parent undertaking:
(a) balance sheet total: EUR 20 000 000;
(b) net turnover: EUR 40 000 000;
(c) average number of employees during the financial year:
250.
7. Large groups shall be groups consisting of parent and subsidiary
undertakings to be included in a consolidation and which, on a
consolidated basis, exceed the limits of at least two of the three
following criteria on the balance sheet date of the parent undertaking:
(a) balance sheet total: EUR 20 000 000;
(b) net turnover: EUR 40 000 000;
(c) average number of employees during the financial year:
250.
8. Member States shall permit the set-off referred to in Article 24(3)
and any elimination as a consequence of Article 24(7) not to be
effected when the limits in paragraphs 5 to 7 of this Article are
calculated. In such cases, the limits for the balance sheet total and net
turnover criteria shall be increased by 20 %.
9. In the case of those Member States which have not adopted the euro,
the amount in national currency equivalent to the amounts set out in
paragraphs 1 to 7 shall be that obtained by applying the exchange rate
published in the Official Journal of the European Union as at the date
of the entry into force of any Directive setting those amounts.
For the purposes of conversion into the national currencies of those
Member States which have not adopted the euro, the amounts in euro
specified in paragraphs 1, 3, 4, 6 and 7 may be increased or decreased
by not more than 5 % in order to produce round sum amounts in the
national currencies.
10. Where, on its balance sheet date, an undertaking or a group exceeds
or ceases to exceed the limits of two of the three criteria set out in
paragraphs 1 to 7, that fact shall affect the application of the
derogations provided for in this Directive only if it occurs in two
consecutive financial years.

Georgian legislation
enterprise/ group of enterprises shall change and requirements of a new category
apply.
12.
The period provided for in Paragraph 11 of this Article, shall
not apply to that enterprise/ group, the size category of which has increased by
two or more categories compared to the previous reporting period.
14.
For ascertaining a size category of a group, total value of
assets calculated by means of a consolidated procedure at the end of period, in
accordance with Subparagraphs (s) -(v), Article 2 (1) of this Law, income and an
average number of employees during the reporting period shall be used.
See above

See above

Conformity

Comments

C

No definition of specific size
groups, but the law cannot be
considered incompatible with the
Directive, as it is implied that the
thresholds for individual it is
implied that the thresholds for
undertakings will be used to
determine group size.

C

No definition of specific size
groups, but the law cannot be
considered incompatible with the
Directive, as it is implied that the
thresholds for individual it is
implied that the thresholds for
undertakings will be used to
determine group size.
Not applicable because IFRS
usage.

NA

NA

Law on accounting and auditing:
Chapter II Accounting and Reporting
Article 3. Legal Framework for Accounting and Reporting

C

No similar provisions in the
domestic legislation.
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11. The balance sheet total referred to in paragraphs 1 to 7 of this
Article shall consist of the total value of the assets in A to E under
'Assets' in the layout set out in Annex III or of the assets in A to E in
the layout set out in Annex IV.
12. When calculating the thresholds in paragraphs 1 to 7, Member
States may require the inclusion of income from other sources for
undertakings for which "net turnover" is not relevant. Member States
may require parent undertakings to calculate their thresholds on a
consolidated basis rather than on an individual basis. Member States
may also require affiliated undertakings to calculate their thresholds
on a consolidated or aggregated basis where such undertakings have
been established for the sole purpose of avoiding the reporting of
certain information.
13. In order to adjust for the effects of inflation, the Commission shall
at least every five years review and, where appropriate, amend, by
means of delegated acts in accordance with Article 49, the thresholds
referred to in paragraphs 1 to 7 of this Article, taking into account
measures of inflation as published in the Official Journal of the
European Union.
CHAPTER 2. GENERAL PROVISIONS AND PRINCIPLES
Article 4. General provisions
1. The annual financial statements shall constitute a composite whole
and shall for all undertakings comprise, as a minimum, the balance
sheet, the profit and loss account and the notes to the financial
statements.
Member States may require undertakings other than small
undertakings to include other statements in the annual financial
statements in addition to the documents referred to in the first
subparagraph.
back article 13

Georgian legislation
11.
Where an entity or a group after an end of the two successive
reporting periods no longer meets at least two out of the three criteria set under the
Subparagraphs (s) -(v), Article 2 (1) of this Law, the size category of an enterprise/
group of enterprises shall change and requirements of a new category apply.
IAS 1

Law on accounting and auditing:
Article 4. Accounting
6.
Entities shall perform accounting and prepare financial
statements in material form or through electronic systems in conformity with the
respective financial reporting standards.
Article 5 – Financial Statements and Basic Principles for their
Preparation
3. Financial statements prepared by an entity shall be complete and
accurate and present fairly Financial Position of an entity as well as Income
Statement, Cash Flow Statement, Statement of Changes in Equity and disclosure
notes; information presented in financial statements shall comply with the
fundamental quality characteristics defined under the International Financial
Reporting Standards.
IAS 1:
Complete set of financial statements
A complete set of financial statements comprises:
(a) a statement of financial position as at the end of the period;
(b) a statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the period;
(c) a statement of changes in equity for the period;

Conformity

C

Comments

No similar provisions in the
domestic legislation, covered by
the IAS.

NA

The transposition of this new
provision is optional.

NA

No action is required.

C

Although, the financial
statements required according to
the standards applied in Georgia
are stricter, the law cannot be
assessed as incompatible with
the Directive.
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Georgian legislation
(d) a statement of cash flows for the period;
(e) notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information;
(ea) comparative information in respect of the preceding period as specified in
paragraphs 38 and 38A; and
(f) a statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period
when an entity applies an accounting policy retrospectively or makes a
retrospective restatement of items in its financial statements, or when it
reclassifies items in its financial statements

Conformity

Comments

IFRS for SMEs:

2. The annual financial statements shall be drawn up clearly and in
accordance with the provisions of this Directive.

A complete set of financial statements of an entity shall include all of the
following:
(a) a statement of financial position as at the reporting date.
(b) either:
(i) a single statement of comprehensive income for the reporting period
displaying all items of income and expense recognised during the period
including those items recognised in determining profit or loss (which is a subtotal
in the statement of comprehensive income) and items of other comprehensive
income, or (ii) a separate income statement and a separate statement of
comprehensive income. If an entity chooses to present both an income statement
and a statement of comprehensive income, the statement of comprehensive
income begins with profit or loss and then displays the items of other
comprehensive income.
(c) a statement of changes in equity for the reporting period.
(d) a statement of cash flows for the reporting period.
(e) notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.
IAS 1 Fair presentation and compliance with IFRSs: Financial statements shall
present fairly the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of an
entity. Fair presentation requires the faithful representation of the effects of
transactions, other events and conditions in accordance with the definitions and
recognition criteria for assets, liabilities, income and expenses set out in the
Framework. The application of IFRSs, with additional disclosure when necessary,
is presumed to result in financial statements that achieve a fair presentation.

IFRS for SMEs (section 3) Fair presentation
Financial statements shall present fairly the financial position, financial
performance and cash flows of an entity. Fair presentation requires the faithful
representation of the effects of transactions, other events and conditions in
accordance with the definitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities,
income and expenses set out in Section 2 Concepts and Pervasive Principles. (a)
The application of the IFRS for SMEs, with additional disclosure when necessary,

PC

Indirectly covered by standards.
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3. The annual financial statements shall give a true and fair view of the
undertaking's assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss.

Georgian legislation
is presumed to result in financial statements that achieve a fair presentation of the
financial position, financial performance and cash flows of SMEs.
Law on accounting and auditing:

Conformity

Comments

C

Article 5 – Financial Statements and Basic Principles for their
Preparation
3. Financial statements prepared by an entity shall be complete and
accurate and present fairly Financial Position of an entity as well as Income
Statement, Cash Flow Statement, Statement of Changes in Equity and disclosure
notes; information presented in financial statements shall comply with the
fundamental quality characteristics defined under the International Financial
Reporting Standards.
IAS 1 Fair presentation and compliance with IFRSs: Financial statements shall
present fairly the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of an
entity. Fair presentation requires the faithful representation of the effects of
transactions, other events and conditions in accordance with the definitions and
recognition criteria for assets, liabilities, income and expenses set out in the
Framework. The application of IFRSs, with additional disclosure when necessary,
is presumed to result in financial statements that achieve a fair presentation.

IFRS for SMEs (section 3) Fair presentation

Where the application of this Directive would not be sufficient to give
a true and fair view of the undertaking's assets, liabilities, financial
position and profit or loss, such additional information as is necessary
to comply with that requirement shall be given in the notes to the
financial statements.
4. Where in exceptional cases the application of a provision of this
Directive is incompatible with the obligation laid down in paragraph
3, that provision shall be disapplied in order to give a true and fair view
of the undertaking's assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or
loss. The disapplication of any such provision shall be disclosed in the
notes to the financial statements together with an explanation of the
reasons for it and of its effect on the undertaking's assets, liabilities,
financial position and profit or loss.

Financial statements shall present fairly the financial position, financial
performance and cash flows of an entity. Fair presentation requires the faithful
representation of the effects of transactions, other events and conditions in
accordance with the definitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities,
income and expenses set out in Section 2 Concepts and Pervasive Principles. (a)
The application of the IFRS for SMEs, with additional disclosure when necessary,
is presumed to result in financial statements that achieve a fair presentation of the
financial position, financial performance and cash flows of SMEs.
Disclosures are required under all IAS and IFRS for SMEs

Law on accounting and auditing:
Article 5 – Financial Statements and Basic Principles for their
Preparation
3. Financial statements prepared by an entity shall be complete and
accurate and present fairly Financial Position of an entity as well as Income
Statement, Cash Flow Statement, Statement of Changes in Equity and disclosure
notes; information presented in financial statements shall comply with the

C

PC

Covered by the accounting
standards.

Implied
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The Member States may define the exceptional cases in question and
lay down the relevant special rules which are to apply in those cases.
back article 36(4)
back article 17(1)(k)

Georgian legislation
fundamental quality characteristics defined under the International Financial
Reporting Standards.

Conformity

Comments

IAS 1 Fair presentation and compliance with IFRSs: Financial statements shall
present fairly the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of an
entity. Fair presentation requires the faithful representation of the effects of
transactions, other events and conditions in accordance with the definitions and
recognition criteria for assets, liabilities, income and expenses set out in the
Framework. The application of IFRSs, with additional disclosure when necessary,
is presumed to result in financial statements that achieve a fair presentation.

IFRS for SMEs (section 3) Fair presentation
Financial statements shall present fairly the financial position, financial
performance and cash flows of an entity. Fair presentation requires the faithful
representation of the effects of transactions, other events and conditions in
accordance with the definitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities,
income and expenses set out in Section 2 Concepts and Pervasive Principles. (a)
The application of the IFRS for SMEs, with additional disclosure when necessary,
is presumed to result in financial statements that achieve a fair presentation of the
financial position, financial performance and cash flows of SMEs.
5. Member States may require undertakings other than small
undertakings to disclose information in their annual financial
statements which is additional to that required pursuant to this
Directive.
6. By way of derogation from paragraph 5, Member States may require
small undertakings to prepare, disclose and publish information in the
financial statements which goes beyond the requirements of this
Directive, provided that any such information is gathered under a
single filing system and the disclosure requirement is contained in the
national tax legislation for the strict purposes of tax collection. The
information required in accordance with this paragraph shall be
included in the relevant part of the financial statements.
7. Member States shall communicate to the Commission any
additional information they require in accordance with paragraph 6
upon the transposition of this Directive and when they introduce new
requirements in accordance with paragraph 6 in national law.
8. Member States using electronic solutions for filing and publishing
annual financial statements shall ensure that small undertakings are not
required to publish, in accordance with Chapter 7, the additional
disclosures required by national tax legislation, as referred to in
paragraph 6.
Article 5. General disclosure

NA

The provision is optional.

NA

Optional and not transposed.

NA

NC

Law on accounting and auditing:

C

TBC
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The document containing the financial statements shall state the name
of the undertaking and the information prescribed by points (a) and (b)
of Article 5 of Directive 2009/101/EC.
Article 5 of Directive 2009/101/EC
Member States shall prescribe that letters and order forms, whether
they are in paper form or use any other medium, are to state the
following particulars:
(a) the information necessary in order to identify the register in which
the file mentioned in Article 3 is kept, together with the number of the
company in that register;
(b) the legal form of the company, the location of its registered office
and, where appropriate, the fact that the company is being wound up.
Article 6. General financial reporting principles
1. Items presented in the annual and consolidated financial statements
shall be recognised and measured in accordance with the following
general principles:
(a) the undertaking shall be presumed to be carrying on its business as
a going concern;

Georgian legislation
Article 5 – Financial Statements and Basic Principles for their
Preparation
8. Name of an entity, registering body, registration number, legal form,
legal address, as well as information on liquidation proceedings (if any) against
entity shall be indicated in documents reflecting financial statements.

Conformity

Going concern
4.1 The financial statements are normally prepared on the assumption that an
entity is a going concern and will continue in operation for the foreseeable
future. Hence, it is assumed that the entity has neither the intention nor the
need to liquidate or curtail materially the scale of its operations; if such an
intention or need exists, the financial statements may have to be prepared on a
different basis and, if so, the basis used is disclosed.
CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK (4.1)

C

IAS 1/IFRS for SMEs (section

3). When preparing financial statements,
management shall make an assessment of an entity’s ability to continue as a going
concern. An entity shall prepare financial statements on a going concern basis
unless management either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease trading, or has
no realistic alternative but to do so.

(b) accounting policies and measurement bases shall be applied
consistently from one financial year to the next;

Law on accounting and auditing:
Article 5 – Basic Principles for Preparation of Financial Statements
5. An entity shall apply policies and methods permitted for it consistently
except for the case when the other permitted policy or method reflects the entity’s
financial position and activities in a more realistic and unbiased manner. Policies
and methods can be amended only within the scope of a chosen accounting and
financial reporting standard.
IFRS for SMEs/IAS 1 and CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK Consistency of
presentation
3.11 An entity shall retain the presentation and classification of items in the
financial
statements from one period to the next unless: (a) it is apparent, following a
significant change in the nature of the entity’s operations or a review of its financial

C

Comments

Covered by the accounting
standards.
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(c) recognition and measurement shall be on a prudent basis, and in
particular:
(i) only profits made at the balance sheet date may be recognised, back
(ii) all liabilities arising in the course of the financial year concerned
or in the course of a previous financial year shall be recognised, even
if such liabilities become apparent only between the balance sheet date
and the date on which the balance sheet is drawn up, and
back
(iii) all negative value adjustments shall be recognised, whether the
result of the financial year is a profit or a loss;
(d) amounts recognised in the balance sheet and profit and loss account
shall be computed on the accrual basis;
back article 36
(e) the opening balance sheet for each financial year shall correspond
to the closing balance sheet for the preceding financial year;
(f) the components of asset and liability items shall be valued
separately;
(g) any set-off between asset and liability items, or between income
and expenditure items, shall be prohibited;

(h) items in the profit and loss account and balance sheet shall be
accounted for and presented having regard to the substance of the
transaction or arrangement concerned;
back article 6(3)

(i) items recognised in the financial statements shall be measured in
accordance with the principle of purchase price or production cost; and
back article 7(1)
back article 8(1)
(j) the requirements set out in this Directive regarding recognition,
measurement, presentation, disclosure and consolidation need not be
complied with when the effect of complying with them is immaterial.
back article 6(4)
2. Notwithstanding point (g) of paragraph 1, Member States may in
specific cases permit or require undertakings to perform a set-off
between asset and liability items, or between income and expenditure

Georgian legislation
statements, that another presentation or classification would be more appropriate
having regard to the criteria for the selection and application of accounting policies
in other IFRS, or (b) this IFRS requires a change in presentation.
IAS1

Conformity

Comments

C

No such provisions in the
national legislation. Covered by
the accounting standards.

IAS 1/IAS for SMEs

C

Covered by the accounting
standards.

An entity shall prepare its financial statements, except for cash flow
information, using the accrual basis of accounting.
IAS1

C

No such provision in the law.
Covered by the accounting
standards.
Covered by the accounting
standards.
Covered by the accounting
standards.

IAS 1/IAS for SMEs
An entity reports separately both assets and liabilities, and income and expenses.
IAS 1/IAS for SMEs

C
C

Offsetting
An entity shall not offset assets and liabilities or income and expenses, unless
required or permitted by an IFRS.
IFRS for SMEs

C

Only IFRS for SMEs contains
similar provision.

Substance over form
Transactions and other events and conditions should be accounted for and
presented in accordance with their substance and not merely their legal form.
This enhances the reliability of financial statements
IAS1

C

Covered by the accounting
standards.

IAS1

C

Covered by the accounting
standards.

NA

This provision is optional.
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items, provided that the amounts which are set off are specified as
gross amounts in the notes to the financial statements.
3. Member States may exempt undertakings from the requirements of
point (h) of paragraph 1.
4. Member States may limit the scope of point (j) of paragraph 1 to
presentation and disclosures.
5. In addition to those amounts recognised in accordance with point
(c)(ii) of paragraph 1, Member States may permit or require the
recognition of all foreseeable liabilities and potential losses arising in
the course of the financial year concerned or in the course of a previous
financial year, even if such liabilities or losses become apparent only
between the balance sheet date and the date on which the balance sheet
is drawn up.
Article 7. Alternative measurement basis of fixed assets at revalued
amounts
1. By way of derogation from point (i) of Article 6(1), Member States
may permit or require, in respect of all undertakings or any classes of
undertaking, the measurement of fixed assets at revalued amounts.
Where national law provides for the revaluation basis of measurement,
it shall define its content and limits and the rules for its application.
2. Where paragraph 1 is applied, the amount of the difference between
measurement on a purchase price or production cost basis and
measurement on a revaluation basis shall be entered in the balance
sheet in the revaluation reserve under 'Capital and reserves'. The
revaluation reserve may be capitalised in whole or in part at any time.
The revaluation reserve shall be reduced where the amounts
transferred to that reserve are no longer necessary for the
implementation of the revaluation basis of accounting.
The Member States may lay down rules governing the application of
the revaluation reserve, provided that transfers to the profit and loss
account from the revaluation reserve may be made only where the
amounts transferred have been entered as an expense in the profit and
loss account or reflect increases in value which have actually been
realised. No part of the revaluation reserve may be distributed, either
directly or indirectly, unless it represents a gain actually realised.
Save as provided under the second and third subparagraphs of this
paragraph, the revaluation reserve may not be reduced.

3. Value adjustments shall be calculated each year on the basis of the
revalued amount. However, by way of derogation from Articles 9 and
13, Member States may permit or require that only the amount of the

Georgian legislation

Conformity

NA

This provision is optional and is
not transposed into local
legislation.
Optional and not transposed.

NA

This provision is optional.

NA

IAS 16
After recognition as an asset, an item of property, plant and equipment whose fair
value can be measured reliably shall be carried at a revalued amount, being its fair
value at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations shall be made with
sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially
from that which would be determined using fair value at the end of the reporting
period.
If an asset’s carrying amount is increased as a result of a revaluation, the increase
shall be recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of revaluation surplus. However, the increase shall be recognised
in profit or loss to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset
previously recognised in profit or loss. If an asset’s carrying amount is decreased
as a result of a revaluation, the decrease shall be recognised in profit or loss.
However, the decrease shall be recognised in other comprehensive income to the
extent of any credit balance existing in the revaluation surplus in respect of that
asset. The decrease recognised in other comprehensive income reduces the amount
accumulated in equity under the heading of revaluation surplus. The revaluation
surplus included in equity in respect of an item of property, plant and equipment
may be transferred directly to retained earnings when the asset is derecognised.
This may involve transferring the whole of the surplus when the asset is retired or
disposed of. However, some of the surplus may be transferred as the asset is used
by an entity. In such a case, the amount of the surplus transferred would be the
difference between depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of the asset
and depreciation based on the asset’s original cost. Transfers from revaluation
surplus to retained earnings are not made through profit or loss.

Comments

C

IAS 16 does not require the
annual revaluation of the
property, plant and equipment.
Per IAS 16 The frequency of
revaluations depends upon the
changes in fair values of the
items of property, plant and
equipment being revalued. When
the fair value of a revalued asset
differs materially from its
carrying amount, a further
revaluation is required. Some
items of property, plant and
equipment experience significant
and volatile changes in fair
value, thus necessitating annual
revaluation. Such frequent
revaluations are unnecessary for
items of property, plant and
equipment with only
insignificant changes in fair
value. Instead, it may be
necessary to revalue the item
only every three or five years.
Consequently, it can be
considered as compliant.
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value adjustments arising as a result of the purchase price or
production cost measurement basis be shown under the relevant items
in the layouts set out in Annexes V and VI and that the difference
arising as a result of the measurement on a revaluation basis under this
Article be shown separately in the layouts.
Article 8. Alternative measurement basis of fair value
1. By way of derogation from point (i) of Article 6(1) and subject to
the conditions set out in this Article:
(a) Member States shall permit or require, in respect of all
undertakings or any classes of undertaking, the measurement of
financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, at
fair value; and
back article 36(3)
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IFRS 13 - Fair value measurement

4. Measurement according to point (a) of paragraph 1 shall not apply
to the following:
(a) non-derivative financial instruments held to maturity;
(b) loans and receivables originated by the undertaking and not held
for trading purposes; and
(c) interests in subsidiaries, associated undertakings and joint ventures,
equity instruments issued by the undertaking, contracts for contingent
consideration in a business combination, and other financial

Comments

Implicitly covered by the
accounting standards.

C

This IFRS:
(a) defines fair value;
(b) sets out in a single IFRS a framework for measuring fair value; and
(c) requires disclosures about fair value measurements.
The IFRS applies to IFRSs that require or permit fair value measurements or
disclosures about fair value measurements (and measurements, such as fair value
less costs to sell, based on fair value or disclosures about those measurements),
except in specified circumstances.

(b) Member States may permit or require, in respect of all
undertakings or any classes of undertaking, the measurement of
specified categories of assets other than financial instruments at
amounts determined by reference to fair value.
Such permission or requirement may be restricted to consolidated
financial statements.
2. For the purpose of this Directive, commodity-based contracts that
give either contracting party the right to settle in cash or some other
financial instrument shall be considered to be derivative financial
instruments, except where such contracts:
(a) were entered into and continue to meet the undertaking's expected
purchase, sale or usage requirements at the time they were entered into
and subsequently;
(b) were designated as commodity-based contracts at their inception;
and
(c) are expected to be settled by delivery of the commodity.
3. Point (a) of paragraph 1 shall apply only to the following liabilities:
(a) liabilities held as part of a trading portfolio; and
(b) derivative financial instruments.

Conformity

IFRS 13

NA

Optional and not transposed.

C

No such provision in the law.
Covered by the accounting
standards.

NA

IFRS 9

C

Point (a) of paragraph 1 is
optional, thus the paragraph 3 is
optional too and it is not
transposed into domestic
legislation.
No such provision in the law.
Covered by the accounting
standards.
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instruments with such special characteristics that the instruments,
according to what is generally accepted, are accounted for differently
from other financial instruments.
5. By way of derogation from point (i) of Article 6(1), Member States
may, in respect of any assets and liabilities which qualify as hedged
items under a fair value hedge accounting system, or identified
portions of such assets or liabilities, permit measurement at the
specific amount required under that system.
6. By way of derogation from paragraphs 3 and 4, Member States may
permit or require the recognition, measurement and disclosure of
financial instruments in conformity with international accounting
standards adopted in accordance with Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002.

7. The fair value within the meaning of this Article shall be determined
by reference to one of the following values:
(a) in the case of financial instruments for which a reliable market can
readily be identified, the market value. Where the market value is not
readily identifiable for an instrument but can be identified for its
components or for a similar instrument, the market value may be
derived from that of its components or of the similar instrument; (b) in
the case of financial instruments for which a reliable market cannot be
readily identified, a value resulting from generally accepted valuation
models and techniques, provided that such valuation models and
techniques ensure a reasonable approximation of the market value.
Financial instruments that cannot be measured reliably by any of the
methods described in points (a) and (b) of the first subparagraph shall
be measured in accordance with the principle of purchase price or
production cost in so far as measurement on that basis is possible.
8. Notwithstanding point (c) of Article 6(1), where a financial
instrument is measured at fair value, a change in value shall be
included in the profit and loss account, except in the following cases,
where such a change shall be included directly in a fair value reserve:
(a) the instrument accounted for is a hedging instrument under a
system of hedge accounting that allows some or all of the change in
value not to be shown in the profit and loss account; or

Conformity

Comments

IFRS 19
IFRS 9

C

No similar provisions in the law.
Covered by the accounting
standards.

Law on accounting and auditing:

C

Article 3. Legal Framework for Accounting and Reporting
1.
Accounting and financial reporting shall be regulated by this
Law and the other legislative and the other normative acts of Georgia. Accounting
and financial reporting shall meet the international standards for accounting and
financial reporting.
2.
Accounting and financial reporting standards consist of:
a) International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS);
b) International Financial Reporting Standards for Small and Medium-sized
Businesses (IFRS for SMEs);
c) Financial reporting standards for the enterprises of the fourth category.
d) Financial reporting standards set for non-entrepreneurial (non-profit) legal
entities.
IFRS 13

The law allows all entities to
apply IFRS, thus this provision
of the law cannot be assessed as
incompatible with the Directive.

C

No such provision in the law.
Covered by the accounting
standards.

Georgian legislation

IAS 39

TBC

Only IFRS contains similar
provision.
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(b) the change in value relates to an exchange difference arising on a
monetary item that forms part of an undertaking's net investment in a
foreign entity.
Member States may permit or require a change in the value of an
available for sale financial asset, other than a derivative financial
instrument, to be included directly in a fair value reserve.
That fair value reserve shall be adjusted when amounts shown therein
are no longer necessary for the implementation of points (a) and (b) of
the first subparagraph.
9. Notwithstanding point (c) of Article 6(1), Member States may
permit or require, in respect of all undertakings or any classes of
undertaking, that, where assets other than financial instruments are
measured at fair value, a change in the value be included in the profit
and loss account.
CHAPTER 3. BALANCE SHEET AND PROFIT AND LOSS
ACCOUNT
Article 9. General provisions concerning the balance sheet and the
profit and loss account
1. The layout of the balance sheet and of the profit and loss account
shall not be changed from one financial year to the next. Departures
from that principle shall, however, be permitted in exceptional cases
in order to give a true and fair view of the undertaking's assets,
liabilities, financial position and profit or loss. Any such departure and
the reasons therefor shall be disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.
2. In the balance sheet and in the profit and loss account the items set
out in Annexes III to VI shall be shown separately in the order
indicated. Member States shall permit a more detailed subdivision of
those items, subject to adherence to the prescribed layouts.
Member States shall permit the addition of subtotals and of new items,
provided that the contents of such new items are not covered by any of
the items in the prescribed layouts.
Member States may require such subdivision or subtotals or new
items.

3. The layout, nomenclature and terminology of items in the balance
sheet and profit and loss account that are preceded by arabic numerals
shall be adapted where the special nature of an undertaking so requires.
Member States may require such adaptations for undertakings which
form part of a particular economic sector.
Member States may permit or require balance sheet and profit and loss
account items that are preceded by arabic numerals to be combined
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Conformity

Comments

NA

Optional and not transposed

NA

IAS 1/IFRS for SMEs

Optional and not transposed.

C

Covered by standards.

C

IAS 1/IFRS for SME allows
presentation of the Statement of
Financial Position either in
horizontal or vertical layout.

Consistency of presentation
An entity shall retain the presentation and classification of items in the
financial statements from one period to the next unless:
(a) it is apparent, following a significant change in the nature of the entity’s
operations or a review of its financial statements, that another presentation or
classification would be more appropriate having regard to the criteria for the
selection and application of accounting policies in IAS 8; or (b) an IFRS requires a
change in presentation.
An entity shall present an analysis of expenses recognised in profit or loss
using a classification based on either their nature or their function
within the entity, whichever provides information that is reliable and
more relevant.
This Standard does not prescribe the order or format in which an entity presents
items. Paragraph 54 simply lists items that are sufficiently different in nature or
function to warrant separate presentation in the statement of financial position.

IAS 1

C

IAS 1/IFRS for SME allows
presentation of the Income
Statement by Function of
Expenditures or by Nature of
Expenditures. Thus, cannot be
considered incompatible with the
Directive
No such provision in the law.
Covered by the accounting
standards.
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where they are immaterial in amount for the purposes of giving a true
and fair view of the undertaking's assets, liabilities, financial position
and profit or loss or where such combination makes for greater clarity,
provided that the items so combined are dealt with separately in the
notes to the financial statements.
4. By way of derogation from paragraphs 2 and 3 of this Article,
Member States may limit the undertaking's ability to depart from the
layouts set out in Annexes III to VI to the extent that this is necessary
in order for the financial statements to be filed electronically.
5. In respect of each balance sheet and profit and loss account item,
the figure for the financial year to which the balance sheet and the
profit and loss account relate and the figure relating to the
corresponding item for the preceding financial year shall be shown.
Where those figures are not comparable, Member States may require
the figure for the preceding financial year to be adjusted. Any case of
non- comparability or any adjustment of the figures shall be disclosed,
with explanations, in the notes to the financial statements.

6. Member States may permit or require adaptation of the layout of
the balance sheet and profit and loss account in order to include the
appropriation of profit or the treatment of loss.
7. In respect of the treatment of participating interests in annual
financial statements:
(a) Member States may permit or require participating interests to be
accounted for using the equity method as provided for in Article 27,
taking account of the essential adjustments resulting from the
particular characteristics of annual financial statements as compared
to consolidated financial statements;
(b) Member States may permit or require that the proportion of the
profit or loss attributable to the participating interest be recognised in
the profit and loss account only to the extent of the amount
corresponding to dividends already received or the payment of which
can be claimed; and
(c) where the profit attributable to the participating interest and
recognised in the profit and loss account exceeds the amount of
dividends already received or the payment of which can be claimed,
the amount of the difference shall be placed in a reserve which cannot
be distributed to shareholders.
Article 10. Presentation of the balance sheet
For the presentation of the balance sheet, Member States shall
prescribe one or both of the layouts set out in Annexes III and IV. If a
Member State prescribes both layouts, it shall permit undertakings to
choose which of the prescribed layouts to adopt.
Article 11. Alternative presentation of the balance sheet
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Conformity

NA

Minimum comparative information IAS 1/IFRS form SMEs
Except when IFRSs permit or require otherwise, an entity shall present
comparative information in respect of the preceding period for all amounts reported
in the current period’s financial statements. An entity shall include comparative
information for narrative and descriptive information if it is relevant to
understanding the current period’s financial statements.
An entity shall present, as a minimum, two statements of financial position, two
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, two separate
statements of profit or loss (if presented), two statements of cash flows and two
statements of changes in equity, and related notes.

C

Comments

This new provision is optional.

Covered by the accounting
standards.

NA

Optional and not transposed.

NA

The provision is optional and is
not transposed into the domestic
legislation.

NA

Optional and not transposed.

NC

TBC

NA

NA because IFRS applies.

Optional and not transposed.
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Member States may permit or require undertakings, or certain classes
of undertaking, to present items on the basis of a distinction between
current and non-current items in a different layout from that set out in
Annexes III and IV, provided that the information given is at least
equivalent to that otherwise to be provided in accordance with
Annexes III and IV.
Article 12. Special provisions relating to certain balance sheet items
1. Where an asset or liability relates to more than one layout item, its
relationship to other items shall be disclosed either under the item
where it appears or in the notes to the financial statements.
2. Own shares and shares in affiliated undertakings shall be shown
only under the items prescribed for that purpose.
3. Whether particular assets are to be shown as fixed assets or current
assets shall depend upon the purpose for which they are intended.
4. Rights to immovables and other similar rights as defined by national
law shall be shown under 'Land and buildings'.
5. The purchase price or production cost or revalued amount, where
Article 7(1) applies, of fixed assets with limited useful economic
lives shall be reduced by value adjustments calculated to write off the
value of such assets systematically over their useful economic lives.
6. Value adjustments to fixed assets shall be subject to the following:
(a) Member States may permit or require value adjustments to be made
in respect of financial fixed assets, so that they are valued at the lower
figure to be attributed to them at the balance sheet date;
(b) value adjustments shall be made in respect of fixed assets, whether
their useful economic lives are limited or not, so that they are valued
at the lower figure to be attributed to them at the balance sheet date if
it is expected that the reduction in their value will be permanent;
(c) the value adjustments referred to in points (a) and (b) shall be
charged to the profit and loss account and disclosed separately in the
notes to the financial statements if they have not been shown
separately in the profit and loss account;
(d) measurement at the lower of the values provided for in points (a)
and (b) may not continue if the reasons for which the value adjustments
were made have ceased to apply; this provision shall not apply to value
adjustments made in respect of goodwill.
7. Value adjustments shall be made in respect of current assets with a
view to showing them at the lower market value or, in particular
circumstances, another lower value to be attributed to them at the
balance sheet date.
Measurement at the lower value provided for in the first subparagraph
may not continue if the reasons for which the value adjustments were
made no longer apply.
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IAS 1

Conformity

C

Comments

No such provision in the law.
Covered by the accounting
standards.

IAS 16.
When an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, the carrying amount
of that asset is adjusted to the revalued amount.
IFRS 16

PC

No such exact provision is in the
IFRS/IFRS for SMEs

C

IFRS 16.
When an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, the carrying amount
of that asset is adjusted to the revalued amount.

C

No such provision is in the
national legislation. Covered by
the accounting standards.
Covered by the accounting
standards.

NA

Optional and not transposed.

IFRS 16

C

No such provision is in the
national legislation. Covered by
the accounting standards.

IFRS 16

C

No such provision is in the
national legislation. Covered by
the accounting standards.

IAS 38

C

No such provision is in the
national legislation.

IAS 2

C
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8. Member States may permit or require that interest on capital
borrowed to finance the production of fixed or current assets be
included within production costs, to the extent that it relates to the
period of production. Any application of this provision shall be
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
back article 17(1)
9. Member States may permit the purchase price or production cost of
stocks of goods of the same category and all fungible items including
investments to be calculated either on the basis of weighted average
prices, on the basis of the 'first in, first out' (FIFO) method, the 'last in,
first out' (LIFO) method, or a method reflecting generally accepted
best practice.
10. Where the amount repayable on account of any debt is greater than
the amount received, Member States may permit or require that the
difference be shown as an asset. It shall be shown separately in the
balance sheet or in the notes to the financial statements. The amount
of that difference shall be written off by a reasonable amount each year
and completely written off no later than at the time of repayment of
the debt.
11. Intangible assets shall be written off over the useful economic life
of the intangible asset.
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IAS 38 After initial recognition, an intangible asset shall be carried at its cost
less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. An
entity shall assess whether the useful life of an intangible asset is finite or
indefinite and, if finite, the length of, or number of production or similar units
constituting, that useful life. An intangible asset shall be regarded by the entity as
having an indefinite useful life when, based on an analysis of all of the relevant
factors, there is
no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net
cash inflows for the entity.

Conformity

NA

Comments
Optional and not transposed.

NA

Optional and not transposed.

NA

This is an optional provision.

C

No such exact provision is in the
national legislation. Covered by
the accounting standards.

PC

No such strict requirement in the
IFRS

IFRS for SMEs. An entity shall measure intangible assets at cost less any
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. The
requirements for amortisation are set out in this section. For the purpose of this
IFRS, all intangible assets shall be considered to have a
finite useful life.
In exceptional cases where the useful life of goodwill and development
costs cannot be reliably estimated, such assets shall be written off
within a maximum period set by the Member State. That maximum
period shall not be shorter than five years and shall not exceed 10
years. An explanation of the period over which goodwill is written off
shall be provided within the notes to the financial statements.

According to IFRS 38 - Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life shall not be amortised.
IFRS for SMEs. For the purpose of this IFRS, all intangible assets shall be considered
to have a finite useful life. If an entity is unable to make a reliable estimate of the
useful life of an intangible asset, the life shall be presumed to be ten years.
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Where national law authorises the inclusion of costs of development
under 'Assets' and the costs of development have not been completely
written off, Member States shall require that no distribution of profits
take place unless the amount of the reserves available for distribution
and profits brought forward is at least equal to that of the costs not
written off.

Where national law authorises the inclusion of formation expenses
under 'Assets', they shall be written off within a period of maximum
five years. In that case, Member States shall require that the third
subparagraph apply mutatis mutandis to formation expenses.
In exceptional cases, the Member States may permit derogations from
the third and fourth subparagraphs. Such derogations and the reasons
therefor shall be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
12. Provisions shall cover liabilities the nature of which is clearly
defined and which at the balance sheet date are either likely to be
incurred or certain to be incurred, but uncertain as to their amount or
as to the date on which they will arise.
The Member States may also authorise the creation of provisions
intended to cover expenses the nature of which is clearly defined and
which at the balance sheet date are either likely to be incurred or
certain to be incurred, but uncertain as to their amount or as to the date
on which they will arise.
At the balance sheet date, a provision shall represent the best estimate
of the expenses likely to be incurred or, in the case of a liability, of the
amount required to meet that liability.
Provisions shall not be used to adjust the values of assets.
Article 13. Presentation of the profit and loss account
1. For the presentation of the profit and loss account, Member States
shall prescribe one or both of the layouts set out in Annexes V and VI.
If a Member State prescribes both layouts, it may permit undertakings
to choose which of the prescribed layouts to adopt.
2. By way of derogation from Article 4(1), Member States may permit
or require all undertakings, or any classes of under taking, to present
a statement of their performance instead of the presentation of profit
and loss items in accordance with Annexes V and VI, provided that
the information given is at least equivalent to that otherwise required
by Annexes V and VI.
Article 14. Simplifications for small and medium-sized undertakings

Georgian legislation

IAS 37/IFRS for SMEs

Conformity

NA

Comments
Optional and not transposed.

NA

Optional and not transposed.

NA

Optional and not transposed.

C

Covered by
standards.

the

accounting

C

The layout provided under the
accounting principles cannot be
considered as incompatible with
the Directive.

NA

Optional and not transposed.

Provisions
14 A provision shall be recognised when:
(a) an entity has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event;
(b) it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation; and
(c) a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
If these conditions are not met, no provision shall be recognised.
In a general sense, all provisions are contingent because they are uncertain in
timing or amount.

The layout is presented in IAS 1/IFRS for SME

NA

Optional and not transposed.
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1. Member States may permit small undertakings to draw up abridged
balance sheets showing only those items in Annexes III and IV
preceded by letters and roman numerals, disclosing separately: (a) the
information required in brackets in D (II) under 'Assets' and C under
'Capital, reserves and liabilities' of Annex III, but in the aggregate for
each; or (b) the information required in brackets in D (II) of Annex IV.
2. Member States may permit small and medium-sized undertakings
to draw up abridged profit and loss accounts within the following
limits:
(a) in Annex V, items 1 to 5 may be combined under one item called
'Gross profit or loss';
(b) in Annex VI, items 1, 2, 3 and 6 may be combined under one item
called 'Gross profit or loss'.
CHAPTER 4. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Article 15. General provisions concerning the notes to the financial
statements
Where notes to the balance sheet and profit and loss account are
presented in accordance with this Chapter, the notes shall be presented
in the order in which items are presented in the balance sheet and in
the profit and loss account.
Article 16. Content of the notes to the financial statements relating to
all undertakings
1. In the notes to the financial statements all undertakings shall, in
addition to the information required under other provisions of this
Directive, disclose information in respect of the following:
(a) accounting policies adopted;
(b) where fixed assets are measured at revalued amounts, a table
showing:

Georgian legislation

Conformity

Comments

NA

Optional and not transposed.

NC

No such provision in the national
legislation.

IAS 1

C

IAS 1

C

No similar provisions in the
national legislation. Covered by
the accounting standards.

IFRS 9

C

No similar provisions in the
national legislation. Covered by
the accounting standards.

(i) movements in the revaluation reserve in the financial year, with an
explanation of the tax treatment of items therein, and
(ii) the carrying amount in the balance sheet that would have been
recognised had the fixed assets not been revalued;
(c) where financial instruments and/or assets other than financial
instruments are measured at fair value:
(i) the significant assumptions underlying the valuation models and
techniques where fair values have been determined in accordance with
point (b) of Article 8(7),
(ii) for each category of financial instrument or asset other than
financial instruments, the fair value, the changes in value included
directly in the profit and loss account and changes included in fair
value reserves,
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(iii) for each class of derivative financial instrument, information about
the extent and the nature of the instruments, including significant terms
and conditions that may affect the amount, timing and certainty of
future cash flows, and
(iv) a table showing movements in fair value reserves during the
financial year;
(d) the total amount of any financial commitments, guarantees or
contingencies that are not included in the balance sheet, and an
indication of the nature and form of any valuable security which has
been provided; any commitments concerning pensions and affiliated
or associated undertakings shall be disclosed separately;
(e) the amount of advances and credits granted to members of the
administrative, managerial and supervisory bodies, with indications of
the interest rates, main conditions and any amounts repaid or written
off or waived, as well as commitments entered into on their behalf by
way of guarantees of any kind, with an indication of the total for each
category;
(f) the amount and nature of individual items of income or expenditure
which are of exceptional size or incidence;
(g) amounts owed by the undertaking becoming due and payable after
more than five years, as well as the undertaking's entire debts covered
by valuable security furnished by the undertaking, with an indication
of the nature and form of the security; and
(h) the average number of employees during the financial year.
2. Member States may require mutatis mutandis that small
undertakings are to disclose information as required in points (a), (m),
(p), (q) and (r) of Article 17(1).

Georgian legislation

Conformity

Comments

IAS 1

C

No similar provisions in the
national legislation. Covered by
the accounting standards.

IFRS 9

C

No similar provisions in the
national legislation. Covered by
the accounting standards.

IAS 1

C

IAS 1

C

No similar provisions in the
national legislation. Covered by
the accounting standards.
No similar provisions in the
national legislation. Covered by
the accounting standards.

NC

No similar provisions in the
national legislation.

NA

For the purposes of applying the first subparagraph, the information
required in point (p) of Article 17(1) shall be limited to the nature and
business purpose of the arrangements referred to in that point.
For the purposes of applying the first subparagraph, the disclosure of
the information required in point (r) of Article 17(1) shall be limited
to transactions entered into with the parties listed in the fourth
subparagraph of that point.

3. Member States shall not require disclosure for small undertakings
beyond what is required or permitted by this Article.

TBC

Audit is not required for small
undertakings by Law on
accounting and auditing.
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Article 17. Additional disclosures for medium-sized and large
undertakings and public-interest entities
1. In the notes to the financial statements, medium-sized and large
undertakings and public-interest entities shall, in addition to the
information required under Article 16 and any other provisions of this
Directive, disclose information in respect of the following matters:
(a) for the various fixed asset items:
back article 16(2)
(i) the purchase price or production cost or, where an alternative basis
of measurement has been followed, the fair value or revalued amount
at the beginning and end of the financial year,
(ii) additions, disposals and transfers during the financial year,
(iii) the accumulated value adjustments at the beginning and end of the
financial year,
(iv) value adjustments charged during the financial year,
(v) movements in accumulated value adjustments in respect of
additions, disposals and transfers during the financial year, and
(vi) where interest is capitalised in accordance with Article 12(8), the
amount capitalised during the financial year.
(b) if fixed or current assets are the subject of value adjustments for
taxation purposes alone, the amount of the adjustments and the reasons
for making them;
(c) where financial instruments are measured at purchase price or
production cost:
(i) for each class of derivative financial instrument:
— the fair value of the instruments, if such a value can be determined
by any of the methods prescribed in point (a) of Article 8(7), and
— information about the extent and nature of the instruments,
(ii) for financial fixed assets carried at an amount in excess of their fair
value:
— the book value and the fair value of either the individual assets or
appropriate groupings of those individual assets, and
— the reasons for not reducing the book value, including the nature of
the evidence underlying the assumption that the book value will be
recovered;
(d) the amount of the emoluments granted in respect of, the financial
year to the members of administrative, managerial and supervisory
bodies by reason of their responsibilities and any commitments arising
or entered into in respect of retirement pensions of former members of
those bodies, with an indication of the total for each category of body.
Member States may waive the requirement to disclose such
information where its disclosure would make it possible to identify the
financial position of a specific member of such a body;
(e) the average number of employees during the financial year, broken
down by categories and, if they are not disclosed separately in the
profit and loss account, the staff costs relating to the financial year,

Georgian legislation

Conformity

Comments
Covered by the accounting
standards.

IAS 16

C

IAS 16

C

IFRS 9

C

IFRS 9/IAS 1

C

No similar provisions in the
national legislation. Covered by
the accounting standards.

IAS 19

C

No similar provisions in the
national legislation. Covered by
the accounting standards.

NC

No similar provisions in the
domestic legislation. Covered by
the accounting standards.
No similar provisions in the
national legislation. Covered by
the accounting standards.

No similar provisions in the
national legislation.
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broken down between wages and salaries, social security costs and
pension costs;
(f) where a provision for deferred tax is recognised in the balance
sheet, the deferred tax balances at the end of the financial year, and the
movement in those balances during the financial year;
back article 31(1)(b)
(g) the name and registered office of each of the undertakings in which
the undertaking, either itself or through a person acting in his own
name but on the undertaking's behalf, holds a participating interest,
showing the proportion of the capital held, the amount of capital and
reserves, and the profit or loss for the latest financial year of the under
taking concerned for which financial statements have been adopted;
the information concerning capital and reserves and the profit or loss
may be omitted where the undertaking concerned does not publish its
balance sheet and is not controlled by the undertaking.
back article 17(2)
Member States may allow the information required to be disclosed by
the first subparagraph of this point to take the form of a statement filed
in accordance with Article 3(1) and (3) of Directive 2009/101/EC; the
filing of such a statement shall be disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.
Member States may also allow that information to be omitted when
its nature is such that it would be seriously prejudicial to any of the
undertakings to which it relates. Member States may make such
omissions subject to prior administrative or judicial authorisation. Any
such omission shall be disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements;
(h) the number and the nominal value or, in the absence of a nominal
value, the accounting par value of the shares subscribed during the
financial year within the limits of the authorised capital, without
prejudice as far as the amount of that capital is concerned to point (e)
of Article 2 of Directive 2009/101/EC or to points (c) and (d) of Article
2 of Directive 2012/30/EU;
(i) where there is more than one class of shares, the number and the
nominal value or, in the absence of a nominal value, the accounting
par value for each class;
(j) the existence of any participation certificates, convertible
debentures, warrants, options or similar securities or rights, with an
indication of their number and the rights they confer;
back article 31(1)(b)
(k) the name, the head or registered office and the legal form of each
of the undertakings of which the undertaking is a member having
unlimited liability;

Georgian legislation

IAS1

Conformity

C

NC

Comments

No similar provisions in the
national legislation. Covered by
the accounting standards.
No similar provisions in the
national legislation.

IAS 1

C

No similar provisions in the
national legislation. Covered by
the accounting standards.

IAS 1

C

IAS 1

C

No similar provisions in the
national legislation. Covered by
the accounting standards.
No similar provisions in the
national legislation. Covered by
the accounting standards.

IAS 1

C

No similar provisions in the
national legislation. Covered by
the accounting standards.
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(l) the name and registered office of the undertaking which draws up
the consolidated financial statements of the largest body of
undertakings of which the undertaking forms part as a subsidiary
undertaking;

Georgian legislation

Conformity

NC

Comments
No similar provisions in the
national legislation.

(m) the name and registered office of the undertaking which draws up
the consolidated financial statements of the smallest body of
undertakings of which the undertaking forms part as a subsidiary
undertaking and which is also included in the body of undertakings
referred to in point (l);
back article 16(2)

NC

No similar provisions in the
national legislation.

(n) the place where copies of the consolidated financial statements
referred to in points (l) and (m) may be obtained, provided that they
are available;
(o) the proposed appropriation of profit or treatment of loss, or where
applicable, the appropriation of the profit or treatment of the loss;

NC

No similar provisions in the
domestic legislation.

(p) the nature and business purpose of the undertaking's arrangements
that are not included in the balance sheet and the financial impact on
the undertaking of those arrangements, provided that the risks or
benefits arising from such arrangements are material and in so far as
the disclosure of such risks or benefits is necessary for the purposes of
assessing the financial position of the under taking;
back article 16(2)
(q) the nature and the financial effect of material events arising after
the balance sheet date which are not reflected in the profit and loss
account or balance sheet; and
back article 16(2)
(r) transactions which have been entered into with related parties by
the undertaking, including the amount of such transactions, the nature
of the related party relationship and other information about the
transactions necessary for an understanding of the financial position of
the under taking. Information about individual transactions may be
aggregated according to their nature except where separate
information is necessary for an understanding of the effects of related
party transactions on the financial position of the undertaking.
Member States may permit or require that only transactions with
related parties that have not been concluded under normal market
conditions be disclosed.

IAS 1

C

No similar provisions in the
national legislation. Covered by
the accounting standards.
No similar provisions in the
national legislation. Covered by
the accounting standards.

IAS 1

C

IAS 1

C

No similar provisions in the
national legislation. Covered by
the accounting standards.

IAS 24

C

No similar provisions in the
national legislation. Covered by
the accounting standards.
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Georgian legislation

Conformity

Comments

Member States may permit that transactions entered into between one
or more members of a group be not disclosed, provided that
subsidiaries which are party to the transaction are wholly owned by
such a member.
back article 16(2)
Member States may permit that a medium-sized undertaking limit the
disclosure of transactions with related parties to transactions entered
into with:
(i) owners holding a participating interest in the undertaking;
(ii) undertakings in which the undertaking itself has a participating
interest; and
(iii) members of the administrative, management or supervisory
bodies of the undertaking.
2. Member States shall not be required to apply point (g) of
paragraph 1 to an undertaking which is a parent undertaking governed
by their national laws in the following cases:
(a) where the undertaking in which that parent undertaking holds a
participating interest for the purposes of point (g) of paragraph 1 is
included in consolidated financial statements drawn up by that parent
undertaking, or in the consolidated financial statements of a larger
body of under takings as referred to in Article 23(4);
(b) where that participating interest has been dealt with by that parent
undertaking in its annual financial statements in accordance with
Article 9 (7), or in the consolidated financial statements drawn up by
that parent undertaking in accordance with Article 27(1) to (8).
Article 18. Additional disclosures for large undertakings and publicinterest entities
1. In the notes to the financial statements, large undertakings and
public-interest entities shall, in addition to the information required
under Articles 16 and 17 and any other provisions of this Directive,
disclose information in respect of the following matters:

(a) the net turnover broken down by categories of activity and into
geographical markets, in so far as those categories and markets differ
substantially from one another, taking account of the manner in which
the sale of products and the provision of services are organised; and

NC

Law on accounting and auditing:

C

Article 5 – Financial Statements and Basic Principles for their
Preparation
6. PIEs and enterprises of the first category shall present the following
information in disclosure notes of their financial statements:
a) Income of the entity by business category and geographic allocation of the
market, if there is substantial difference between these categories and markets in
the light of product/ service sale;
Law on accounting and auditing:

C

Article 5 – Financial Statements and Basic Principles for their
Preparation
6. PIEs and enterprises of the first category shall present the following
information in disclosure notes of their financial statements:
a) Income of the entity by business category and geographic allocation of the
market, if there is substantial difference between these categories and markets in
the light of product/ service sale;

No similar provisions in the
domestic legislation.
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(b) the total fees for the financial year charged by each statutory
auditor or audit firm for the statutory audit of the annual financial
statements, and the total fees charged by each statutory auditor or audit
firm for other assurance services, for tax advisory services and for
other non-audit services.

2. Member States may allow the information referred to in point (a) of
paragraph 1 to be omitted where the disclosure of that information
would be seriously prejudicial to the undertaking. Member States may
make such omissions subject to prior administrative or judicial
authorisation. Any such omission shall be disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.
3. Member States may provide that point (b) of paragraph 1 is not to
apply to the annual financial statements of an undertaking where that
undertaking is included within the consolidated financial statements
required to be drawn up under Article 22, provided that such
information is given in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
CHAPTER 5. MANAGEMENT REPORT
Article 19. Contents of the management report
1. The management report shall include a fair review of the
development and performance of the undertaking's business and of its
position, together with a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties that it faces.
back article 29
The review shall be a balanced and comprehensive analysis of the
development and performance of the undertaking's business and of its
position, consistent with the size and complexity of the business.
To the extent necessary for an understanding of the undertaking's
development, performance or position, the analysis shall include both
financial and, where appropriate, non-financial key performance
indicators relevant to the particular business, including information
relating to environmental and employee matters. In providing the
analysis, the management report shall, where appropriate, include
references to, and additional explanations of, amounts reported in the
annual financial statements.
back article 19(4)

Georgian legislation
Law on accounting and auditing:

Conformity

Comments

C

Article 5 – Financial Statements and Basic Principles for their
Preparation
6. PIEs and enterprises of the first category shall present the following
information in disclosure notes of their financial statements:
b) Fees paid to an Auditor/Audit Firm for auditing annual financial statements of
the entity and the other professional services rendered to it.
NA

NA

Law on accounting and auditing:

a)
b)
c)
…

Article 7 – Management Report
2.
Management report shall include:
Review of the entity’s activities;
Corporate Governance Statement;
Non-financial statement.

6. Review of the entity’s activities provided for in Paragraph 2 (a) of this
Article, with consideration of their volume and complexity, shall present the
comprehensive analysis of the entity’s business development, outcome and
position, major risks and uncertainties faced by it, which shall further include key
financial and non-financial indicators associated with the entity’s activities
including employment and environmental aspects, as well as additional description
of amounts given in annual financial statements. Review of activities shall also
include the following elements:
a) Entity’s future development plans;
b) Review of research and development performed by the entity;
c) Information on branches of an entity;
d) Review of the entity’s credit, market, liquidity and cash flow risks and
mechanisms for their management;
e) Detailed information on acquisition of its own shares, which at least shall
include:
e.a) reason for stock acquisition during the reporting period;

C

Optional and not transposed
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2. The management report shall also give an indication of:
(a) the undertaking's likely future development;

(b) activities in the field of research and development;

(c) the information concerning acquisitions of own shares prescribed
by Article 24(2) of Directive 2012/30/EU;
Article 24(2) of Directive 2012/30/EU
2. Where the laws of a Member State permit a company to acquire its
own shares, either itself or through a person acting in his own name
but on the company's behalf, they shall require the annual report to
state at least:
(a) the reasons for acquisitions made during the financial year;
(b) the number and nominal value or, in the absence of a nominal
value, the accountable par of the shares acquired and disposed of
during the financial year and the proportion of the subscribed capital
which they represent;

Georgian legislation
e.b) number and par value of the stock acquired and disposed during the
reporting period, while in case of their absence – book value and its percentage
share in the placed equity;
e.c) responsive action to stock acquisition or disposal
e.d) number and par value of the stock acquired and kept in ownership
during the reporting period, while in case of their absence – book value and its
percentage share in the placed equity;
f)
Enterprise goal and policy with respect to financial risk management.
Law on accounting and auditing:

Conformity

C

Article 7 – Management Report
6. Review of the entity’s activities provided for in Paragraph 2 (a) of
this Article, with consideration of their volume and complexity, shall present the
comprehensive analysis of the entity’s business development, outcome and
position, major risks and uncertainties faced by it, which shall further include key
financial and non-financial indicators associated with the entity’s activities
including employment and environmental aspects, as well as additional
description of amounts given in annual financial statements. Review of activities
shall also include the following elements:
a) Entity’s future development plans;
Law on accounting and auditing:

C

Article 7 – Management Report
6. Review of the entity’s activities provided for in Paragraph 2 (a) of
this Article, with consideration of their volume and complexity, shall present the
comprehensive analysis of the entity’s business development, outcome and
position, major risks and uncertainties faced by it, which shall further include key
financial and non-financial indicators associated with the entity’s activities
including employment and environmental aspects, as well as additional
description of amounts given in annual financial statements. Review of activities
shall also include the following elements:
a) Entity’s future development plans;
b) Review of research and development performed by the entity;
Law on accounting and auditing:

C

Article 7 – Management Report
6. Review of the entity’s activities provided for in Paragraph 2 (a) of
this Article, with consideration of their volume and complexity, shall present the
comprehensive analysis of the entity’s business development, outcome and
position, major risks and uncertainties faced by it, which shall further include key
financial and non-financial indicators associated with the entity’s activities
including employment and environmental aspects, as well as additional
description of amounts given in annual financial statements. Review of activities
shall also include the following elements:
e) Detailed information on acquisition of its own shares, which at least shall
include:

Comments
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(c) in the case of acquisition or disposal for a value, the consideration
for the shares;
(d) the number and nominal value or, in the absence of a nominal
value, the accountable par of all the shares acquired and held by the
company and the proportion of the subscribed capital which they
represent.

(d) the existence of branches of the undertaking; and

(e) in relation to the undertaking's use of financial instruments and
where material for the assessment of its assets, liabilities, financial
position and profit or loss:
(i) the undertaking's financial risk management objectives and
policies, including its policy for hedging each major type of forecasted
transaction for which hedge accounting is used; and
(ii) the undertaking's exposure to price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk
and cash flow risk.

3. Member States may exempt small undertakings from the
obligation to prepare management reports, provided that they require
the information referred to in Article 24(2) of Directive 2012/30/EU
concerning the acquisition by an undertaking of its own shares to be
given in the notes to the financial statements.

Georgian legislation
e.a) reason for stock acquisition during the reporting period;
e.b) number and par value of the stock acquired and disposed during the
reporting period, while in case of their absence – book value and its percentage
share in the placed equity;
e.c) responsive action to stock acquisition or disposal
e.d) number and par value of the stock acquired and kept in ownership
during the reporting period, while in case of their absence – book value and its
percentage share in the placed equity;
Law on accounting and auditing:

Conformity

Comments

C

Article 7 – Management Report
6. Review of the entity’s activities provided for in Paragraph 2 (a) of
this Article, with consideration of their volume and complexity, shall present the
comprehensive analysis of the entity’s business development, outcome and
position, major risks and uncertainties faced by it, which shall further include key
financial and non-financial indicators associated with the entity’s activities
including employment and environmental aspects, as well as additional
description of amounts given in annual financial statements. Review of activities
shall also include the following elements:
c) Information on branches of an entity;
Law on accounting and auditing:

PC

Points (e) and (i) not covered.

Article 7 – Management Report
6. Review of the entity’s activities provided for in Paragraph 2 (a) of this
Article, with consideration of their volume and complexity, shall present the
comprehensive analysis of the entity’s business development, outcome and
position, major risks and uncertainties faced by it, which shall further include key
financial and non-financial indicators associated with the entity’s activities
including employment and environmental aspects, as well as additional description
of amounts given in annual financial statements. Review of activities shall also
include the following elements:
d) Review of the entity’s credit, market, liquidity and cash flow risks and
mechanisms for their management;
…
f)
Enterprise goal and policy with respect to financial risk management.
Law on accounting and auditing:

PC

Small
undertakings
are
completely exempted from the
preparation of the management
report.

Article 7 – Management Report
1.
PIEs and the first and second category enterprises shall
prepare and file management report to the Service. Procedure for preparation and
filing management report with consideration of respective EU Directives shall be
defined by the Service.
2.
Management report shall include:
a)
Review of the entity’s activities;
b)
Corporate Governance Statement;
c)
Non-financial statement.
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4. Member States may exempt small and medium-sized
undertakings from the obligation set out in the third subparagraph of
paragraph 1 in so far as it relates to non-financial information.

Article 20. Corporate governance statement
1. Undertakings referred to in point (1)(a) of Article 2 shall include a
corporate governance statement in their management report. That
statement shall be included as a specific section of the management
report and shall contain at least the following information:
(a) a reference to the following, where applicable:
(i) the corporate governance code to which the undertaking is subject,
(ii) the corporate governance code which the undertaking may have
voluntarily decided to apply,
(iii) all relevant information about the corporate governance practices
applied over and above the requirements of national law.
back article 29(1)
Where reference is made to a corporate governance code referred to in
points (i) or (ii), the undertaking shall also indicate where the relevant
texts are publicly available. Where reference is made to the
information referred to in point (iii), the undertaking shall make details
of its corporate governance practices publicly available;

Georgian legislation
3. Review of the entity activities provided for in subparagraph (a),
paragraph 2 of this Article shall be prepared by PIEs and the first and second
category enterprises.
Law on accounting and auditing:
Article 7 – Management Report
1.
PIEs and the first and second category enterprises shall
prepare and file management report to the Service. Procedure for preparation and
filing management report with consideration of respective EU Directives shall be
defined by the Service.
2.
Management report shall include:
a)
Review of the entity’s activities;
b)
Corporate Governance Statement;
c)
Non-financial statement.
3. Review of the entity activities provided for in subparagraph (a),
paragraph 2 of this Article shall be prepared by PIEs and the first and second
category enterprises.
Law on accounting and auditing:
Article 7 – Management Report
1.
PIEs and the first and second category enterprises shall
prepare and file management report to the Service. Procedure for preparation and
filing management report with consideration of respective EU Directives shall be
defined by the Service.
2.
Management report shall include:
a)
Review of the entity’s activities;
b)
Corporate Governance Statement;
…
4. Corporate Governance Statement provided for in Paragraph 2 (b) of
this Article shall be prepared by entities defined in Paragraph 1 (x.a), Article 2 of
this Law ;
…
7. Corporate Governance Statement provided for in paragraph 2 (b) of
this Article, shall at least include the following:
a) Review of Corporate Governance Code that is mandatory for an entity or is
selected voluntarily (if any); also review of all those corporate governance practices
that exceed the requirements set under the legislation; in the event of using
corporate governance code selected by an entity at its own discretion, it shall
specify where the code is publicly available. In case of disclosing corporate
governance practice, the enterprise shall publicize detailed information on it;
b) Deviations by an entity from the mandatory or voluntarily selected corporate
governance code or cases of not referring to the Code specified under Subparagraph
(a) of this Paragraph and analysis of respective reasons;
c) Review of internal controls and risk management systems related to financial
reporting process;
d) Review of and authority of shareholders and shareholders’ general meeting;
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(b) where an undertaking, in accordance with national law, departs
from a corporate governance code referred to in points (a)(i) or (ii), an
explanation by the undertaking as to which parts of the corporate
governance code it departs from and the reasons for doing so; where
the undertaking has decided not to refer to any provisions of a
corporate governance code referred to in points (a)(i) or (ii), it shall
explain its reasons for not doing so;
(c) a description of the main features of the undertaking's internal
control and risk management systems in relation to the financial
reporting process;

(d) the information required by points (c), (d), (f), (h) and (i) of Article
10(1) of Directive 2004/25/EC of the European Parliament and of the
Council of 21 April 2004 on takeover bids, where the undertaking is
subject to that Directive;
back article 20(3)
Article 10(1) of Directive 2004/25/EC
Information on companies as referred to in Article1(1)
1.Member States shall ensure that companies as referred to in
Article1(1) publish detailed information on the following:
(c) significant direct and indirect shareholdings (including indirect
shareholdings through pyramid structures and cross shareholdings)
within the meaning of Article 85 of Directive2001/34/EC;
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e) Review of composition and operation of entity’s management and supervision
bodies;
f) Review of the diversification policy used by an entity (e.g. age, gender,
qualification and etc.) for its management and supervisory boards, except for those
reporting enterprises that meet the second and the third category requirements , as
well as review of the policy goals, used methods and results achieved during this
period. Where there is no such policy, the reasons are explained in the Corporate
Governance Statement;
g) The following information for mandatory tender offer provided for in Article
532 of the Law of Georgia on Entrepreneurs:
g.a) Direct or indirect significant participation in capital;
g.b) Information on holders of those shares that grant special
control right and description of such rights;
g.c) Information on any restriction of voting right, such as
restriction of voting right for holders of certain percentage of shares or votes;
g.d) Rules related to appointment and replacement of members
of management bodies, as well as information on amending the Charter;
g.e) Powers of members of management bodies;
Law on accounting and auditing:
Article 7 – Management Report
7. Corporate Governance Statement provided for in paragraph 2 (b) of
this Article, shall at least include the following:
b) Deviations by an entity from the mandatory or voluntarily selected
corporate governance code or cases of not referring to the Code specified under
Subparagraph (a) of this Paragraph and analysis of respective reasons;
Law on accounting and auditing:

Conformity

C

C

Article 7 – Management Report
7. Corporate Governance Statement provided for in paragraph 2 (b) of
this Article, shall at least include the following:
c) Review of internal controls and risk management systems related to financial
reporting process;
Law on accounting and auditing:
Article 7 – Management Report
7. Corporate Governance Statement provided for in paragraph 2 (b) of
this Article, shall at least include the following:
g) The following information for mandatory tender offer provided for in
Article 532 of the Law of Georgia on Entrepreneurs:
g.a) Direct or indirect significant participation in capital;
g.b) Information on holders of those shares that grant special
control right and description of such rights;
g.c) Information on any restriction of voting right, such as
restriction of voting right for holders of certain percentage of shares or votes;

C
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(d) the holders of any securities with special control rights and a
description of those rights;
(f) any restrictions on voting rights, such as limitations of the voting
rights of holders of a given percentage or number of votes, deadlines
for exercising voting rights, or systems whereby, with the company’s
cooperation, the financial rights attaching to securities are separated
from the holding of securities;
(h) the rules governing the appointment and replacement of board
members and the amendment of the articles of association;
(i) the powers of board members, and in particular the power to issue
or buy back shares;
(e) unless the information is already fully provided for in national law,
a description of the operation of the shareholder meeting and its key
powers and a description of shareholders' rights and how they can be
exercised; and

(f) the composition and operation of the administrative, management
and supervisory bodies and their committees.
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g.d) Rules related to appointment and replacement of
members of management bodies, as well as information on amending the Charter;
g.e) Powers of members of management bodies;

Law on accounting and auditing:

Conformity

Comments

C

Article 7 – Management Report
7. Corporate Governance Statement provided for in paragraph 2 (b) of
this Article, shall at least include the following:
d) Review of and authority of shareholders and shareholders’ general meeting;
Law on accounting and auditing:

C

Article 7 – Management Report
7. Corporate Governance Statement provided for in paragraph 2 (b) of
this Article, shall at least include the following:
e) Review of composition and operation of entity’s management and supervision
bodies;
2. Member States may permit the information required by paragraph 1
of this Article to be set out in:
(a) a separate report published together with the management report in
the manner set out in Article 30; or
(b) a document publicly available on the undertaking's website, to
which reference is made in the management report.
That separate report or that document referred to in points (a) and (b),
respectively, may cross-refer to the management report, where the
information required by point (d) of paragraph 1 of this Article is made
available in that management report.
3. The statutory auditor or audit firm shall express an opinion in
accordance with the second subparagraph of Article 34(1) regarding
information prepared under points (c) and (d) of paragraph 1 of this
Article and shall check that the information referred to in points (a),
(b), (e) and (f) of paragraph 1 of this Article has been provided.

NA

Law on accounting and auditing:
Article 7 – Management Report
10. PIE and enterprises of the first and second categories shall provide
the management report to an Auditor/ Audit Firm. Auditor/ Audit Firm according
to Paragraph 6 and Paragraph 7 ((c) and (g)) of this Article will express its
opinion on management report, its compliance with regulatory normative acts and
correspondence with the financial statements of the same reporting period, as well
as about material inaccuracies and their substance. Auditor/ Audit Firm shall

C

Optional
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check whether the report includes the information provided for in Paragraph 7 (a,
b and d – f) and Paragraph 8 of this Article.

4. Member States may exempt undertakings referred to in paragraph 1
which have only issued securities other than shares admitted to trading
on a regulated market, within the meaning of point (14) of Article 4(1)
of Directive 2004/39/EC, from the application of points (a), (b), (e)
and (f) of paragraph 1 of this Article, unless such undertakings have
issued shares which are traded in a multilateral trading facility, within
the meaning of point (15) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2004/39/EC.
point (14) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2004/39/EC
14) "Regulated market" means a multilateral system operated and/or
managed by a market operator, which brings together or facilitates
the bringing together of multiple third-party buying and selling
interests in financial instruments - in the system and in accordance
with its non-discretionary rules - in a way that results in a contract, in
respect of the financial instruments admitted to trading under its rules
and/or systems, and which is authorised and functions regularly and
in accordance with the provisions of Title III;
point (15) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2004/39/EC
15) "Multilateral trading facility (MTF)" means a multilateral system,
operated by an investment firm or a market operator, which brings
together multiple third-party buying and selling interests in financial
instruments - in the system and in accordance with non-discretionary
rules - in a way that results in a contract in accordance with the
provisions of Title II;
CHAPTER 6. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND REPORTS
Article 21. Scope of the consolidated financial statements and
reports
For the purposes of this Chapter, a parent undertaking and all of its
subsidiary undertakings shall be undertakings to be consolidated
where the parent undertaking is an undertaking to which the
coordination measures prescribed by this Directive apply by virtue of
Article 1(1).

Article 22. The requirement to prepare consolidated financial
statements
1. A Member State shall require any undertaking governed by its
national law to draw up consolidated financial statements and a

Law on accounting and auditing:

Conformity

Comments

NA

Optional and not transposed.

C

Even though Article 1(1) applies
to a larger scope of undertakings,
the Law on accounting and
auditing cannot be considered as
incompatible with the Directive.

PC

The accounting standards to
some extent differ from the
Directive.

Article 9 – Filing and Publishing Financial Statements
1.
The Service shall ensure development and management of a
webpage for placement of entities’ consolidated statements, as well as access of
users to it.
2.
An entity, other than non-entrepreneurial (non-profit) legal
entity, shall file financial statements (including consolidated one) specified under
this Law, management report (including consolidated one), statement on
payments made to the state and audit opinion, in cases established under the
present Law, immediately, though no later than the October 1 of the year
following the reporting period to the Service in accordance with its rules.
IFRS 10
IFRS 10
An entity that is a parent shall present consolidated financial statements. This IFRS
applies to all entities, except as follows:
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consolidated management report if that undertaking (a parent
undertaking):
(a) has a majority of the shareholders' or members' voting rights in
another undertaking (a subsidiary undertaking);
(b) has the right to appoint or remove a majority of the members of the
administrative, management or supervisory body of another
undertaking (a subsidiary undertaking) and is at the same time a
shareholder in or member of that undertaking;
(c) has the right to exercise a dominant influence over an undertaking
(a subsidiary undertaking) of which it is a shareholder or member,
pursuant to a contract entered into with that undertaking or to a
provision in its memorandum or articles of association, where the law
governing that subsidiary undertaking permits its being subject to such
contracts or provisions.
A Member State need not prescribe that a parent undertaking must be
a shareholder in or member of its subsidiary undertaking. Those
Member States the laws of which do not provide for such contracts or
clauses shall not be required to apply this provision; or
(d) is a shareholder in or member of an undertaking, and:
(i) a majority of the members of the administrative, management or
supervisory bodies of that undertaking (a subsidiary undertaking) who
have held office during the financial year, during the preceding
financial year and up to the time when the consolidated financial
statements are drawn up, have been appointed solely as a result of the
exercise of its voting rights; or
(ii) controls alone, pursuant to an agreement with other shareholders
in or members of that undertaking (a subsidiary undertaking), a
majority of shareholders' or members' voting rights in that
undertaking.
The Member States may introduce more detailed provisions
concerning the form and contents of such agreements.
Member States shall prescribe at least the arrangements referred to in
point (ii).
They may subject the application of point (i) to the requirement that
the voting rights represent at least 20 % of the total.
However, point (i) shall not apply where a third party has the rights
referred to in points (a), (b) or (c) with regard to that undertaking.
2. In addition to the cases mentioned in paragraph 1, Member States
may require any undertaking governed by their national law to draw
up consolidated financial statements and a consolidated management
report if:
(a) that undertaking (a parent undertaking) has the power to exercise,
or actually exercises, dominant influence or control over another
undertaking (the subsidiary undertaking); or
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(a) a parent need not present consolidated financial statements if it meets all the
following conditions:
(i) it is a wholly-owned subsidiary or is a partially-owned subsidiary of another
entity and all its other owners, including those not otherwise entitled to vote, have
been informed about, and do not object to, the parent not presenting consolidated
financial statements; (ii) its debt or equity instruments are not traded in a public
market (a domestic or foreign stock exchange or an over-the-counter market,
including local and regional markets); it did not file, nor is it in the process of filing,
its financial statements with a securities commission or other regulatory
organisation for the purpose of issuing any class of instruments in a public market;
and (iv) its ultimate or any intermediate parent produces consolidated financial
statements that are available for public use and comply with IFRSs.
An investor, regardless of the nature of its involvement with an entity (the investee),
shall determine whether it is a parent by assessing whether it controls the investee.
An investor controls an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee. Thus, an investor controls an investee if and
only if the investor has all the following:
(a) power over the investee (see paragraphs 10–14); (b) exposure, or rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with
the investee (see paragraphs 15 and 16); and (c) the ability to use its power over the
investee to affect the amount
of the investor’s returns (see paragraphs 17 and 18). An investor shall consider all
facts and circumstances when assessing whether it controls an investee. The
investor shall reassess whether it controls an investee if facts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed
in paragraph 7 (see paragraphs B80–B85). Two or more investors collectively
control an investee when they must act together to direct the relevant activities. In
such cases, because no investor can direct the activities without the co-operation of
the others, no investor individually controls the investee. Each investor would
account for its interest in the investee in accordance with the relevant IFRSs, such
as IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures or IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.
Power
An investor has power over an investee when the investor has existing rights that
give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities, ie the activities that Power
arises from rights. Sometimes assessing power is straightforward, such as when
power over an investee is obtained directly and solely from the voting rights granted
by equity instruments such as shares, and can be assessed by considering the voting
rights from those shareholdings. In other cases, the assessment will be more
complex and require more than one factor to be considered, for example when
power results from one or more contractual arrangements. An investor with the
current ability to direct the relevant activities has power even if its rights to direct
have yet to be exercised. Evidence that the investor has been directing relevant
activities can help determine whether the investor has power, but such evidence is

Conformity
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(b) that undertaking (a parent undertaking) and another undertaking
(the subsidiary undertaking) are managed on a unified basis by the
parent undertaking.
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not, in itself, conclusive in determining whether the investor has power over an
investee. If two or more investors each have existing rights that give them the
unilateral ability to direct different relevant activities, the investor that has the
current ability to direct the activities that most significantly affect the returns of the
investee has power over the investee. An investor can have power over an investee
even if other entities have existing
rights that give them the current ability to participate in the direction of the relevant
activities, for example when another entity has significant influence. However, an
investor that holds only protective rights does not have power over an investee (see
paragraphs B26–B28), and consequently does not control the investee.
Returns
An investor is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee when the investor’s returns from its involvement have the potential to
vary as a result of the investee’s performance. The investor’s returns can be only
positive, only negative or both positive and negative. Although only one investor
can control an investee, more than one party can share in the returns of an investee.
For example, holders of non-controlling interests can share in the profits or
distributions of an investee.
Link between power and returns
An investor controls an investee if the investor not only has power over the investee
and exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investee,
but also has the ability to use its power to affect the investor’s returns from its
involvement with the investee. Thus, an investor with decision-making rights shall
determine whether it is a principal or an agent. An investor that is an agent in
accordance with paragraphs B58–B72 does not control an investee when it
exercises
decision-making rights delegated to it.
IFRS for SMEs
Requirement to present consolidated financial statements
Except as permitted or required by paragraph 9.3, a parent entity shall present
consolidated financial statements in which it consolidates its investments in
subsidiaries in accordance with this IFRS. Consolidated financial statements
shall include all subsidiaries of the parent.
9.3 A parent need not present consolidated financial statements if: (a) both of the
following conditions are met:
(i) the parent is itself a subsidiary, and (ii) its ultimate parent (or any intermediate
parent) produces
consolidated general purpose financial statements that comply with full IFRSs or
with this IFRS; or
(b) it has no subsidiaries other than one that was acquired with the intention of
selling or disposing of it within one year. A parent shall account for such a
subsidiary: (i) at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss,
if

Conformity
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3. For the purposes of points (a), (b) and (d) of paragraph 1, the voting
rights and the rights of appointment and removal of any other
subsidiary undertaking as well as those of any person acting in his own
name but on behalf of the parent undertaking or of another subsidiary
undertaking shall be added to those of the parent undertaking.
4. For the purposes of points (a), (b) and (d) of paragraph 1, the rights
mentioned in paragraph 3 shall be reduced by the rights:
(a) attaching to shares held on behalf of a person who is neither the
parent undertaking nor a subsidiary of that parent undertaking; or
(b) attaching to shares:
(i) held by way of security, provided that the rights in question are
exercised in accordance with the instructions received, or
(ii) held in connection with the granting of loans as part of normal
business activities, provided that the voting rights are exercised in the
interests of the person providing the security.
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the fair value of the shares can be measured reliably, or (ii) otherwise at cost less
impairment (see paragraph 11.14(c)).
9.4 A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the parent. Control is the power
to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits
from its activities. If an entity has created a special purpose entity (SPE) to
accomplish a narrow and well-defined objective, the entity shall consolidate the
SPE when the substance of the relationship indicates that the SPE is controlled by
that entity (see paragraphs 9.10–9.12). Control is presumed to exist when the parent
owns, directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, more than half of the voting power
of an entity. That presumption may be overcome in exceptional circumstances if it
can be clearly demonstrated that such ownership does not constitute control.
Control also exists when the parent owns half or less of the voting power of an
entity but it has: (a) power over more than half of the voting rights by virtue of an
agreement with other investors;
(b) power to govern the financial and operating policies of the entity under a statute
or an agreement; (c) power to appoint or remove the majority of the members of
the board of directors or equivalent governing body and control of the entity is by
that board or body; or (d) power to cast the majority of votes at meetings of the
board of directors or equivalent governing body and control of the entity is by that
board or body. Control can also be achieved by having options or convertible
instruments that are currently exercisable or by having an agent with the ability to
direct the activities for the benefit of the controlling entity. A subsidiary is not
excluded from consolidation simply because the investor is a venture capital
organisation or similar entity. A subsidiary is not excluded from consolidation
because its business activities are dissimilar to those of the other entities within the
consolidation. Relevant information is provided by consolidating such subsidiaries
and disclosing additional information in the consolidated financial statements about
the different business activities of subsidiaries. A subsidiary is not excluded from
consolidation because it operates in a jurisdiction that imposes restrictions on
transferring cash or other assets out of the jurisdiction.
IFRS 10
Rights that give an investor power over an investee
Power arises from rights. To have power over an investee, an investor must have
existing rights that give the investor the current ability to direct the relevant
activities. The rights that may give an investor power can differ between investees.
Examples of rights that, either individually or in combination, can give an investor
power include but are not limited to:
(a) rights in the form of voting rights (or potential voting rights) of an investee (see
paragraphs B34–B50);
(b) rights to appoint, reassign or remove members of an investee’s key management
personnel who have the ability to direct the relevant activities
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5. For the purposes of points (a) and (d) of paragraph 1, the total of the
shareholders' or members' voting rights in the subsidiary undertaking
shall be reduced by the voting rights attaching to the shares held by
that undertaking itself, by a subsidiary undertaking of that undertaking
or by a person acting in his own name but on behalf of those
undertakings.
6. Without prejudice to Article 23(9), a parent undertaking and all of
its subsidiary undertakings shall be undertakings to be consolidated
regardless of where the registered offices of such subsidiary
undertakings are situated.
7. Without prejudice to this Article and Articles 21 and 23, a Member
State may require any undertaking governed by its national law to
draw up consolidated financial statements and a consolidated
management report if:
(a) that undertaking and one or more other undertakings to which it is
not related as described in paragraphs 1 or 2, are managed on a unified
basis in accordance with:
(i) a contract concluded with that undertaking, or
(ii) the memorandum or articles of association of those other
undertakings; or
b) the administrative, management or supervisory bodies of that
undertaking and of one or more other undertakings to which it is not
related, as described in paragraphs 1 or 2, consist in the majority of the
same persons in office during the financial year and until the
consolidated financial statements are drawn up.
8. Where the Member State option referred to in paragraph 7 is
exercised, the undertakings described in that paragraph and all of their
subsidiary undertakings shall be consolidated, where one or more of
those undertakings is established as one of the types of undertaking
listed in Annex I or Annex II.
9. Paragraph 6 of this Article, Article 23(1), (2), (9) and (10) and
Articles 24 to 29 shall apply to the consolidated financial statements
and the consolidated management report referred to in paragraph 7 of
this Article, subject to the following modifications:
(a) references to parent undertakings shall be understood to refer to all
of the undertakings specified in paragraph 7 of this Article; and
(b) without prejudice to Article 24(3), the items 'capital', 'share
premium account', 'revaluation reserve', 'reserves', 'profit or loss
brought forward', and 'profit or loss for the financial year' to be
included in the consolidated financial statements shall be the aggregate
amounts attributable to each of the undertakings specified in paragraph
7 of this Article.
Article 23. Exemptions from consolidation
1. Small groups shall be exempted from the obligation to draw up
consolidated financial statements and a consolidated management
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report, except where any affiliated undertaking is a public-interest
entity.
2. Member States may exempt medium-sized groups from the
obligation to draw up consolidated financial statements and a
consolidated management report, except where any affiliated
undertaking is a public-interest entity.
3. Notwithstanding paragraphs 1 and 2 of this Article, a Member State
shall, in the following cases, exempt from the obligation to draw up
consolidated financial statements and a consolidated management
report any parent undertaking (the exempted undertaking) governed by
its national law which is also a subsidiary undertaking, including a
public-interest entity unless that public-interest entity falls under point
(1)(a) of Article 2, the own parent undertaking of which is governed
by the law of a Member State and:
(a) the parent undertaking of the exempted undertaking holds all of the
shares in the exempted undertaking. The shares in the exempted
undertaking held by members of its administrative, management or
supervisory bodies pursuant to a legal obligation or an obligation in its
memorandum or articles of association shall be ignored for this
purpose; or
(b) the parent undertaking of the exempted undertaking holds 90 % or
more of the shares in the exempted undertaking and the remaining
shareholders in or members of the exempted undertaking have
approved the exemption.
4. The exemptions referred to in paragraph 3 shall fulfil all of the
following conditions:
(a) the exempted undertaking and, without prejudice to paragraph 9,
all of its subsidiary undertakings are consolidated in the financial
statements of a larger body of undertakings, the parent undertaking of
which is governed by the law of a Member State;
(b) the consolidated financial statements referred to in point (a) and
the consolidated management report of the larger body of undertakings
are drawn up by the parent undertaking of that body, in accordance
with the law of the Member State by which that parent undertaking is
governed, in accordance with this Directive or international
accounting standards adopted in accordance with Regulation (EC) No
1606/2002;
(c) in relation to the exempted undertaking the following documents
are published in the manner prescribed by the law of the Member State
by which that exempted undertaking is governed, in accordance with
Article 30:
(i) the consolidated financial statements referred to in point (a) and the
consolidated management report referred to in point (b),
(ii) the audit report, and
(iii) where appropriate, the appendix referred to in paragraph 6.
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IFRS 10
An investment entity shall not consolidate its subsidiaries when it obtains control
of another entity. Instead, an investment entity shall measure an investment in a
subsidiary at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9.
If an investment entity has a subsidiary that provides services that relate to the
investment entity’s investment activities (see paragraphs B85C–B85E), it shall
consolidate that subsidiary. A parent of an investment entity shall consolidate all
entities that it controls, including those controlled through an investment entity
subsidiary, unless the parent itself is an investment entity.
IFRS for SMEs.
A parent need not present consolidated financial statements if: (a) both of the
following conditions are met: (i) the parent is itself a subsidiary, and (ii) its ultimate
parent (or any intermediate parent) produces consolidated general purpose financial
statements that comply with full IFRSs or with this IFRS; or (b) it has no
subsidiaries other than one that was acquired with the intention of selling or
disposing of it within one year.
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That Member State may require that the documents referred to in
points (i), (ii) and (iii) be published in its official language and that the
translation be certified;
(d) the notes to the annual financial statements of the exempted
undertaking disclose the following:
(i) the name and registered office of the parent undertaking that draws
up the consolidated financial statements referred to in point (a), and
(ii) the exemption from the obligation to draw up consolidated
financial statements and a consolidated management report.
5. In cases not covered by paragraph 3, a Member State may, without
prejudice to paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 of this Article, exempt from the
obligation to draw up consolidated financial statements and a
consolidated management report any parent undertaking (the
exempted undertaking) governed by its national law which is also a
subsidiary undertaking, including a public-interest entity unless that
public-interest entity falls under point (1)(a) of Article 2, the parent
undertaking of which is governed by the law of a Member State,
provided that all the conditions set out in paragraph 4 are fulfilled and
provided further:
(a) that the shareholders in or members of the exempted undertaking
who own a minimum proportion of the subscribed capital of that
undertaking have not requested the preparation of consolidated
financial statements at least six months before the end of the financial
year;
(b) that the minimum proportion referred to in point (a) does not
exceed the following limits:
(i) 10 % of the subscribed capital in the case of public limited liability
companies and limited partnerships with share capital; and
(ii) 20 % of the subscribed capital in the case of under takings of other
types;
(c) that the Member State does not make the exemption subject to:
(i) the condition that the parent undertaking, which prepared the
consolidated financial statements referred to in point (a) of paragraph
4, is governed by the national law of the Member State granting the
exemption, or
(ii) conditions relating to the preparation and auditing of those
financial statements.
6. A Member State may make the exemptions provided for in
paragraphs 3 and 5 subject to the disclosure of additional information,
in accordance with this Directive, in the consolidated financial
statements referred to in point (a) of paragraph 4, or in an appendix
thereto, if that information is required of undertakings governed by the
national law of that Member State which are obliged to prepare
consolidated financial statements and are in the same circumstances.
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7. Paragraphs 3 to 6 shall apply without prejudice to Member State
legislation on the drawing-up of consolidated financial statements or
consolidated management reports in so far as those documents are
required:
(a) for the information of employees or their representatives; or
(b) by an administrative or judicial authority for its own purposes.
8. Without prejudice to paragraphs 1, 2, 3 and 5 of this Article, a
Member State which provides for exemptions under paragraphs 3 and
5 of this Article may also exempt from the obligation to draw up
consolidated financial statements and a consolidated management
report any parent undertaking (the exempted undertaking) governed by
its national law which is also a subsidiary undertaking, including a
public-interest entity unless that public-interest entity falls under point
(1)(a) of Article 2, the parent undertaking of which is not governed by
the law of a Member State, if all of the following conditions are
fulfilled:
(a) the exempted undertaking and, without prejudice to paragraph 9,
all of its subsidiary undertakings are consolidated in the financial
statements of a larger body of undertakings;
(b) the consolidated financial statements referred to in point(a) and,
where appropriate, the consolidated management report are drawn up:
(i) in accordance with this Directive,
(ii) in accordance with international accounting standards adopted
pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002,
(iii) in a manner equivalent to consolidated financial statements and
consolidated management reports drawn up in accordance with this
Directive, or
(iv) in a manner equivalent to international accounting standards as
determined in accordance with Commission Regulation (EC) No
1569/2007 of 21 December 2007 establishing a mechanism for the
determination of equivalence of accounting standards applied by third
country issuers of securities pursuant to Directives 2003/71/EC and
2004/109/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council;
(c) the consolidated financial statements referred to in point (a) have
been audited by one or more statutory auditor(s) or audit firm(s)
authorised to audit financial statements under the national law
governing the undertaking which drew up those statements. Points (c)
and (d) of paragraph 4 and paragraphs 5, 6 and 7 shall apply.
9. An undertaking, including a public-interest entity, need not be
included in consolidated financial statements where at least one of the
following conditions is fulfilled:
(a) in extremely rare cases where the information necessary for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with
this Directive cannot be obtained without disproportionate expense or
undue delay;
back article 22(6)

Georgian legislation

Conformity

Comments

NC

NA

Optional and not transposed.

NC

No similar provisions in the
national legislation.
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back article 26(2)
(b) the shares of that undertaking are held exclusively with a view to
their subsequent resale; or
(c) severe long-term restrictions substantially hinder:
(i) the parent undertaking in the exercise of its rights over the assets
or management of that undertaking; or
(ii) the exercise of unified management of that undertaking where it
is in one of the relationships defined in Article 22(7).
10. Without prejudice to point (b) of Article 6(1), Article 21 and
paragraphs 1 and 2 of this Article, any parent undertaking, including a
public-interest entity, shall be exempted from the obligation imposed
in Article 22 if:
back article 26(2)
(a) it only has subsidiary undertakings which are immaterial, both
individually and collectively; or
(b) all its subsidiary undertakings can be excluded from consolidation
by virtue of paragraph 9 of this Article.
Article 24. The preparation of consolidated financial statements
1. Chapters 2 and 3 shall apply in respect of consolidated financial
statements, taking into account the essential adjustments resulting
from the particular characteristics of consolidated financial statements
as compared to annual financial statements.
back article 26(2)

2. The assets and liabilities of undertakings included in a consolidation
shall be incorporated in full in the consolidated balance sheet.
3. The book values of shares in the capital of undertakings included in
a consolidation shall be set off against the proportion which they
represent of the capital and reserves of those undertakings in
accordance with the following:
(a) except in the case of shares in the capital of the parent undertaking
held either by that undertaking itself or by another undertaking
included in the consolidation, which shall be treated as own shares in
accordance with Chapter 3, that set-off shall be effected on the basis
of book values as they stand on the date on which those undertakings
are included in a consolidation for the first time. Differences arising
from that set-off shall, as far as possible, be entered directly against
those items in the consolidated balance sheet which have values above
or below their book values;
back art 3
(b) a Member State may permit or require set-offs on the basis of the
values of identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition
of the shares or, in the event of acquisition in two or more stages, as
at the date on which the undertaking became a subsidiary;

Georgian legislation

Law on accounting and auditing:

Conformity

Comments

NC

No similar provisions in the
national legislation.

PC

Implied

Article 3. Legal Framework for Accounting and Reporting
15.
Indicators of enterprise size categories and requirements set for
those shall apply to consolidated financial statements of the enterprises of the first,
second and third category. In addition, these criteria shall be assessed at the end of
the reporting period of the parent company with consideration of consolidated data.
IAS 1/IFRS 10

C

RELATES TO SECTION (A) IFRS 10

C

offset (eliminate) the carrying amount of the parent’s investment in each
subsidiary and the parent’s portion of equity of each subsidiary

No similar provisions in the
national legislation. Covered by
the accounting standards.
No similar provisions in the
national legislation. IFRS only
partially covers the issue.
Covered by the accounting
standards.
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(c) any difference remaining after the application of point (a) or
resulting from the application of point (b) shall be shown as goodwill
in the consolidated balance sheet;

RELATES TO SECTION (C) IFRS 3.
Recognising and measuring goodwill or a gain from a bargain purchase
The acquirer shall recognise goodwill as of the acquisition date measured as the
excess of (a) over (b) below:
(a) the aggregate of: (i) the consideration transferred measured in accordance
with this IFRS, which generally requires acquisition-date fair value (ii)
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquire measured in
accordance with this IFRS; and (iii) in a business combination achieved
in stages, the acquisition-date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree. (b) the net of the acquisition-date amounts
of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed measured
in accordance with this IFRS.

(d) the methods used to calculate the value of goodwill and any
significant changes in value in relation to the preceding financial year
shall be explained in the notes to the financial statements;

RELATES TO SECTIONS (D): The acquirer shall disclose the following
information for each business combination that occurs during the reporting period:
a qualitative description of the factors that make up the goodwill recognised, such
as expected synergies from combining operations of the acquiree and the acquirer,
intangible assets that do not qualify for separate recognition or other factors the
acquirer shall disclose the following information for each material business
combination or in the aggregate for individually immaterial business combinations
that are material collectively: a reconciliation of the carrying amount of goodwill
at the beginning and end of the reporting period showing separately: (i) the gross
amount and accumulated impairment losses at the beginning of the reporting
period. (ii) additional goodwill recognised during the reporting period, except
goodwill included in a disposal group that, on acquisition, meets the criteria to be
classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations. (iii) adjustments resulting from the subsequent
recognition of deferred tax assets during the reporting period. (iv) goodwill
included in a disposal group lassified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5
and goodwill derecognised during the reporting period without having previously
been included in a disposal group classified as held for sale. (v) impairment losses
recognised during the reporting period in accordance with IAS 36. (IAS 36 requires
disclosure of information about the recoverable amount and impairment of
goodwill in addition to this requirement.) (vi) net exchange rate differences arising
during the reporting period in accordance with IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in
Foreign Exchange Rates. (vii) any other changes in the carrying amount during the
reporting period.

(e) where the offsetting of positive and negative goodwill is
authorised by a Member State, the notes to the financial statements
shall include an analysis of the goodwill;
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Comments
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(f) negative goodwill may be transferred to the consolidated profit and
loss account where such a treatment is in accordance with the
principles set out in Chapter 2.
4. Where shares in subsidiary undertakings included in the
consolidation are held by persons other than those undertakings, the
amount attributable to those shares shall be shown separately in the
consolidated balance sheet as non-controlling interests.
5. The income and expenditure of undertakings included in a
consolidation shall be incorporated in full in the consolidated profit
and loss account.
6. The amount of any profit or loss attributable to the shares referred
to in paragraph 4 shall be shown separately in the consolidated profit
and loss account as the profit or loss attributable to non-controlling
interests.

Georgian legislation

Conformity

IFRS 10

C

IFRS 10 /IFRS for SMEs

C

A parent shall present non-controlling interests in the consolidated statement of
financial position within equity, separately from the equity of the owners of the
parent.
IFRS 10

C

IFRS 10.

C

Comments
No such provision in national
legislation. Covered by the
accounting standards.
Covered by the accounting
standards.

No such provision in national
legislation. Covered by the
accounting standards.
Covered by the accounting
standards.

An entity shall attribute the profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income to the owners of the parent and to the non-controlling
interests.
IFRS for SMEs.
An entity shall disclose non-controlling interest in the profit or loss of the group
separately in the statement of comprehensive income

7. Consolidated financial statements shall show the assets, liabilities,
financial positions, profits or losses of the undertakings included in a
consolidation as if they were a single undertaking. In particular, the
following shall be eliminated from the consolidated financial
statements:
(a) debts and claims between the undertakings;
back art 3
(b) income and expenditure relating to transactions between the
undertakings; and
(c) profits and losses resulting from transactions between the
undertakings, where they are included in the book values of assets.

IFRS 10
Consolidated financial statements:
(a) combine like items of assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows of the parent with those of its subsidiaries.
(b) offset (eliminate) the carrying amount of the parent’s investment in each
subsidiary and the parent’s portion of equity of each subsidiary.
(c) eliminate in full intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between entities of the group (profits or losses
resulting from intragroup transactions that are recognized in assets, such as
inventory and fixed assets, are eliminated in full). Intragroup losses may indicate
an impairment that requires recognition in the consolidated financial statements.

IFRS for SMEs:
Consolidated financial statements present financial information about the
group as a single economic entity. In preparing consolidated financial
statements, an entity shall:
(a) combine the financial statements of the parent and its subsidiaries line by
line by adding together like items of assets, liabilities, equity, income and
expenses;
(b) eliminate the carrying amount of the parent’s investment in each
subsidiary and the parent’s portion of equity of each subsidiary;

C

Covered by the accounting
standards.

Georgia, September 2017

DIRECTIVE 2013/34/EU

8. Consolidated financial statements shall be drawn up as at the same
date as the annual financial statements of the parent undertaking.

A Member State may, however, permit or require consolidated
financial statements to be drawn up as at another date in order to take
account of the balance sheet dates of the largest number or the most
important of the undertakings included in the consolidation, provided
that:
(a) that fact shall be disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements and reasons given;
(b) account shall be taken, or disclosure made, of important events
concerning the assets and liabilities, the financial position and the
profit or loss of an undertaking included in a consolidation which have
occurred between that under taking's balance sheet date and the
consolidated balance sheet date; and
(c) where an undertaking's balance sheet date precedes or follows the
consolidated balance sheet date by more than three months, that
undertaking shall be consolidated on the basis of interim financial
statements drawn up as at the consolidated balance sheet date.

9. If the composition of the undertakings included in a consolidation
has changed significantly in the course of a financial year, the
consolidated financial statements shall include information which
makes the comparison of successive sets of consolidated financial
statements meaningful. This obligation may be fulfilled by the
preparation of an adjusted comparative balance sheet and an adjusted
comparative profit and loss account.
10. Assets and liabilities included in consolidated financial statements
shall be measured on a uniform basis and in accordance with Chapter
2.

Georgian legislation
Intragroup balances and transactions, including income, expenses and dividends,
are eliminated in full. Profits and losses resulting from intragroup transactions
that are recognized in assets, such as inventory and property, plant and
equipment, are eliminated in full.
IFRS 10 Reporting date

Conformity

Comments

C

Covered by the accounting
standards.

C

No such provision in national
legislation. Covered by the
accounting standards.

C

Implicitly covered by the
accounting standards.

The financial statements of the parent and its subsidiaries used in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements shall have the same reporting date. When
the end of the reporting period of the parent is different from that of a subsidiary,
the subsidiary prepares, for consolidation purposes, additional financial
information as of the same date as the financial statements of the parent to enable
the parent to consolidate the financial information of the subsidiary, unless it is
impracticable to do so.
If it is impracticable to do so, the parent shall consolidate the financial information
of the subsidiary using the most recent financial statements of the subsidiary
adjusted for the effects of significant transactions or events that occur between the
date of those financial statements and the date of the consolidated financial
statements. In any case, the difference between the date of the subsidiary’s financial
statements and that of the consolidated financial statements shall be no more than
three months, and the length of the reporting periods and any difference between
the dates of the financial statements shall be the same from period to period.
IFRS for SMEs
The financial statements of the parent and its subsidiaries used in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements shall be prepared as of the same reporting
date unless it is impracticable to do so.
IFRS 10/IAS 1

IFRS 10.
Uniform accounting policies
If a member of the group uses accounting policies other than those adopted in the
consolidated financial statements for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances, appropriate adjustments are made to that group member’s financial
statements in preparing the consolidated financial statements to ensure conformity
with the group’s accounting policies.
IFRS for SMEs
Uniform accounting policies:
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11. An undertaking which draws up consolidated financial statements
shall apply the same measurement bases as are applied in its annual
financial statements.
However, Member States may permit or require that other
measurement bases in accordance with Chapter 2 be used in
consolidated financial statements. Where use is made of this
derogation, that fact shall be disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements and reasons given.

12. Where assets and liabilities included in consolidated financial
statements have been measured by undertakings included in the
consolidation using bases differing from those used for the purposes
of the consolidation, those assets and liabilities shall be re-measured
in accordance with the bases used for the consolidation. Departures
from this requirement shall be permitted in exceptional cases. Any
such departures shall be disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements and reasons given.

13. Deferred tax balances shall be recognised on consolidation
provided that it is probable that a charge to tax will arise within the
foreseeable future for one of the undertakings included in the
consolidation.

Georgian legislation
Consolidated financial statements shall be prepared using uniform accounting
policies for like transactions and other events and conditions in similar
circumstances. If a member of the group uses accounting policies other than those
adopted in the consolidated financial statements for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances, appropriate adjustments are made to its financial statements
in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
IFRS 10.
Uniform accounting policies
If a member of the group uses accounting policies other than those adopted in the
consolidated financial statements for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances, appropriate adjustments are made to that group member’s financial
statements in preparing the consolidated financial statements to ensure conformity
with the group’s accounting policies.

Conformity

IFRS for SMEs
Uniform accounting policies:
Consolidated financial statements shall be prepared using uniform accounting
policies for like transactions and other events and conditions in similar
circumstances. If a member of the group uses accounting policies other than those
adopted in the consolidated financial statements for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances, appropriate adjustments are made to its financial statements
in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
IFRS 10.
Uniform accounting policies
If a member of the group uses accounting policies other than those adopted in the
consolidated financial statements for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances, appropriate adjustments are made to that group member’s financial
statements in preparing the consolidated financial statements to ensure conformity
with the group’s accounting policies.
IFRS for SMEs
Uniform accounting policies:
Consolidated financial statements shall be prepared using uniform accounting
policies for like transactions and other events and conditions in similar
circumstances. If a member of the group uses accounting policies other than those
adopted in the consolidated financial statements for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances, appropriate adjustments are made to its financial statements
in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
IFRS 12
An entity shall recognise a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, branches and associates,
and interests in joint arrangements, except to the extent that both of the following
conditions are satisfied:

C

Comments

C

Implicitly.

C

Implicitly.
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(a) the parent, investor, joint venturer or joint operator is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference; and (b) it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

14. Where assets included in consolidated financial statements have
been the subject of value adjustments solely for tax purposes, they
shall be incorporated in the consolidated financial statements only
after those adjustments have been eliminated.
Article 25. Business combinations within a group

IFRS 3

Conformity

Comments

NA

No such provision in IFRS/IFRS
for SMEs

C

No similar provisions in the
national legislation. Covered by
the accounting standards.

1. A Member State may permit or require the book values of shares
held in the capital of an undertaking included in the consolidation to
be set off against the corresponding percentage of capital only,
provided that the undertakings in the business combination are
ultimately controlled by the same party both before and after the
business combination, and that control is not transitory.
2. Any difference arising under paragraph 1 shall be added to or
deducted from consolidated reserves, as appropriate.
3. The application of the method described in paragraph 1, the
resulting movement in reserves and the names and registered offices
of the undertakings concerned shall be disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.
Article 26. Proportional consolidation

NA

Optional and not transposed.

PC

No similar provisions in the
national legislation. IFRS does
not fully correspond.

1. Where an undertaking included in a consolidation manages another
undertaking jointly with one or more undertakings not included in that
consolidation, Member States may permit or require the inclusion of
that other undertaking in the consolidated financial statements in
proportion to the rights in its capital held by the undertaking included
in the consolidation.
2. Article 23(9) and (10) and Article 24 shall apply mutatis mutandis
to the proportional consolidation referred to in paragraph 1 of this
Article.
Article 27. Equity accounting of associated undertakings
back article 9(7)
1. Where an undertaking included in a consolidation has an associated
undertaking, that associated undertaking shall be shown in the
consolidated balance sheet as a separate item with an appropriate
heading.

IAS 28
Equity Method:
Under the equity method, on initial recognition the investment in an associate or a
joint venture is recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or
decreased to recognise the investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee after
the date of acquisition. The investor’s share of the investee’s profit or loss is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss. Distributions received from an investee
reduce the carrying amount of the investment. Adjustments to the carrying amount
may also be necessary for changes in the investor’s proportionate interest in the
investee arising from changes in the investee’s other comprehensive income. Such
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2. When this Article is applied for the first time to an associated
undertaking, that associated undertaking shall be shown in the
consolidated balance sheet either:
(a) at its book value calculated in accordance with the measurement
rules laid down in Chapters 2 and 3. The difference between that value
and the amount corresponding to the proportion of capital and reserves
represented by the participating interest in that associated undertaking
shall be disclosed separately in the consolidated balance sheet or in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements. That difference shall be
calculated as at the date on which that method is used for the first time;
or
(b) at an amount corresponding to the proportion of the associated
undertaking's capital and reserves represented by the participating
interest in that associated undertaking. The difference between that
amount and the book value calculated in accordance with the
measurement rules laid down in Chapters 2 and 3 shall be disclosed
separately in the consolidated balance sheet or in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. That difference shall be calculated
as at the date on which that method is used for the first time.
A Member State may prescribe the application of one or other of the
options provided for in points (a) and (b). In such cases, the
consolidated balance sheet or the notes to the consolidated financial
statements shall indicate which of those options has been used.
In addition, for the purposes of points (a) and (b), a Member State may
permit or require the calculation of the difference as at the date of
acquisition of the shares or, where they were acquired in two or more
stages, as at the date on which the undertaking became an associated
undertaking.
3. Where an associated undertaking's assets or liabilities have been
valued by methods other than those used for consolidation in
accordance with Article 24(11), they may, for the purpose of
calculating the difference referred to in points (a) and (b) of paragraph
2, be revalued by the methods used for consolidation.
Where such revaluation has not been carried out, that fact shall be
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
A Member State may require such revaluation.
4. The book value referred to in point (a) of paragraph 2, or the amount
corresponding to the proportion of the associated undertaking's capital
and reserves referred to in point (b) of paragraph 2, shall be increased
or reduced by the amount of any variation which has taken place
during the financial year in the proportion of the associated
undertaking's capital and reserves represented by that participating
interest; it shall be reduced by the amount of the dividends relating to
that participating interest.

Georgian legislation
changes include those arising from the revaluation of property, plant and equipment
and from foreign exchange translation differences. The investor’s share of those
changes is recognised in the investor’s other comprehensive income (see IAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements).
The recognition of income on the basis of distributions received may not be an
adequate measure of the income earned by an investor on an investment in an
associate or a joint venture because the distributions received may bear little
relation to the performance of the associate or joint venture. Because the investor
has joint control of, or significant influence over, the investee, the investor has an
interest in the associate’s or joint venture’s performance and, as a result, the return
on its investment. The investor accounts for this interest by extending the scope of
its financial statements to include its share of the profit or loss of such an investee.
As a result, application of the equity method provides more informative reporting
of the investor’s net assets and profit or loss. hen potential voting rights or other
derivatives containing potential voting rights exist, an entity’s interest in an
associate or a joint venture is determined solely on the basis of existing ownership
interests and does not reflect the possible exercise or conversion of potential voting
rights and other derivative instruments, unless paragraph 13 applies. In some
circumstances, an entity has, in substance, an existing ownership as a result of a
transaction that currently gives it access to the returns associated with an ownership
interest. In such circumstances, the proportion allocated to the entity is determined
by taking into account the eventual exercise of those potential voting rights and
other derivative instruments that currently give the entity access to the returns.
An entity need not apply the equity method to its investment in an associate or a
joint venture if the entity is a parent that is exempt from preparing consolidated
financial statements by the scope exception in paragraph 4(a) of IFRS 10 or if all
the following apply:
(a) The entity is a wholly-owned subsidiary, or is a partially-owned subsidiary of
another entity and its other owners, including those not otherwise entitled to vote,
have been informed about, and do not object to, the entity not applying the equity
method.
(b) The entity’s debt or equity instruments are not traded in a public market (a
domestic or foreign stock exchange or an over-the-counter market, including local
and regional markets).
(c) The entity did not file, nor is it in the process of filing, its financial statements
with a securities commission or other regulatory organisation, for the purpose of
issuing any class of instruments in a public market.
(d) The ultimate or any intermediate parent of the entity produces consolidated
financial statements available for public use that comply with IFRSs.
Many of the procedures that are appropriate for the application of the equity method
are similar to the consolidation procedures described in IFRS 10. Furthermore, the
concepts underlying the procedures used in accounting for the acquisition of a
subsidiary are also adopted in accounting for the acquisition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture. 27 A group’s share in an associate or a joint venture is
the aggregate of the holdings in that associate or joint venture by the parent and its
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back art 3
5. In so far as the positive difference referred to in points (a) and (b)
of paragraph 2 cannot be related to any category of assets or liabilities,
it shall be treated in accordance with the rules applicable to the item
'goodwill' as set out in point (d) of Article 12(6), the first subparagraph
of Article 12(11), point (c) of Article 24(3), and Annex III and Annex
IV.
6. The proportion of the profit or loss of the associated undertakings
attributable to the participating interests in such associated
undertakings shall be shown in the consolidated profit and loss account
as a separate item under an appropriate heading.
7. The eliminations referred to in Article 24(7) shall be effected in so
far as the facts are known or can be ascertained.
8. Where an associated undertaking draws up consolidated financial
statements, paragraphs 1 to 7 shall apply to the capital and reserves
shown in such consolidated financial statements.
9. This Article need not be applied where the participating interest in
the capital of the associated undertaking is not material.
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subsidiaries. The holdings of the group’s other associates or joint ventures are
ignored for this purpose. When an associate or a joint venture has subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures, the profit or loss, other comprehensive income and net
assets taken into account in applying the equity method are those recognised in the
associate’s or joint venture’s financial statements (including the associate’s or joint
venture’s share of the profit or loss, other comprehensive income and net assets of
its associates and joint ventures), after any adjustments necessary to give effect to
uniform accounting policies. Gains and losses resulting from ‘upstream’ and
‘downstream’ transactions between an entity (including its consolidated
subsidiaries) and its associate or joint venture are recognised in the entity’s
financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the
associate or joint venture. ‘Upstream’ transactions are, for example, sales of assets
from an associate or a joint venture to the investor. ‘Downstream’ transactions are,
for example, sales or contributions of assets from the investor to its associate or its
joint venture. The investor’s share in the associate’s or joint venture’s gains or
losses resulting from these transactions is eliminated. When downstream
transactions provide evidence of a reduction in the net realisable value of the assets
to be sold or contributed, or of an impairment loss of those assets, those losses shall
be recognised in full by the investor. When upstream transactions provide evidence
of a reduction in the net realisable value of the assets to be purchased or of an
impairment loss of those assets, the investor shall recognise its share in those losses.
The contribution of a non-monetary asset to an associate or a joint venture in
exchange for an equity interest in the associate or joint venture shall be accounted
for in accordance with paragraph 28, except when the contribution lacks
commercial substance, as that term is described in IAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment. If such a contribution lacks commercial substance, the gain or loss is
regarded as unrealised and is not recognized. Such unrealised gains and losses shall
be eliminated against the investment accounted for using the equity method and
shall not be presented as deferred gains or losses in the entity’s consolidated
statement of financial position or in the entity’s statement of financial position in
which investments are accounted for using the equity method. If, in addition to
receiving an equity interest in an associate or a joint venture, an entity receives
monetary or non-monetary assets, the entity recognises in full in profit or loss the
portion of the gain or loss on the non-monetary contribution relating to the
monetary or non-monetary assets received. An investment is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which it becomes an associate or a joint venture.
On acquisition of the investment, any difference between the cost of the investment
and the entity’s share of the net fair value of the investee’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is accounted for as follows:
(a) Goodwill relating to an associate or a joint venture is included in the carrying
amount of the investment. Amortisation of that goodwill is not permitted.
(b) Any excess of the entity’s share of the net fair value of the investee’s identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment is included as income in the
determination of the entity’s share of the associate or joint venture’s profit or loss
in the period in which the
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investment is acquired. Appropriate adjustments to the entity’s share of the
associate’s or joint venture’s profit or loss after acquisition re made in order to
account, for example, for depreciation of the depreciable assets based on their fair
values at the acquisition date. Similarly, appropriate adjustments to the entity’s
share of the associate’s or joint venture’s profit or loss after acquisition are made
for impairment losses such as for goodwill or property, plant and equipment.
33 The most recent available financial statements of the associate or joint venture
are used by the entity in applying the equity method. When the end of the reporting
period of the entity is different from that of the associate or joint venture, the
associate or joint venture prepares, for the use of the entity, financial statements as
of the same date as the financial statements of the entity unless it is impracticable
to do so. When, in accordance with paragraph 33, the financial statements of an
associate or a joint venture used in applying the equity method are prepared as of a
date different from that used by the entity, adjustments shall be made for the effects
of significant transactions or events that occur between that date and the date of the
entity’s financial statements. In any case, the difference between the end of the
reporting period of the associate or joint venture and that of the entity shall be no
more than three months. The length of the reporting periods and any difference
between the ends of the reporting periods shall be the same from period to period.
The entity’s financial statements shall be prepared using uniform accounting
policies for like transactions and events in similar circumstances. If an associate or
a joint venture uses accounting policies other than those of the entity for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances, adjustments shall be made to
make the associate’s or joint venture’s accounting policies conform to those of the
entity when the associate’s or joint venture’s financial statements are used by the
entity in applying the equity method. If an associate or a joint venture has
outstanding cumulative preference shares that are held by parties other than the
entity and are classified as equity, the entity computes its share of profit or loss
after adjusting for the dividends on such shares, whether or not the dividends have
been declared If an entity’s share of losses of an associate or a joint venture equals
or exceeds its interest in the associate or joint venture, the entity discontinues
recognizing its share of further losses. The interest in an associate or a joint venture
is the carrying amount of the investment in the associate or joint venture determined
using the equity method together with any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the entity’s net investment in the associate or joint venture. For
example, an item for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the
foreseeable future is, in substance, an extension of the entity’s investment in that
associate or joint venture. Such items may include preference shares and long-term
receivables or loans, but do not include trade receivables, trade payables or any
long-term receivables for which adequate collateral exists, such as secured loans.
Losses recognised using the equity method in excess of the entity’s investment in
ordinary shares are applied to the other components of the entity’s interest in an
associate or a joint venture in the reverse order of their seniority (ie priority in
liquidation). After the entity’s interest is reduced to zero, additional losses are
provided for, and a liability is recognised, only to the extent that the entity has
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incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate or joint venture. If the associate or joint venture subsequently reports
profits, the entity resumes recognising its share of those profits only after its share
of the profits equals the share of losses not recognized.
IFRS for SMEs:
Under the equity method of accounting, an equity investment is initially recognised
at the transaction price (including transaction costs) and is subsequently adjusted
to reflect the investor’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate. (a) Distributions and other adjustments to carrying amount.
Distributions received from the associate reduce the carrying amount of the
investment. Adjustments to the carrying amount may also be required as a
consequence of changes in the associate’s equity arising from items of other
comprehensive income. (b) Potential voting rights. Although potential voting rights
are considered in deciding whether significant influence exists, an investor shall
measure its share of profit or loss of the associate and its share of changes in the
associate’s equity on the basis of present ownership interests. Those measurements
shall not reflect the possible exercise or conversion of potential voting rights.
(c) Implicit goodwill and fair value adjustments. On acquisition of the investment
in an associate, an investor shall account for any difference (whether positive or
negative) between the cost of acquisition and the investor’s share of the fair values
of the net identifiable assets of the associate. An investor shall adjust its share of
the associate’s profits or losses after acquisition to account for additional
depreciation or amortisation of the associate’s depreciable or amortizable assets
(including goodwill) on the basis of the excess of their fair values over their
carrying amounts at the time the investment was acquired. (d) Impairment. If there
is an indication that an investment in an associate may be impaired, an investor
shall test the entire carrying amount of the investment for impairment in accordance
with Section 27 as a single asset. Any goodwill included as part of the carrying
amount of the investment in the associate is not tested separately for impairment
but, rather, as part of the test for impairment of the investment as a whole. (e)
Investor’s transactions with associates. If an associate is accounted for using the
equity method, the investor shall eliminate unrealised profits and losses resulting
from upstream (associate to investor) and downstream (investor to associate)
transactions to the extent of the investor’s interest in the associate. Unrealised
losses on such transactions may provide evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred.
(f) Date of associate’s financial statements. In applying the equity method, the
investor shall use the financial statements of the associate as of the same date as the
financial statements of the investor unless it is impracticable to do so. If it is
impracticable, the investor shall use the most recent available financial statements
of the associate, with adjustments made for the effects of any significant
transactions or events occurring between the accounting period ends.
(g) Associate’s accounting policies. If the associate uses accounting policies that
differ from those of the investor, the investor shall adjust the associate’s financial

Conformity

Comments
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Article 28. The notes to the consolidated financial statements
1. The notes to the consolidated financial statements shall set out the
information required by Articles 16, 17 and 18, in addition to any other
information required under other provisions of this Directive, in a way
which facilitates the assessment of the financial position of the
undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, taking
account of the essential adjustments resulting from the particular
characteristics of consolidated financial statements as compared to
annual financial statements, including the following:
(a) in disclosing transactions between related parties, transactions
between related parties included in a consolidation that are eliminated
on consolidation shall not be included;
(b) in disclosing the average number of employees employed during
the financial year, there shall be separate disclosure of the average
number of employees employed by undertakings that are
proportionately consolidated; and
(c) in disclosing the amounts of emoluments and advances and credits
granted to members of the administrative, managerial and supervisory
bodies, only amounts granted by the parent undertaking and its
subsidiary undertakings to members of the administrative, managerial
and supervisory bodies of the parent undertaking shall be disclosed.
2. The notes to the consolidated financial statements shall, in addition
to the information required under paragraph 1, set out the following
information:
(a) in relation to undertakings included in the consolidation:
(i) the names and registered offices of those undertakings,
(ii) the proportion of the capital held in those undertakings, other than
the parent undertaking, by the undertakings included in the
consolidation or by persons acting in their own names but on behalf of
those undertakings, and
(iii) information as to which of the conditions referred to in Article
22(1), (2) and (7) following the application of Article 22(3), (4) and
(5) has formed the basis on which the consolidation has been carried
out. That disclosure may, however, be omitted where consolidation has

Georgian legislation
statements to reflect the investor’s accounting policies for the purpose of applying
the equity method unless it is impracticable to do so. (h) Losses in excess of
investment. If an investor’s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds the
carrying amount of its investment in the associate, the investor shall discontinue
recognising its share of further losses. After the investor’s interest is reduced to
zero, the investor shall recognize additional losses by a provision (see Section 21
Provisions and Contingencies) only to the extent that the investor has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or has made payments on behalf of the associate. If the
associate subsequently reports profits, the investor shall resume recognising its
share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not
recognised.
IAS1/IFRS 10

IAS 1/IFRS 10

Conformity

Comments

C

No similar provisions in the
national legislation. Covered by
the accounting standards.

NC

No similar provisions in the
national legislation.

C

No similar provisions in the
national legislation. Covered by
the accounting standards.

NC

No similar provisions in the
national legislation.
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been carried out on the basis of point (a) of Article 22(1) and where
the proportion of the capital and the proportion of the voting rights
held are the same.
The same information shall be given in respect of undertakings
excluded from a consolidation on the grounds of immateriality
pursuant to point (j) of Article 6(1) and Article 23(10), and an
explanation shall be given for the exclusion of the undertakings
referred to in Article 23(9);
(b) the names and registered offices of associated undertakings
included in the consolidation as described in Article 27(1) and the
proportion of their capital held by undertakings included in the
consolidation or by persons acting in their own names but on behalf of
those undertakings;
(c) the names and registered offices of undertakings proportionally
consolidated under Article 26, the factors on which joint management
of those undertakings is based, and the proportion of their capital held
by the undertakings included in the consolidation or by persons acting
in their own names but on behalf of those undertakings; and
(d) in relation to each of the undertakings, other than those referred to
in points (a), (b) and (c), in which undertakings included in the
consolidation, either themselves or through persons acting in their own
names but on behalf of those undertakings, hold a participating
interest:
(i) the name and registered office of those undertakings,
(ii) the proportion of the capital held,
(iii) the amount of the capital and reserves, and the profit or loss for
the latest financial year of the undertaking concerned for which
financial statements have been adopted.
The information concerning capital and reserves and the profit or loss
may also be omitted where the undertaking concerned does not publish
its balance sheet.
3. Member States may allow the information required by points (a) to
(d) of paragraph 2 to take the form of a statement filed in accordance
with Article 3(3) of Directive 2009/101/EC. The filing of such a
statement shall be disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
Member States may also allow that information to be omitted when
its nature is such that its disclosure would be seriously prejudicial to
any of the undertakings to which it relates.

Georgian legislation

Conformity

Comments

NC

No similar provisions in the
national legislation.

NC

No similar provisions in the
national legislation.

NA

Member States may make such omissions subject to prior
administrative or judicial authorisation. Any such omission shall be
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
Article 29. The consolidated management report

Law on accounting and auditing:
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Optional and not transposed.
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1. The consolidated management report shall, as a minimum, in
addition to any other information required under other provisions of
this Directive, set out the information required by Articles 19 and 20,
taking account of the essential adjustments resulting from the
particular characteristics of a consolidated management report as
compared to a management report in a way which facilitates the
assessment of the position of the undertakings included in the
consolidation taken as a whole.
2. The following adjustments to the information required by Articles
19 and 20 shall apply:
(a) in reporting details of own shares acquired, the consolidated
management report shall indicate the number and nominal value or, in
the absence of a nominal value, the accounting par value of all of the
parent undertaking's shares held by that parent undertaking, by
subsidiary undertakings of that parent undertaking or by a person
acting in his own name but on behalf of any of those undertakings.

Georgian legislation
Article 9 – Filing and Publishing Financial Statements

Conformity

Comments

2.
An entity, other than non-entrepreneurial (non-profit) legal
entity, shall file financial statements (including consolidated ones) specified under
this Law, management report (including consolidated one), report on payments to
government and audit opinion, in cases specified under the present Law,
immediately, though no later than the October 1 of the year following the reporting
period to the Service in accordance with established rules.
NC

No similar provisions in the
domestic legislation.

A Member State may permit or require the disclosure of those
particulars in the notes to the consolidated financial statements;
(b) in reporting on internal control and risk management systems, the
corporate governance statement shall refer to the main features of the
internal controls and risk management systems for the undertakings
included in the consolidation, taken as a whole.
3. Where a consolidated management report is required in addition to
the management report, the two reports may be presented as a single
report.
CHAPTER 7. PUBLICATION
Article 30. General publication requirement
1. Member States shall ensure that undertakings publish within a
reasonable period of time, which shall not exceed 12 months after the
balance sheet date, the duly approved annual financial statements and
the management report, together with the opinion submitted by the
statutory auditor or audit firm referred to in Article 34 of this Directive,
as laid down by the laws of each Member State in accordance with
Chapter 2 of Directive 2009/101/EC.
Member States may, however, exempt undertakings from the
obligation to publish the management report where a copy of all or part
of any such report can be easily obtained upon request at a price not
exceeding its administrative cost.

NC

NA

Law on accounting and auditing:
Article 9 – Filing and Publishing Financial Statements
1.
The Service shall ensure development and management of a
webpage for placement of entities’ consolidated statements, as well as access of
users to it.
2.
An entity, other than non-entrepreneurial (non-profit) legal
entity, shall file financial statements (including consolidated one) specified under
this Law, management report (including consolidated one), statement on
payments made to the state and audit opinion, in cases established under the
present Law, immediately, though no later than the October 1 of the year
following the reporting period to the Service in accordance with its rules.
3.
The Service shall publish financial statements (including
consolidated statements) submitted by entities (except for statements of the fourth
category enterprises) and audit opinions within a month following the filing. The
Service shall ensure random, risk-based verification of compliance of filed
financial statements with this Law and normative acts adopted on its basis. In

C

No similar provisions in the
domestic legislation.

Optional and not transposed.
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2. Member States may exempt an undertaking referred to in Annex II
to which the coordination measures prescribed by this Directive apply
by virtue of point (b) of Article 1(1) from publishing its financial
statements in accordance with Article 3 of Directive 2009/101/EC,
provided that those financial statements are available to the public at
its head office, in the following cases:
(a) all the members of the undertaking concerned that have unlimited
liability are undertakings referred to in Annex I governed by the laws
of Member States other than the Member State whose law governs that
undertaking, and none of those undertakings publishes the financial
statements of the undertaking concerned with its own financial
statements;
(b) all the members of the undertaking concerned that have unlimited
liability are undertakings which are not governed by the laws of a
Member State but which have a legal form comparable to those
referred to in Directive 2009/101/EC.
Copies of the financial statements shall be obtainable upon request.
The price of such a copy may not exceed its administrative cost.

Georgian legislation
cases provided for in this paragraph the Service shall be entitled to request from
the entity correction of deficiencies.
4.
If reporting period of an entity does not coincide with a
calendar year it shall file the statements to the Service immediately after they are
available, though within 9 months following the reporting period end.
5.
PIEs shall publish statements (including consolidated ones)
provided for in Paragraph 2 of this Article at their webpages as well.
6.
An entity shall submit an interim financial statements to
regulatory /oversight body in cases defined by such regulatory/ oversight body.
The procedure for submission of interim financial statements to regulatory
/oversight body shall be defined under the respective regulatory legislation.
7.
The Service shall be entitled to set procedure for submission
of financial statements by enterprises of the third category in a simplified form
with consideration of the EU Directive requirements.

Conformity

NA

Law on accounting and auditing:

C

Article 9 – Filing and Publishing Financial Statements
3.
The Service shall publish financial statements (including
consolidated statements) submitted by entities (except for statements of the fourth
category enterprises) and audit opinions within a month following the filing.
3. Paragraph 1 shall apply with respect to consolidated financial
statements and consolidated management reports.

Law on accounting and auditing:
Article 9 – Filing and Publishing Financial Statements
1.
The Service shall ensure development and management of a
webpage for placement of entities’ consolidated statements, as well as access of
users to it.
2.
An entity, other than non-entrepreneurial (non-profit) legal
entity, shall file financial statements (including consolidated one) specified under

C

Comments

Optional and not transposed.
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Where the undertaking drawing up the consolidated financial
statements is established as one of the types of undertaking listed in
Annex II and is not required by the national law of its Member State
to publish the documents referred to in paragraph 1 in the same manner
as prescribed in Article 3 of Directive 2009/101/EC, it shall, as a
minimum, make those documents available to the public at its head
office and a copy shall be provided upon request, the price of which
shall not exceed its administrative cost.
Article 31. Simplifications for small and medium-sized undertakings
1. Member States may exempt small undertakings from the
obligation to publish their profit and loss accounts and management
reports.

2. Member States may permit medium-sized undertakings to
publish:
(a) abridged balance sheets showing only those items preceded by
letters and roman numerals in Annexes III and IV and disclosing
separately, either in the balance sheet or in the notes to the financial
statements:
(i) C (I) (3), C (II) (1), (2), (3) and (4), C (III) (1), (2), (3) and (4), D
(II) (2), (3) and (6) and D (III) (1) and (2) under 'Assets' and C, (1),
(2), (6), (7) and (9) under 'Capital, reserves and liabilities' in Annex
III,
(ii) C (I) (3), C (II) (1), (2), (3) and (4), C (III) (1), (2), (3) and (4), D
(II) (2), (3) and (6), D (III) (1) and (2), F (1), (2), (6), (7) and (9) and
(I) (1), (2), (6), (7) and (9) in Annex IV,
(iii) the information required as indicated in brackets in D (II) under
'Assets' and C under 'Capital, reserves and liabilities' in Annex III, in
total for all the items concerned and separately for D (II) (2) and (3)
under 'Assets' and C (1), (2), (6), (7) and (9) under 'Capital, reserves
and liabilities',
(iv) the information required as indicated in brackets in D (II) in Annex
IV, in total for all the items concerned, and separately for D (II) (2)
and (3);
(b) abridged notes to their financial statements without the information
required in points (f) and (j) of Article 17(1).
This paragraph shall be without prejudice to Article 30(1), in so far as
that Article relates to the profit and loss account, the management
report and the opinion of the statutory auditor or audit firm.

Georgian legislation
this Law, management report (including consolidated one), statement on
payments made to the state and audit opinion, in cases established under the
present Law, immediately, though no later than the October 1 of the year
following the reporting period to the Service in accordance with its rules.

Conformity

NA

Law on accounting and auditing:

Comments

Optional and not transposed.

C

Article 9 – Filing and Publishing Financial Statements
7.
The Service shall be entitled to set procedure for submission of
financial statements by enterprises of the third category in a simplified form with
consideration of the EU Directive requirements.
NA

Optional

NA

Optional

NA

Optional

NA

Optional

NA
NA

Optional and not transposed.
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Article 32. Other publication requirements
1. Where the annual financial statements and the management report
are published in full, they shall be reproduced in the form and text on
the basis of which the statutory auditor or audit firm has drawn up
his/her/its opinion. They shall be accompanied by the full text of the
audit report.
2. If the annual financial statements are not published in full, the
abridged version of those financial statements, which shall not be
accompanied by the audit report, shall:
(a) indicate that the version published is abridged;
(b) refer to the register in which the financial statements have been
filed in accordance with Article 3 of Directive 2009/101/EC or, where
the financial statements have not yet been filed, disclose that fact;
(c) disclose whether an unqualified, qualified or adverse audit opinion
was expressed by the statutory auditor or audit firm, or whether the
statutory auditor or audit firm was unable to express an audit opinion;
(d) disclose whether the audit report included a reference to any
matters to which the statutory auditor or audit firm drew attention by
way of emphasis without qualifying the audit opinion.
Article 33. Responsibility and liability for drawing up and publishing
the financial statements and the management report
1. Member States shall ensure that the members of the administrative,
management and supervisory bodies of an undertaking, acting within
the competences assigned to them by national law, have collective
responsibility for ensuring that:
(a) the annual financial statements, the management report and, when
provided separately, the corporate governance statement; and
(b) the consolidated financial statements, consolidated management
reports and, when provided separately, the consolidated corporate
governance statement,
are drawn up and published in accordance with the requirements of
this Directive and, where applicable, with the international accounting
standards adopted in accordance with Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002.

Georgian legislation
Law on accounting and auditing:

2. Member States shall ensure that their laws, regulations and
administrative provisions on liability, at least towards the undertaking,
apply to the members of the administrative, management and
supervisory bodies of the undertakings for breach of the duties referred
to in paragraph 1.

ELoG:

Conformity

C

Comments
Implied.

Article 9 – Filing and Publishing Financial Statements
3.
The Service shall publish financial statements (including
consolidated statements) submitted by entities (except for statements of the fourth
category enterprises) and audit opinions within a month following the filing…
NC

ELoG:

N/A Statements are published in
full

C

Article 13. Accounting, Reporting and Auditing
4. Members of entity’s management and supervisory board shall jointly
be liable for preparation of financial statements and their submission in
accordance with the Law of Georgia on Accounting, Reporting and Auditing.

Article 13. Accounting, Reporting and Auditing
4. Members of entity’s management and supervisory board shall jointly
be liable for preparation of financial statements and their submission in
accordance with the Law of Georgia on Accounting, Reporting and Auditing.
Law on accounting and auditing:
Article 4. Accounting
17.
Preparers and signatories shall be held liable for accuracy of
information reflected in documents, as well as for prompt and quality preparation
of accounting documents.

PC

Liability of members of the
administrative, management and
supervisory bodies of the
undertakings are not directly
listed.
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Article 26. Responsibilities of Entities

Conformity

1.
Failure to meet requirements for accounting and preparation/
consolidation of financial statements provided for in Article 3(8) of this Law and
requirements envisaged under Article 7, Article 8, Article 9 (paragraphs 2 and 4)
and Article 16 (paragraph 11) or/and evasion of audit shall entail:
a) penalizing fourth category enterprises by GEL 500
b) penalizing third category enterprises by GEL 1,000
c) penalizing second category enterprises by GEL 5,000
d) penalizing first category enterprises and PIE by GEL 10,000.
CHAPTER 8. AUDITING
Article 34. General requirement
1. Member States shall ensure that the financial statements of publicinterest entities, medium-sized and large undertakings are audited by
one or more statutory auditors or audit firms approved by Member
States to carry out statutory audits on the basis of Directive
2006/43/EC.
The statutory auditor(s) or audit firm(s) shall also:
(a) express an opinion on:
(i) whether the management report is consistent with the financial
statements for the same financial year, and
(ii) whether the management report has been prepared in accordance
with the applicable legal requirements;
back article 20(3)

(b) state whether, in the light of the knowledge and understanding of
the undertaking and its environment obtained in the course of the audit,
he, she or it has identified material misstatements in the
management report, and shall give an indication of the nature of any
such misstatements.

Law on accounting and auditing:

C

Article 6 Audit Requirement for Financial Statements
1. PIEs, first and second category enterprises are obliged to have audit
of their financial statements done in accordance with the procedure specified
under Article 15 of this Law unless provided otherwise in the respective
regulatory normative acts.
2. For enterprises subject to regulation/ supervision by regulatory/
supervision body, audit or /and other assurance engagement requirements with
respect to interim financial statements shall be set by the regulatory legislation of
the respective field.
3. The third and fourth category enterprises and non-entrepreneurial
(non-profit) legal entities shall be exempt of the obligation to have audit of
financial statements done, unless provided otherwise in the legislation.
4. Paragraph 1 of this article shall also apply to that entity which is a
subsidiary of the Group.
Article 7 – Management Report
10. PIE and enterprises of the first and second categories shall provide
the management report to an Auditor/ Audit Firm. Auditor/ Audit Firm according
to Paragraph 6 and Paragraph 7 ((c) and (g)) of this Article will express its
opinion on management report, its compliance with regulatory normative acts and
correspondence with the financial statements of the same reporting period, as well
as about material inaccuracies and their substance. Auditor/ Audit Firm shall
check whether the report includes the information provided for in Paragraph 7 (a,
b and d – f) and Paragraph 8 of this Article.
Law on accounting and auditing:
Article 7 – Management Report
10. PIE and enterprises of the first and second categories shall provide
the management report to an Auditor/ Audit Firm. Auditor/ Audit Firm according
to Paragraph 6 and Paragraph 7 ((c) and (g)) of this Article will express its
opinion on management report, its compliance with regulatory normative acts and

C

Comments
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2. The first subparagraph of paragraph 1 shall apply mutatis mutandis
with respect to consolidated financial statements. The second
subparagraph of paragraph 1 shall apply mutatis mutandis with respect
to consolidated financial statements and consolidated management
reports.

Georgian legislation
correspondence with the financial statements of the same reporting period, as well
as about material inaccuracies and their substance. Auditor/ Audit Firm shall
check whether the report includes the information provided for in Paragraph 7 (a,
b and d – f) and Paragraph 8 of this Article.
Law on accounting and auditing:
Article 9 – Filing and Publishing Financial Statements
2.
An entity, other than non-entrepreneurial (non-profit) legal
entity, shall file financial statements (including consolidated one) specified under
this Law, management report (including consolidated one), statement on payments
made to the state and audit opinion, in cases established under the present Law,
immediately, though no later than the October 1 of the year following the reporting
period to the Service in accordance with its rules.

Conformity

C

Comments

Georgia, September 2017

Article 35. Amendment of Directive 2006/43/EC as regards the audit
report
Article 28 of Directive 2006/43/EC is replaced by the following:
"Article 28 Audit reporting
1. The audit report shall include:
(a) an introduction which shall, as a minimum, identify the financial
statements that are the subject of the statutory audit, together with the
financial reporting framework that has been applied in their
preparation;
(b) a description of the scope of the statutory audit which shall, as a
minimum, identify the auditing standards in accordance with which
the statutory audit was conducted;

ISA 700

Auditor’s Report
The auditor’s report shall be in writing.
Auditor’s Report for Audits Conducted in Accordance with International Standards
on Auditing
Title
The auditor’s report shall have a title that clearly indicates that it is the report of an
independent auditor.
Addressee
The auditor’s report shall be addressed as required by the circumstances of the
engagement.
Introductory Paragraph
The introductory paragraph in the auditor’s report shall: (a) Identify the entity
whose financial statements have been audited; (b) State that the financial statements
have been audited; (c) Identify the title of each statement that comprises the
financial statements; (d) Refer to the summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information; and (e) Specify the date or period covered by
each financial statement comprising the financial statements.
Auditor’s Responsibility
The auditor’s report shall include a section with the heading “Auditor’s
Responsibility.”
The auditor’s report shall state that the responsibility of the auditor is to express an
opinion on the financial statements based on the audit. The auditor’s report shall
state that the audit was conducted in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing. The auditor’s report shall also explain that those standards require that
the auditor comply with ethical requirements and that the auditor plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

C

No such details in the national
legislation, however it is
regulated by ISA.
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(c) an audit opinion, which shall be either unqualified, qualified or an
adverse opinion and shall state clearly the opinion of the statutory
auditor as to:
(i) whether the annual financial statements give a true and fair view in
accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework, and,
(ii) where appropriate, whether the annual financial statements comply
with statutory requirements. If the statutory auditor is unable to
express an audit opinion, the report shall contain a disclaimer of
opinion;

(d) a reference to any matters to which the statutory auditor draws
attention by way of emphasis without qualifying the audit opinion;
(e) the opinion and statement referred to in the second subparagraph
of Article 34(1) of Directive 2013/34/EU of the European Parliament
and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on the annual financial statements,
consolidated financial statements and related reports of certain types
of undertakings, amending Directive 2006/43/EC of the European
Parliament and of the Council and repealing Council Directives
78/660/EEC and 83/349/EEC (*).

2. The audit report shall be signed and dated by the statutory auditor.
Where an audit firm carries out the statutory audit, the audit report
shall bear the signature of at least the statutory auditor(s) carrying out
the statutory audit on behalf of the audit firm. In exceptional
circumstances Member States may provide that such signature(s) need
not be disclosed to the public if such disclosure could lead to an

Georgian legislation
Law on accounting and auditing:

Conformity

Comments

C

Article 2. Definitions of Terms
For purposes of this Law, the following terms shall have the following
meanings:
m)
Audit opinion - a document issued by an auditor / audit firm, in which
auditor / audit firm expresses opinion whether financial statements of an entity in
all material respects are prepared in accordance with the respective reporting
requirements, or issues disclaimer of opinion;
ISA 700 ref A13-A41
ISA 705&706

C

Law on accounting and auditing:

C

No such provision in the national
legislation, however it is
regulated by ISA..

Article 6 Audit Requirement for Financial Statements
1. PIEs, first and second category enterprises are obliged to have audit
of their financial statements done in accordance with the procedure specified
under Article 15 of this Law unless provided otherwise in the respective
regulatory normative acts.
2. For enterprises subject to regulation/ supervision by regulatory/
supervision body, audit or /and other assurance engagement requirements with
respect to interim financial statements shall be set by the regulatory legislation of
the respective field.
3. The third and fourth category enterprises and non-entrepreneurial
(non-profit) legal entities shall be exempt of the obligation to have audit of
financial statements done, unless provided otherwise in the legislation.
4. Paragraph 1 of this article shall also apply to that entity which is a
subsidiary of the Group.
Article 7 – Management Report
10. PIE and enterprises of the first and second categories shall provide
the management report to an Auditor/ Audit Firm. Auditor/ Audit Firm according
to Paragraph 6 and Paragraph 7 ((c) and (g)) of this Article will express its
opinion on management report, its compliance with regulatory normative acts and
correspondence with the financial statements of the same reporting period, as well
as about material inaccuracies and their substance. Auditor/ Audit Firm shall
check whether the report includes the information provided for in Paragraph 7 (a,
b and d – f) and Paragraph 8 of this Article.
Law on accounting and auditing:
Article 15. Auditing Procedure

PC

Dating in not required under the
law.
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imminent and significant threat to the personal security of any person.
In any case the name(s) of the person(s) involved shall be known to
the relevant competent authorities.

Georgian legislation
2.
Audit opinion is validated by a signature of an engagement
partner auditor or/and person authorized by an audit firm. Internal procedure of
an audit firm shall make it possible to identify engagement partner.

3. The audit report on the consolidated financial statements shall
comply with the requirements set out in of paragraphs 1 and 2. In
reporting on the consistency of the management report and the
financial statements as required by point (e) of paragraph 1, the
statutory auditor or audit firm shall consider the consolidated financial
statements and the consolidated management report.

Law on accounting and auditing:

Where the annual financial statements of the parent undertaking are
attached to the consolidated financial statements, the audit reports
required by this Article may be combined.
CHAPTER 9. PROVISIONS CONCERNING EXEMPTIONS
AND RESTRICTIONS ON EXEMPTIONS
Article 36 Exemptions for micro-undertakings

Conformity

Comments

C

Article 9 – Filing and Publishing Financial Statements
2.
An entity, other than non-entrepreneurial (nonprofit) legal entity, shall file financial statements (including consolidated ones)
specified under this Law, management report (including consolidated one), report
on payments to government and audit opinion, in cases specified under the
present Law, immediately, though no later than the October 1 of the year
following the reporting period to the Service in accordance with established rules.

back to art 3
1. Member States may exempt micro-undertakings from any or all of
the following obligations:
(a) the obligation to present 'Prepayments and accrued income' and
'Accruals and deferred income'. Where a Member State makes use of
that option, it may permit those undertakings, only in respect of other
charges as referred to in point (b)(vi) of paragraph 2 of this Article, to
depart from point (d) of Article 6(1) with regard to the recognition of
'Prepayments and accrued income' and 'Accruals and deferred income',
provided that this fact is disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements or, in accordance with point (b) of this paragraph, at the
foot of the balance sheet;

(b) the obligation to draw up notes to the financial statements in
accordance with Article 16, provided that the information required by
points (d) and (e) of Article 16(1) of this Directive and by Article 24(2)
of Directive 2012/30/EU is disclosed at the foot of the balance sheet;
(c) the obligation to prepare a management report in accordance with
Chapter 5, provided that the information required by Article 24(2) of
Directive 2012/30/EU is disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements or, in accordance with point (b) of this paragraph, at the
foot of the balance sheet;

Law on accounting and auditing:

C

Chapter II Accounting and Reporting
Article 3. Legal Framework for Accounting and Reporting
6. Financial reporting standards for enterprises of the fourth category and
non-entrepreneurial (non-profit) legal entities shall be set by the Service.
Application of standards shall be mandatory. Sole proprietor, which does not
represent an entity defined under Paragraph 1 (e), Article 2 of this Law shall be
entitled to use the financial reporting standards set for the enterprises of the fourth
category for accounting and financial reporting purposes.
Chapter VIII Transitional and Final Provisions
Article 28. Transitional Provisions
11. Prior to introducing financial reporting standards defined in Article
3(6) of this Law, fourth category enterprises shall use the temporary standard
approved under the Resolution N9 (April 5, 2005) of the Accounting Standards
Commission at the Parliament of Georgia on Approving the Simplified
(Temporary) Accounting Standard of Small Enterprises.

Law on accounting and auditing:
Article 7 – Management Report
1.
PIEs and the first and second category enterprises shall prepare
and file management report to the Service. Procedure for preparation and filing

The specific reporting
for micro-enterprises
developed by the
Meanwhile, simplified
shall be used.

standards
will be
Service.
standards

NA

Optional and not transposed.

PC

Micro-enterprises are not
required to prepare the
management report.
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(d) the obligation to publish annual financial statements in accordance
with Chapter 7 of this Directive, provided that the balance sheet
information contained therein is duly filed, in accordance with national
law, with at least one competent authority designated by the Member
State concerned.
Whenever the competent authority is not the central register,
commercial register or companies register, as referred to in Article
3(1) of Directive 2009/101/EC, the competent authority is required to
provide the register with the information filed.
2. Member States may permit micro-undertakings:
(a) to draw up only an abridged balance sheet showing separately at
least those items preceded by letters in Annexes III or IV, where
applicable.
In cases where point (a) of paragraph 1 of this Article applies, items E
under 'Assets' and D under 'Liabilities' in Annex III or items E and K
in Annex IV shall be excluded from the balance sheet;
(b) to draw up only an abridged profit and loss account showing
separately at least the following items, where applicable:
(i) net turnover,
(ii) other income,
(iii) cost of raw materials and consumables,
(iv) staff costs,
(v) value adjustments,
(vi) other charges,
(vii) tax,
(viii) profit or loss.
3. Member States shall not permit or require the application of Article
8 to any micro-undertaking making use of any of the exemptions
provided for in paragraphs 1 and 2 of this Article.
4. In respect of micro-undertakings, annual financial statements drawn
up in accordance with paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 of this Article shall be
regarded as giving the true and fair view required by Article 4(3), and
consequently Article 4(4) shall not apply to such financial statements.
5. If point (a) of paragraph 1 of this Article applies, the balance sheet
total referred to in point (a) of Article 3(1) shall consist of the assets
referred to in items A to D under 'Assets' in Annex III or items A to D
in Annex IV.
6. Without prejudice to this Article, Member States shall ensure that
micro-undertakings are otherwise regarded as small undertakings.
7. Member States shall not make available the derogations provided
for in paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 in respect of investment undertakings or
financial holding undertakings.

Georgian legislation
management report with consideration of respective EU Directives shall be defined
by the Service.
Law on accounting and auditing:

Conformity

Comments
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Article 8 – Publishing Financial Statements
3.
The Service shall publish financial statements (including
consolidated statements) submitted by entities (except for statements of the fourth
category enterprises) and audit opinions within a month following the filing. ..

NA

NA

Optional

NA

Optional.

NC

No such requirement.

NA

NA

NC
Law on accounting and auditing:

v)

Article 2. Definitions of Terms
Public Interest Entity (hereinafter PIE) – a legal entity, which represents:

C

Investment undertakings are
regarded as PIEs, thus no
derogations allowed.
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8. Member States which at 19 July 2013 have brought into force laws,
regulations or administrative provisions in compliance with Directive
2012/6/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 March
2012 amending Council Directive 78/660/EEC on the annual accounts
of certain types of companies as regards micro-entities, may be
exempted from the requirements set out in Article 3(9) with regard to
the conversion into national currencies of thresholds set out in Article
3(1) when applying the first sentence of Article 53(1).
9. By 20 July 2018 the Commission shall submit to the European
Parliament, to the Council and to the European Economic and Social
Committee a report on the situation of micro-undertakings taking
account, in particular, of the situation at national level regarding the
number of undertakings covered by the size criteria and the reduction
of administrative burdens resulting from the exemption from the
publication requirement.
Article 37. Exemption for subsidiary undertakings
Notwithstanding the provisions of Directives 2009/101/EC and
2012/30/EU, a Member State shall not be required to apply the
provisions of this Directive concerning the content, auditing and
publication of the annual financial statements and the management
report to undertakings governed by their national laws which are
subsidiary undertakings, where the following conditions are fulfilled:
(1) the parent undertaking is subject to the laws of a Member State;
(2) all shareholders or members of the subsidiary undertaking have, in
respect of each financial year in which the exemption is applied,
declared their agreement to the exemption from such obligation;
(3) the parent undertaking has declared that it guarantees the
commitments entered into by the subsidiary undertaking;
(4) the declarations referred to in points (2) and (3) of this Article are
published by the subsidiary undertaking as laid down by the laws of

Georgian legislation
v.a) an issuer in accordance with the Law of Georgia on Securities Market, or
v.b) a commercial bank, microfinance organization and a qualified credit institution
in accordance with the Organic Law of Georgia on the National Bank of Georgia,
or
v.c) an insurer in accordance with the Law of Georgia on Insurance, or
v.d) a founder of non-state pension scheme – in accordance with the Law of
Georgia on Non-State Pension Insurance and Welfare;
v.e) a large enterprise;
v.f) an investment fund;
v.g) an entity defined by the Government of Georgia;

Conformity

Comments

NA

Law on accounting and auditing:
Article 7 – Management Report
9. Entity that represents a subsidiary shall not be obliged to file nonfinancial statement specified in Paragraph 8 of this Article if such information is
submitted in the group’s consolidated statement.

NA

No action required.

PC

The law only covers exemption
from the obligation with regards
to the preparation of the
management report.
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the Member State in accordance with Chapter 2 of Directive
2009/101/EC;
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Conformity

Comments

NA

Optional and not transposed.

(5) the subsidiary undertaking is included in the consolidated financial
statements drawn up by the parent undertaking in accordance with this
Directive;
(6) the exemption is disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements drawn up by the parent undertaking; and
(7) the consolidated financial statements referred to in point (5) of this
Article, the consolidated management report, and the audit report are
published for the subsidiary undertaking as laid down by the laws of
the Member State in accordance with Chapter 2 of Directive
2009/101/EC.
Article 38. Undertakings which are members having unlimited liability
of other undertakings
1. Member States may require undertakings referred to in point (a) of
Article 1(1) which are governed by their laws and which are members
having unlimited liability of any undertaking referred to in point (b) of
Article 1(1) ('the undertaking concerned'), to draw up, have audited
and publish, with their own financial statements, the financial
statements of the undertaking concerned in accordance with this
Directive; in such case the requirements of this Directive shall not
apply to the undertaking concerned.
2. Member States shall not be required to apply the requirements of
this Directive to the undertaking concerned where:
(a) the financial statements of the undertaking concerned are drawn up,
audited and published in accordance with the provisions of this
Directive by an undertaking which:
(i) is a member having unlimited liability of that under taking
concerned, and
(ii) is governed by the laws of another Member State;
(b) the undertaking concerned is included in consolidated financial
statements drawn up, audited and published in accordance with this
Directive by:
(i) a member having unlimited liability, or
(ii) where the undertaking concerned is included in the consolidated
financial statements of a larger body of undertakings drawn up, audited
and published in conformity with this Directive, a parent undertaking
governed by the laws of a Member State. This exemption shall be
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
3. In the cases referred to in paragraph 2, the undertaking concerned
shall, upon request, reveal the name of the undertaking publishing the
financial statements.
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Article 39. Profit and loss account exemption for parent undertakings
preparing consolidated financial statements
A Member State shall not be required to apply the provisions of this
Directive concerning the auditing and publication of the profit and loss
account to undertakings governed by its national laws which are parent
undertakings, provided that the following conditions are fulfilled:
(1) the parent undertaking draws up consolidated financial statements
in accordance with this Directive and is included in those consolidated
financial statements;
(2) the exemption is disclosed in the notes to the annual financial
statements of the parent undertaking;
(3) the exemption is disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements drawn up by the parent undertaking; and
(4) the profit or loss of the parent undertaking, determined in
accordance with this Directive, is shown in its balance sheet.
Article 40. Restriction of exemptions for public-interest entities
Unless expressly provided for in this Directive, Member States shall
not make the simplifications and exemptions set out in this Directive
available to public-interest entities.
A public-interest entity shall be treated as a large undertaking
regardless of its net turnover, balance sheet total or average number of
employees during the financial year.

CHAPTER 10. REPORT ON PAYMENTS TO
GOVERNMENTS
Article 41. Definitions relating to reporting on payments to
governments
For the purpose of this Chapter, the following definitions shall apply:
(1) 'undertaking active in the extractive industry' means an undertaking
with any activity involving the exploration, prospection, discovery,
development, and extraction of minerals, oil, natural gas deposits or
other materials, within the economic activities listed in Section B,
Divisions 05 to 08 of Annex I to Regulation (EC) No 1893/2006 of the
European Parliament and of the Council of 20 December 2006
establishing the statistical classification of economic activities NACE
Revision 2 ( 1 );
(2) 'undertaking active in the logging of primary forests' means an
undertaking with activities as referred to in Section A, Division 02,
Group 02.2 of Annex I to Regulation (EC) No 1893/2006, in primary
forests;
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Chapter II Accounting and Reporting
Article 3. Legal Framework for Accounting and Reporting
17.
Entity subject to supervision, but the commercial bank, nonbank depository institution –credit union and microfinance organization, in case
of making decision by respective supervision body on assigning the PIE status to
it, shall not be regarded as PIEs if it meets size category requirements set for the
enterprise of the fourth category. Given requirements of this paragraph, an entity
subject to supervision shall be regarded as PIE at least for 3 reporting periods
following its recognition as such.
18.
Apart from the cases provided for in this Law, the exceptions
set for the size criteria shall not apply to PIEs.

Law on accounting and auditing:
Article 8. Statement on Payments made to the State
1.
PIEs and enterprises of the first and second categories, the
activities of which include the use of subsoil (including extraction of oil and gas)
or timber processing in a natural forest, shall annually prepare and submit
statement on payments made to the state. Such statement shall reflect the
payments in the form of profit tax, license and natural resources usage fee,
regulation fee for use of natural resources , royalty, dividend, bonus in accordance
with the Law of Georgia on Oil and Gas, rent and concession, amounts paid in
cash or in-kind, which separately or in total exceed GEL 100,000.
2.
Payments made to the state imply any payment made to the
state budget, administration agency and those enterprises where the state share
exceeds 50%, as well as payments made to foreign government, regional and
local self-government agencies.

PC

Article not fully transposed.
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(3) 'government' means any national, regional or local authority of a
Member State or of a third country. It includes a department, agency
or undertaking controlled by that authority as laid down in Article
22(1) to (6) of this Directive;
(4) 'project' means the operational activities that are governed by a
single contract, license, lease, concession or similar legal agreements
and form the basis for payment liabilities with a government. None the
less, if multiple such agreements are substantially interconnected, this
shall be considered a project;
(5) 'payment' means an amount paid, whether in money or in kind, for
activities, as described in points 1 and 2, of the following types:
(a) production entitlements; (b) taxes levied on the income, production
or profits of companies, excluding taxes levied on consumption such
as value added taxes, personal income taxes or sales taxes; (c)
royalties; (d) dividends; (e) signature, discovery and production
bonuses; (f) licence fees, rental fees, entry fees and other
considerations for licences and/or concessions; and (g) payments for
infrastructure improvements.
Article 42. Undertakings required to report on payments to
governments
1. Member States shall require large undertakings and all publicinterest entities active in the extractive industry or the logging of
primary forests to prepare and make public a report on payments made
to governments on an annual basis. 2. That obligation shall not apply
to any undertaking governed by the law of a Member State which is a
subsidiary or parent undertaking, where both of the following
conditions are fulfilled:
(a) the parent undertaking is subject to the laws of a Member State;
and
(b) the payments to governments made by the undertaking are included
in the consolidated report on payments to governments drawn up by
that parent undertaking in accordance with Article 44.
Article 43. Content of the report
1. Any payment, whether made as a single payment or as a series of
related payments, need not be taken into account in the report if it is
below EUR 100 000 within a financial year.
2. The report shall disclose the following information in relation to
activities as described in points (1) and (2) of Article 41 in respect of
the relevant financial year:
(a) the total amount of payments made to each government;
(b) the total amount per type of payment as specified in points (5)(a)
to (g) of Article 41 made to each government;
(c) where those payments have been attributed to a specific project, the
total amount per type of payment as specified in point (5)(a) to (g) of

Georgian legislation
3.
The types of subsoil and their use and procedures for
preparation, submission and publishing of the statement on payments made to the
state shall be defined under the Resolution of the Government of Georgia.

Conformity

Comments
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Article 41, made for each such project and the total amount of
payments for each such project.
Payments made by the undertaking in respect of obligations imposed
at entity level may be disclosed at the entity level rather than at project
level.
3. Where payments in kind are made to a government, they shall be
reported in value and, where applicable, in volume. Supporting notes
shall be provided to explain how their value has been determined.
4. The disclosure of the payments referred to in this Article shall reflect
the substance, rather than the form, of the payment or activity
concerned. Payments and activities may not be artificially split or
aggregated to avoid the application of this Directive.
5. In the case of those Member States which have not adopted the euro,
the euro threshold identified in paragraph 1 shall be converted into
national currency by:
(a) applying the exchange rate published in the Official Journal of the
European Union as at the date of the entry into force of any Directive
fixing that threshold, and
(b) rounding to the nearest hundred.
Article 44. Consolidated report on payments to governments
1. A Member State shall require any large undertaking or any publicinterest entity active in the extractive industry or the logging of
primary forests and governed by its national law to draw up a
consolidated report on payments to governments in accordance with
Articles 42 and 43 if that parent under taking is under the obligation to
prepare consolidated financial statements as laid down in Article 22(1)
to (6).
A parent undertaking is considered to be active in the extractive
industry or the logging of primary forests if any of its subsidiary
undertakings are active in the extractive industry or the logging of
primary forests.
The consolidated report shall only include payments resulting from
extractive operations and/or operations relating to the logging of
primary forests.
2. The obligation to draw up the consolidated report referred to in
paragraph 1 shall not apply to: (a) a parent undertaking of a small
group, as defined in Article 3(5), except where any affiliated
undertaking is a public-interest entity; (b) a parent undertaking of a
medium-sized group, as defined in Article 3(6), except where any
affiliated undertaking is a public-interest entity; and (c) a parent
undertaking governed by the law of a Member State which is also a
subsidiary undertaking, if its own parent undertaking is governed by
the law of a Member State.
3. An undertaking, including a public-interest entity, need not be
included in a consolidated report on payments to governments where
at least one of the following conditions is fulfilled: (a) severe long-
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term restrictions substantially hinder the parent undertaking in the
exercise of its rights over the assets or management of that
undertaking; (b) extremely rare cases where the information necessary
for the preparation of the consolidated report on payments to
governments in accordance with this Directive cannot be obtained
without disproportionate expense or undue delay; (c) the shares of that
undertaking are held exclusively with a view to their subsequent
resale.
The above exemptions shall apply only if they are also used for the
purposes of the consolidated financial statements.
Article 45. Publication
1. The report referred to in Article 42 and the consolidated report
referred to in Article 44 on payments to governments shall be
published as laid down by the laws of each Member State in
accordance with Chapter 2 of Directive 2009/101/EC.
2. Member States shall ensure that the members of the responsible
bodies of an undertaking, acting within the competences assigned to
them by national law, have responsibility for ensuring that, to the best
of their knowledge and ability, the report on payments to governments
is drawn up and published in accordance with the requirements of this
Directive.
Article 46. Equivalence criteria
1. Undertakings referred to in Articles 42 and 44 that prepare and make
public a report complying with third- country reporting requirements
assessed, in accordance with Article 47, as equivalent to the
requirements of this Chapter are exempt from the requirements of this
Chapter except for the obligation to publish this report as laid down by
the laws of each Member State in accordance with Chapter 2 of
Directive 2009/101/EC.
2. The Commission shall be empowered to adopt delegated acts in
accordance with Article 49 identifying the criteria to be applied when
assessing, for the purposes of paragraph 1 of this Article, the
equivalence of third-country reporting requirements and the
requirements of this Chapter
3. The criteria identified by the Commission in accordance with
paragraph 2 shall: (a) include the following: (i) target undertakings, (ii)
target recipients of payments, (iii) payments captured, (iv) attribution
of payments captured, (v) breakdown of payments captured, (vi)
triggers for reporting on a consolidated basis, (vii) reporting medium,
(viii) frequency of reporting, and (ix) anti-evasion measures; (b)
otherwise be limited to criteria which facilitate a direct comparison of
third-country reporting requirements with the requirements of this
Chapter.
Article 47. Application of equivalence criteria
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The Commission shall be empowered to adopt implementing acts
identifying those third-country reporting requirements which, after
applying the equivalence criteria identified in accordance with Article
46, it considers equivalent to the requirements of this Chapter. Those
implementing acts shall be adopted in accordance with the
examination procedure referred to in Article 50(2).
Article 48. Review
The Commission shall review and report on the implementation and
effectiveness of this Chapter, in particular as regards the scope of, and
compliance with, the reporting obligations and the modalities of the
reporting on a project basis.
The review shall take into account international developments, in
particular with regard to enhancing transparency of payments to
governments, assess the impacts of other international regimes and
consider the effects on competitiveness and security of energy supply.
It shall be completed by 21 July 2018. The report shall be submitted to
the European Parliament and to the Council, together with a legislative
proposal, if appropriate. That report shall consider the extension of the
reporting requirements to additional industry sectors and whether the
report on payments to governments should be audited. The report shall
also consider the disclosure of additional information on the average
number of employees, the use of subcontractors and any pecuniary
penalties administered by a country. In addition, the report shall
analyse the feasibility of the introduction of an obligation for all Union
issuers to carry out due diligence when sourcing minerals to ensure
that supply chains have no connection to conflict parties and respect
the EITI and OECD recommendations on responsible supply chain
management.
CHAPTER 11. FINAL PROVISIONS
Article 49. Exercise of delegated powers
back art 1
1. The power to adopt delegated acts is conferred on the Commission
subject to the conditions laid down in this Article.
2. The power to adopt delegated acts referred to in Article 1(2), Article
3(13) and Article 46(2) shall be conferred on the Commission for an
indeterminate period of time from the date referred to in Article 54.
3. The delegation of power referred to in Article 1(2), Article 3(13)
and Article 46(2) may be revoked at any time by the European
Parliament or by the Council. A decision to revoke shall put an end to
the delegation of the power specified in that decision. It shall take
effect the day following the publication of that decision in the Official
Journal of the European Union or at a later date specified therein. It
shall not affect the validity of any delegated acts already in force.
4. As soon as it adopts a delegated act, the Commission shall notify it
simultaneously to the European Parliament and to the Council.
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5. A delegated act adopted pursuant to Article 1(2), Article 3(13) or
Article 46(2) shall enter into force only if no objection has been
expressed either by the European Parliament or the Council within a
period of two months of notification of that act to the European
Parliament and the Council or if, before the expiry of that period, the
European Parliament and the Council have both informed the
Commission that they will not object. That period shall be extended
by two months at the initiative of the European Parliament or the
Council.
Article 50. Committee procedure
1. The Commission shall be assisted by a committee. That committee
shall be a committee within the meaning of Regulation (EU) No
182/2011.
2. Where reference is made to this paragraph, Article 5 of Regulation
(EU) No 182/2011 shall apply.
Article 51. Penalties
Member States shall provide for penalties applicable to infringements
of the national provisions adopted in accordance with this Directive
and shall take all the measures necessary to ensure that those penalties
are enforced. The penalties provided for shall be effective,
proportionate and dissuasive.

Article 52. Repeal of Directives 78/660/EEC and 83/349/EEC
Directives 78/660/EEC and 83/349/EEC are repealed. References to
the repealed Directives shall be construed as references to this
Directive and shall be read in accordance with the correlation table in
Annex VII.
Article 53. Transposition
1. Member States shall bring into force the laws, regulations and
administrative provisions necessary to comply with this Directive by
20 July 2015. They shall immediately inform the Commission thereof.
Member States may provide that the provisions referred to in the first
subparagraph are first to apply to financial statements for financial
years beginning on 1 January 2016 or during the calendar year 2016.
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Chapter VII Liability and Dispute Resolution
Article 23. Liability for Violation of this Law
1. The Service shall apply simultaneously or/and separately in sequence,
for violation of this Law and normative acts issued on its basis, and inconsequently
given significance of a violation and potential risks:
d) The following sanctions shall be applied against those PIEs and the first, second,
third and fourth category enterprises that are not subject to Regulation/ Supervision:
d.a) Written warning;
d.b) Pecuniary Penalty
d.c) Prohibit PIE governance body member to exercise its functions
temporarily, maximum for three years.
…
3. Responsibility imposed for violation of this Law and normative acts
issued on their basis shall not relieve the persons from the liability to meet the
requirement.
4. Sanction applied in accordance with this Article shall be adequate to
the offence and potential risk.
NA

NA

Comments
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When Member States adopt those provisions, they shall contain a
reference to this Directive or be accompanied by such a reference on
the occasion of their official publication. The methods of making such
reference shall be laid down by Member States.
2. Member States shall communicate to the Commission the text of the
main provisions of national law which they adopt in the field covered
by this Directive.
Article 54. Entry into force
This Directive shall enter into force on the twentieth day following that
of its publication in the Official Journal of the European Union.
Article 55. Addressees
This Directive is addressed to the Member States.
Done at Brussels, 26 June 2013.
ANNEX I. TYPES OF UNDERTAKING REFERRED TO IN
POINT (A) OF ARTICLE 1(1)
back art 1
— Georgia: შეზღუდული პასუხისმგებლობის საზოგადოება;
სააქციო საზოგადოება.
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ANNEX II. TYPES OF UNDERTAKING REFERRED TO IN
POINT (b) OF ARTICLE 1(1)
back art 1
back art 30
— Georgia: კომანდიტური საზოგადოება; სოლიდარული
პასუხისმგებლობის საზოგადოება.
ANNEX III. HORIZONTAL LAYOUT OF THE BALANCE
SHEET PROVIDED FOR IN ARTICLE 10
back art 9
back art 10
back art 3 para10
Assets
A. Subscribed capital unpaid
of which there has been called
(unless national law provides that called-up capital is to be shown
under 'Capital and reserves', in which case the part of the capital called
but not yet paid shall appear as an asset either under A or under D (II)
(5)).
B. Formation expenses
as defined by national law, and in so far as national law permits their
being shown as an asset. National law may also provide for formation
expenses to be shown as the first item under 'Intangible assets'.
C. Fixed assets
I. Intangible assets

Assets
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1. Costs of development, in so far as national law permits their being
shown as assets.
2. Concessions, patents, licences, trade marks and similar rights and
assets, if they were:
(a) acquired for valuable consideration and need not be shown under
C (I) (3); or
(b) created by the undertaking itself, in so far as national law permits
their being shown as assets.
3. Goodwill, to the extent that it was acquired for valuable
consideration.
4. Payments on account.
II. Tangible assets
1. Land and buildings.
2. Plant and machinery.
3. Other fixtures and fittings, tools and equipment.
4. Payments on account and tangible assets in the course of
construction.
III. Financial assets
1. Shares in affiliated undertakings.
2. Loans to affiliated undertakings.
3. Participating interests.
4. Loans to undertakings with which the undertaking is linked by virtue
of participating interests.
5. Investments held as fixed assets.
6. Other loans.
D. Current assets
I. Stocks
1. Raw materials and consumables.
2. Work in progress.
3. Finished goods and goods for resale.
4. Payments on account.
II. Debtors
(Amounts becoming due and payable after more than one year shall be
shown separately for each item.)
1. Trade debtors.
2. Amounts owed by affiliated undertakings.

3. Amounts owed by undertakings with which the undertaking is
linked by virtue of participating interests.
4. Other debtors.
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5. Subscribed capital called but not paid (unless national law provides
that called-up capital is to be shown as an asset under A).

6. Prepayments and accrued income (unless national law provides that
such items are to be shown as assets under E).
III. Investments
1. Shares in affiliated undertakings.

2. Own shares (with an indication of their nominal value or, in the
absence of a nominal value, their accounting par value), to the extent
that national law permits their being shown in the balance sheet.
3. Other investments.
IV. Cash at bank and in hand
E. Prepayments and accrued income (Unless national law provides that
such items are to be shown as assets under D (II) (6).)
Capital, reserves and liabilities
A. Capital and reserves
I. Subscribed capital
(Unless national law provides that called-up capital is to be shown
under this item, in which case the amounts of subscribed capital and
paid-up capital shall be shown separately.)
II. Share premium account
III. Revaluation reserve
IV. Reserves
1. Legal reserve, in so far as national law requires such a reserve.
2. Reserve for own shares, in so far as national law requires such a
reserve, without prejudice to point (b) of Article 24(1) of Directive
2012/30/EU.
3. Reserves provided for by the articles of association.
4. Other reserves, including the fair value reserve.
V. Profit or loss brought forward
VI. Profit or loss for the financial year
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B. Provisions
1. Provisions for pensions and similar obligations.
2. Provisions for taxation.
3. Other provisions.

C. Creditors
(Amounts becoming due and payable within one year and amounts
becoming due and payable after more than one year shall be shown
separately for each item and for the aggregate of those items.)
1. Debenture loans, showing convertible loans separately.
2. Amounts owed to credit institutions.
3. Payments received on account of orders, in so far as they are not
shown separately as deductions from stocks.
4. Trade creditors.
5. Bills of exchange payable.
6. Amounts owed to affiliated undertakings.
7. Amounts owed to undertakings with which the undertaking is linked
by virtue of participating interests.
8. Other creditors, including tax and social security authorities.
9. Accruals and deferred income
(unless national law provides that such items are to be shown under
D).
D. Accruals and deferred income
(Unless national law provides that such items are to be shown under C
(9) under 'Creditors'.)
ANNEX IV. VERTICAL LAYOUT OF THE BALANCE
SHEET PROVIDED FOR IN ARTICLE 10
back art 9
back art 10
A. Subscribed capital unpaid
of which there has been called
(unless national law provides that called-up capital is to be shown
under L, in which case the part of the capital called but not yet paid
must appear either under A or under D (II) (5).)
B. Formation expenses
as defined by national law, and in so far as national law permits their
being shown as an asset. National law may also provide for formation
expenses to be shown as the first item under 'Intangible assets'.
C. Fixed assets
I. Intangible assets
1. Costs of development, in so far as national law permits their being
shown as assets.
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2. Concessions, patents, licences, trade marks and similar rights and
assets, if they were:
(a) acquired for valuable consideration and need not be shown under
C (I) (3); or
(b) created by the undertaking itself, in so far as national law permits
their being shown as assets.
3. Goodwill, to the extent that it was acquired for valuable
consideration.
4. Payments on account.
II. Tangible assets
1. Land and buildings.
2. Plant and machinery.
3. Other fixtures and fittings, tools and equipment.
4. Payments on account and tangible assets in the course of
construction
III. Financial assets
1. Shares in affiliated undertakings.
2. Loans to affiliated undertakings.
3. Participating interests.
4. Loans to undertakings with which the undertaking is linked by virtue
of participating interests.
5. Investments held as fixed assets.
6. Other loans.
D. Current assets
I. Stocks
1. Raw materials and consumables.
2. Work in progress.
3. Finished goods and goods for resale.
4. Payments on account.
II. Debtors
(Amounts becoming due and payable after more than one year must be
shown separately for each item.)
1. Trade debtors.
2. Amounts owed by affiliated undertakings
3. Amounts owed by undertakings with which the company is linked
by virtue of participating interests.
4. Other debtors.
5. Subscribed capital called but not paid (unless national law provides
that called-up capital is to be shown as an asset under A).
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6. Prepayments and accrued income (unless national law provides that
such items are to be shown as assets under E).
III. Investments
1. Shares in affiliated undertakings.
2. Own shares
(with an indication of their nominal value or, in the absence of a
nominal value, their accounting par value), to the extent that national
law permits their being shown in the balance sheet.
3. Other investments.
IV. Cash at bank and in hand
E. Prepayments and accrued income
(Unless national law provides that such items are to be shown under D
(II) (6).)
F. Creditors:
amounts becoming due and payable within one year
1. Debenture loans, showing convertible loans separately.
2. Amounts owed to credit institutions.
3. Payments received on account of orders, in so far as they are not
shown separately as deductions from stocks.
4. Trade creditors.
5. Bills of exchange payable.
6. Amounts owed to affiliated undertakings.
7. Amounts owed to undertakings with which the company is linked
by virtue of participating interests.
8. Other creditors, including tax and social security authorities.
9. Accruals and deferred income
(unless national law provides that such items are to be shown under
K).
G. Net current assets/liabilities
(Taking into account prepayments and accrued income when shown
under E and accruals and deferred income when shown under K.)
H. Total assets less current liabilities
I. Creditors:
amounts becoming due and payable after more than one year
1. Debenture loans, showing convertible loans separately.
2. Amounts owed to credit institutions.
3. Payments received on account of orders, in so far as they are not
shown separately as deductions from stocks.
4. Trade creditors.
5. Bills of exchange payable.
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6. Amounts owed to affiliated undertakings.
7. Amounts owed to undertakings with which the company is linked
by virtue of participating interests.
8. Other creditors, including tax and social security authorities.
9. Accruals and deferred income (unless national law provides that
such items are to be shown under K).
J. Provisions
1. Provisions for pensions and similar obligations.
2. Provisions for taxation.
3. Other provisions.
K. Accruals and deferred income
(Unless national law provides that such items are to be shown under F
(9) or I (9) or both.)
L. Capital and reserves
I. Subscribed capital
(Unless national law provides that called-up capital is to be shown
under this item, in which case the amounts of subscribed capital and
paid-up capital must be shown separately.)
II. Share premium account
III. Revaluation reserve
IV. Reserves
1. Legal reserve, in so far as national law requires such a reserve.
2. Reserve for own shares, in so far as national law requires such a
reserve, without prejudice to point (b) of Article 24(1) of Directive
2012/30/EU.
3. Reserves provided for by the articles of association.
4. Other reserves, including the fair value reserve.
V. Profit or loss brought forward
VI. Profit or loss for the financial year
ANNEX V. LAYOUT OF THE PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
– BY NATURE OF EXPENSE, PROVIDED FOR IN ARTICLE
13
1. Net turnover.
2. Variation in stocks of finished goods and in work in progress.
3. Work performed by the undertaking for its own purposes and
capitalised.
4. Other operating income.
5.
(a) Raw materials and consumables.
(b) Other external expenses.
6. Staff costs:
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(a) wages and salaries;
(b) social security costs, with a separate indication of those relating to
pensions.
7.
(a) Value adjustments in respect of formation expenses and of tangible
and intangible fixed assets.
(b) Value adjustments in respect of current assets, to the extent that
they exceed the amount of value adjustments which are normal in the
undertaking concerned.
8. Other operating expenses.
9. Income from participating interests, with a separate indication of
that derived from affiliated undertakings.
10. Income from other investments and loans forming part of the fixed
assets, with a separate indication of that derived from affiliated
undertakings.
11. Other interest receivable and similar income, with a separate
indication of that derived from affiliated undertakings.
12. Value adjustments in respect of financial assets and of investments
held as current assets.
13. Interest payable and similar expenses, with a separate indication of
amounts payable to affiliated undertakings.

14. Tax on profit or loss.
15. Profit or loss after taxation.
16. Other taxes not shown under items 1 to 15.
17. Profit or loss for the financial year.

ANNEX VI. LAYOUT OF THE PROFIT AND LOSS
ACCOUNT – BY FUNCTION OF EXPENSE, PROVIDED FOR
IN ARTICLE 13
1. Net turnover.
2. Cost of sales (including value adjustments).
3. Gross profit or loss.
4. Distribution costs (including value adjustments).
5. Administrative expenses (including value adjustments).
6. Other operating income.
7. Income from participating interests, with a separate indication of
that derived from affiliated undertakings.
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8. Income from other investments and loans forming part of the fixed
assets, with a separate indication of that derived from affiliated
undertakings.
9. Other interest receivable and similar income, with a separate
indication of that derived from affiliated undertakings.
10. Value adjustments in respect of financial assets and of investments
held as current assets.
11. Interest payable and similar expenses, with a separate indication of
amounts payable to affiliated undertakings.

12. Tax on profit or loss.
13. Profit or loss after taxation.
14. Other taxes not shown under items 1 to 13.
15. Profit or loss for the financial year.
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